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PART ONE
THE PARISH OF TAUGHBOYNE WITH CRAIGADOOISH

CHAPTER 1

Early History to 1609

Taughboyne Parish Church.

Origins in the Early Celtic Church

The Christian Faith was brought to Ireland by St. Patrick, who arrived in 432
A.D. Once the High King of Ireland accepted Christianity, Patrick was at liberty
to evangelize the whole country. By the time of his death about 466, the faith was
firmly established all over the isiand. The early Celtic Church was rooted in
monasteries. The greatest of these, Clonmacnois and Glendalough, along with others,
became famous seats of learning. Between the years 500 and 800, Ireland was
renowned as the land of saints and scholars. Beautifully coloured manuscripts of

the Gospels such as the Book of Kells were produced by the monks. .
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. felt the call to take the Gospel beyond [reland, to return 1t to
a gﬁ%el rrlzl‘:arg:dnlsy pagan races and tribes after the fa]] of the Roman Emplrg.
One of the earliest of these was St. Columba, whose life story js well known. Colum z;
was born in Gartan, Co. Donegal, in 521 of royal blood, a descendant of Niall 0
the Nine Hostages. He left for Iona in 563, where he founded a great monastery
which was to be the base for the evangelization of Scotland. . ¢

Columba’s cousin and faithful companion was Baithin, son of Brenainn, son 0
Muireadhach, Columba’s uncle. Baithin was born about 536 in the Laggan Valley
of east Donegal and educated by Columba. In 560, he established a monastery on
a site given to him by the ruling chieftan of Aileach. This became known as Tigh
Baithin or the House of Baithin, hence the name, Taughboyne.

Another prominent figure in the area in the early Celtic Church was Adamnan
or Eunan of Raphoe. Abbeys were also founded at Rateen, and at Balleighan near

cunningham.
M%‘nh(;rLaggang Valley is that part of east Donegal which is situated between Lough
Swilly to the west, and Lough Foyle to @he east. To the north, it is bounded by the
mountaineous Inishowen Peninsula, and it extends southwards towards Raphoe. The
name Laggan comes from the Irish lag, or lug, which means a flat or hollow place,
and it is the most fertile part of the county. .

Baithin eventually left the district to become Abbot of Tiree in the Hebrides. He
succeeded Columba as Abbot of Iona when the great saint died in 597. Just before
he died, Columba was copying Psalm 34. He had reached verse 10, ‘“They who
seek the Lord shall want no manner of thing that is good,’” when he decided to stop.
“‘I must stop here’’, he said, ‘‘Baithin will finish the rest.”” According to the Annals
of the Four Masters, Baithin was a distinguished scribe. It is impossible to be certain
about the date of his death, but most accept that he died in 600. His feast day is
the same as Columba’s, 9th June. _

In his Life of Colmcille, Manus O’Donnell describes Baithin as a “‘most charitable,
peace-loving and kindly man’’. Indeed, St. Columba compared him to St. John, so
much so that the village or clachan which grew up near the monastery became known
as St. John’s Town and later as St. Johnston. Baithin returned frquently from Iona
to visit his monastery. He became renowned as an impartial arbitrator in disputes
and a man of widsom and counsel.

Restructuring of the Celtic Church

Nobody can tell how long Baithin’s monastery continued to exist, but it probably
disappeared some time after the coming of the Viking invaders after 800. Irish
ecclesiastical life was seriously disrupted by these invasions, though eventually the
invaders were themselves converted. By the beginning of the twelfth century, the
old monastic system had fallen into serious decline, and the time had come for re-
organisation. At the Synod of Rathbreasil in 1110, the Celtic Church was brought
into line with the Church on the continent of Europe. It was then that the country
was divided up into dioceses and parishes. It is to this period that the present day
Diocese of Raphoe traces its origins.

_ The first Bishop after the Synod of Rathbreasil about whom some information
is available, was Muiredach or Maurice O’Coffey around 1150. There is mention
of bishops before this time, though they would have lived in the monasteries and
been subject to the Abbots. The Annals of Ulster about 1173 call O’Coffey Bishop
of Cinel Owen or Tir Owen and of all the north of Ireland, which probably meant
Tir Connall and Orije] (Tyrone). The Annals of Loch Cé€ confirm that there was a
12"Sh°P of Derry and Raphoe and of all the north of Ireland. By the end of the twelfth

century, Derry and Raphoe had become separate dioceses.

Not much is known of the Parish of Taughboyne between the death of Baithin
and the Plantation of Ulster. The Laggan was the territory of Cinel Connell who
later became the O’Donnells. The centuries up to the time of the Plantation were
undoubtedly turbulent ones as the Cinal Connell and Cinel Eoghain in Tyrone fought
each other for possession of the fertile Laggan.

The early Clergy

Canon Leslie in ‘‘Raphoe Clergy and Parishes’ lists those Vicars and Rectors
of Taughboyne about whom information is available. The earliest vicar known was
Oddo Macsobney, about 1404, who was deposed in 1405, never having been ordained
priest. His successor, Philip Macgrabrurtyagh resigned in 1420 to be succeeded by
Matthew Magdalaid, Vicar of Techbuhn. He was a character of ill-repute, the son
of a priest who was deposed by the Pope, Eugene IV, who had been informed by
Laurence O’Buighi that he was a man of notoriously low morals and guilty of simony.
O’Buighi, who succeeded him in 1442, was himself deposed as he was the son of
a priest. The two remaining vicars, Cormac O’Gallenbayr and Edmund O’Robartaich,
were both vicars in quick succession about 1476.

The Rectors of Taughboyne at this time were as follows: 1404, Donald
McGillabridy who was also Dean of Derry but was never ordained priest. He was
succeeded by Andrew O’Buidi, who was deposed in 1450 for keeping a concubine
and neglecting his duties. He was followed by Thomas O’Raidaighi in 1450 who
was in turn followed by a disreputable character called Bernard MacMeanman. His
successor in 1469 was Donatus O’Dochartaich who resigned in 1480 for the
Archdeaconry. Next was Eugene MacMeanman O’Donnell, followed in 1511 by
Edmund O’Gallenbaic. In 1537, Eugene O’Gallcubair became Rector of Taughboyne,

Conwall and Raymochey and Dean of Raphoe. No further rectors are recorded before
the Plantation in 1609.
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CHAPTER 2

The Plantation of the Laggan Valley

During the Siege of Derry in 1689, King James II climbed to the top of Binion
Hill overlooking the Laggan Valley and said, *‘ A land well worth fighting for, my
Lords”’. The land had been fought over by the O’Donnells of Tir Conaill, the O’Neills
of Tyrone and the O’Dohertys of Inishowen for centuries, but it was the Scots who
were finally to conquer it and take possession of it. The flight of the Earls, O’Neill
and O’Donnell in 1607, and the defeat of the last great chieftan O’Doherty, paved
the way for the plantation of the Laggan Valley.

The Laggan Valley was planted by Scottish settlers from 1609. In 1611, a royal
proclamation was published ordering the native Irish to leave the area to make way
for the incoming Scots. The Scots came over to flee persecution at home, and they
hoped to become prosperous landowners in Ulster. As it happened, many of them
became tenants to the great planting families who became well-known in the district
in the following centuries. The Laggan was divided up into two districts, the Precinct
of Portlough, planted by Scots, and the Precinct of Liffer (Lifford), planted by English
settlers.

The principle settling families were the Stewarts and the Cunninghams. The Duke
of Lennox, Ludovic Stewart, undertook to settle the lands along the River Foyle,
south of St. Johnston, which included the townlands of Maymore, Rateen and
Lettergull. Sir John Stewart received land in the same area which included Mongavlin
Castle. John Cunningham of Crawfield built a town of 26 houses round his residence,
Castle Cunningham. This was the origin of Newtowncunningham. His land included
the townlands of Moneygreggan, Moyle, Monfad, Plaister and Roughan. Cuthbert
Cunningham received land at Ballyhaskey, Dromay, Rooskey, Gortree and
Tullyannon to the south of Newtowncunningham. Sir James Cunningham settled the
area to the east of Newtowncunningham around Portlough. Full details of the land
allocations and acreages can be found in Mrs. S.M. Campbell’s book, The Laggan
and its People, pages 7-9.

The origins of Presbyterianism in the Laggan Valley

By the time of the Plantation, the Reformation had had little or no effect in the
Laggan, the Bishop of Raphoe adhering to the Roman Catholic Faith as late as 1605.
The Scottish settlers brought with them their Presbyterianism which was to take a
firm hold. In 1644, the General Assembly of the Church of Scotland appointed four
people to administer a solemn league and covenant to supply ministers for the settlers
in the Laggan. Thus, the first Presbyterian congregations were established. The oldest
was Monreagh, founded in 1644.

Persecution of the Presbyterians

The Scottish Presbyterian settlers who came to the Laggan in the opening years
of the 17th century, were to suffer great hardship and persecution. Firstly, the native
Irish who had been evicted from their lands, understandably resented their fate, and
there was a large scale rebellion in 1641 all over the north of Ireland. This was
a bloody conflict, involving horrifying atrocities on all sides. Furthermore, the
Presbyterians were persecuted by the established Church. The Bishops of Derry and
Raphoe saw them as dissenters and non-conformists, and as such, their ministers
4

could not officiate or preach without permission. Meetings of Presbytery and meetings
for worship were forbidden as unlawful, and those who attended such meetings were
liable to heavy finds and imprisonment. Those who refused to attend the worship
of the established Church risked being summoned to the Bishop’s court. Bishop Robert
Leslie of Raphoe summoned the Rev. John Hart of Monreagh amongst others to
appear before the episcopal court. When they didn’t turn up, they were
excommunicated and thrown into Lifford gaol where they languished for six years.

The great watershed in the history of this period was the Siege of Derry in 1689,
when for 105 days, the citizens of the city were besieged inside the walls by the
forces of King James II. The siege was finally lifted by King William III. The history
of the Laggan and of Taughboyne is very much tied up with the events of the Siege,
as King James marched through the district on his way to Derry. At one time, King
James’s army had its headquarters in St. Johnston. James Hamilton who was Rector
of Taughboyne at the time, gave hospitality to the King in Mongavlin Castle.

Taughboyne Parish at the time of the Plantation

Interior of Taughboyne Church.

Having surveyed the general history of the Laggan in the 17th century, let us now
turn our attention to a more detailed look at the history of the Parish of Taughboyne
at this time.

The ancient herenach, or Bishop’s agent in Taughboyne at the time of the plantation
of the Laggan was O’Roddy. The O’Roddys had been herenachs for generations.
Their duty was to manage the church estates for the Bishop, and to farm the parochial
lands. In 1609, the Bishop disposed of four quarters of hereanch land. For each

Quarter he received ‘6 meathers of butter and four meathers of meal’’, as well ag
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6/8 in Irish money. The herenach paid a pension to the Bishop for the thirds of his
tithes, 40/- Irish. At the time, Taughboyne had a parson and a vicar, and the tithes
were divided up between them and the herenach. The parish of Taughboyne possessed
twelve and one half bailebetachs of land. The extent of a bailebetach was determined
by the quality of the soil rather than by the area. That Taughboyne possessed 1272
bailebetachs says much for the quality of Laggan land. The Parish of Inver had only

three bailebetachs.

At the Royal Visitation in 1622, the Diocese of Raphoe was surveyed parish by
parish. At this time, Taughboyne Parish Church was in ruins and efforts were being
made to build a new one at St. Johnston. This was never completed as it was decided
that the original mediavel church should be restored instead. The remains of the
church which was planned are still visible in the old graveyard in St. Johnston. The
report of the Royal Visitation in 1622 describes the state of the parish and church
of Taughboyne as follows:

““The said Mr. Thomas Bruce holdeth the Parsonage and Vicarage of Taughboyne,
presentative by the Duke of Lennox, the ancient church whereof is decayed, and
the re-edifying of the same hath been stayed by Sir John Stewart, Knight, who
obtained warrant at the Council Table to build a new Church, himself laying out
£100 for the building of the same, but the rest to be at the Parishioners’ charges,
at one town called St. Johnstown, which he is about to build, Which church will
be finished at the Midsummer, 1622, but is not above the side walls yet. The ancient
parish church of Taughboyne aforesaid, is most fitting to be re-edified, and not to
be removed for that it is in the midst and most convenient place for the whole
Parishioners meeting. This parish being five or six miles in breadth, the ancient church
may be with less the half charge to the parish be re-edified than the other builded.
Against the removing of the said Parish Church of Taughboyne, the greatest and
best inhabited parts of the parish with British people do oppose: Humbly suing to
have license to re-edify at their own charges their ancient parish church, as most
commodious for them, and to be relieved from further charges towards the building
of the new church to which they have already paid 52 pounds sterling.

The cure of the said church is discharged by the aforesaid Mr. Thomas Bruce
who hath builded a good stone house, with other plantation, to the said ancient church
of Taughboyne where he had his residence. The Glebes of the said parish, by His
Majestie’s New Endowment, are two quarters of land. The value in the King’s Books
is 33 pounds sterling: The twentieth part per annum is 33s. sterling.”’

The repairs to the old church were completed. There is a stone tablet above the
door which was discovered about 1887, which has the Latin inscription, ‘“Thomas
Bruce aedificavit restoramus 1627°’. There are some curious figures in the wall beside
the main door. Opposite the door in the wall is a gravestone marked, ‘‘Here lyeth
the body of John — Cloth Worker, deceased VIII day of July 1626".

Across the Foyle, the Hamilton Family, ancestors of the Duke of Abercorn, owned
the Manor of Donelong. By a combination of marriage and purchase, the Hamiltons
came into possession of the Manors of Mongavlin and Lismoghry in the second half
of the 17th century. In 1660, Colonel James Hamilton married Elizabeth, daughter
of the first Lord Colepeper. Although technically not an heiress, Elizabeth Hamilton’s
fortune was sufficiently great to enable her trustees to purchase in 1677, the Manors
of Mongavlin and Lismoghry in the Parish of Taughboyne. This is how the Abercorn
Family came to be patrons of the Parish of Taughboyne until the disestablishment

of the Church of Ireland in 1870.
6

The Clergy to 1800

Carved figures at the door of Taughboyne Church.

At the time of the Plantation, it sometimes happened that a Presbyterian minister
who was not episcopally ordained and who did not use the liturgy of the Church
of Ireland, officiated in the parish and received its tithes and emoluments. One such
was the Rev. James Galbraith who was appointed Rector of Taughboyne by the Duke
of Lennox in 1638. However, Dr. Thomas Bruce, nephew of Bishop Knox of Raphoe,
had claim to the parish, as he had been incumbent since about 1618. Dr. Bruce sent
a man over to Scotland to see if he could find anything that might be used to discredit
Galbraith so that he could be deposed. It transpired that Galbraith had had to flee
Scotland for murder, so Bruce could be re-instated. From 1655, John Hart was
ministering in the area with a salary of £150 a year. However, Bruce remained Rector
of Taughboyne, despite occasional opposition, until 1669 when he was succeeded
by a Presbyterian, John Crookshank. The next four rectors were all relatives of the
Earl of Abercorn, and they were James Hamilton, 1674-90; Andrew Hamilton,
1690-1753, whose incumbency of 63 years was the longest in the Parish’s recorded
history; John Hamilton, 1754-56 and Frederick Hamilton, 1757-90. It was James
Hamilton who had given hospitality to King James at Mongavlin Castle during the
Siege.

The latter three Hamiltons above mentioned were each Archdeacons of Raphoe.
Andrew held the parish of Donagheady with Taughboyne. Archbishop King, writing
to the Archbishop of Canterbury in 1714 said of him, ‘‘Dr. Andrew Hamilton,
Archdeacon of Raphoe, has a very good temporal estate and benefices, to the value
of £600 per annum. He is a pious, diligent and learned man... I confirmed 200 in
his church, most reduced by his labour to conformity, being originally
Dissenters...””! He married into the Cunningham family of Castle Cunningham.

Taughboyne Church was in bad repair by the middle of the 18th century, for in
March 1754, Rev. John Hamilton wrote, ‘Having the morning and evening services
to read in my church, and that being in so wretched a condition that I know not
a place one might not stand in with more safety, it threw in such a cold into my
limbs and sent me back in such roaring pain.’”
 The last Rector of Taughboyne in the 18th century was Thomas Pemberton,
Incumbent from 1790 to 1819. He was charged with the task of sorting out the unruly
parish of Taughboyne, for which he was offered Bogay House near
Newtowncunningham as a Rectory, by the Earl of Abercorn. He also became involved

With the United Irishmen.3

L. J.B. Leslie, Raphoe Clergy and Parishes, p.20.

2. S.M. Campbell, The Laggan and its People, p.52.

3. Tam grateful to Mr. David Agnew, who lives at Bogay House, for this information.
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CHAPTER 3

The Parish in the Nineteenth century

Plan of Taughboyne Church and Grounds, 1824.

Records

From the beginning of the 19th century onwards, it is possible for us to know
more about our past because of the greater availability of records. These were
produced both by the State, and within the parishes themselves. Detailed Ordnance
Survey maps of the whole of Ireland first appeared in 1836, and in 1837, Leslie’s
Topographical Survey of Ireland came out. The Parliamentary Gazeteer of Ireland
published and compared the statistics of the censuses of 1831 and 1841.

The Parliamentary Gazeteer, which came out in 1844, tells us that in 1831, the
population of the disfranchised borough of St. Johnston was 6,345, whereas in 1841 ,
it was 5,882. In 1834, there were 790 members of the Church of Ireland, 3,318
Presbyterians and 2,207 Roman Catholics. The Parish of Taughboyne comprised,
according to Lewis, 15,7733% statute acres, and there was a fair in St. Johnston every
November 25th. The Parish income in 1844 was £1,829.11.1, and the Curate’s salary
was £80.

There is a complete set of minutes of Taughboyne Vestry from 1804, and the
Register of Births, Marriages and Deaths are complete from 1820.

The Vestry and its duties

Until it was disestablished in 1870, the Church of Ireland was part of the established
United Church of England and Ireland. Therefore, as well as being responsible for
maintaining the Parish Church and its property and grounds in good order, the Vestry
was responsible for the distribution of. charity to the poor in the days before the
welfare services. It also had to make provision for foundling children. It had to meet
by law every year at Easter to appoint officers. These were the two Churchwardens,
whose duty was to look after the finances of the parish, the Applotters, who distributed -
the sums fixed and allocated at the Easter Vestry to the poor or for maintenance
and repairs, and the Guardians or Overseers of deserted or foundling children. The
following extracts from the minutes of the Easter Vestry meeting of 1828 describe
the Vestry’s role:

““...a Vestry (meeting was) held in the Parish Church of Taughboyne at 12.00
noon on Easter Monday the 7th day of April 1828 pursuant to public notice as directed
by the 7th George IV, Chapter 72, for the purpose of repairing and keeping in repair
the Parish Church; providing things necessary for the celebration of Divine Service
therein; election of Church Wardens; making rates for defraying the expenses of
the salaries of the Parish Clerk and sextons or other necessary charges.”’

A further meeting was held in the afternoon to settle the accounts and salaries:

*“...a Vestry (was) held in the Parish Church of Taughboyne at 3 o’clock p.m.
on Easter Monday the 7th day of April 1828 pursuant to public notice as directed
by 7th George IV chapter 72, for the purpose of receiving and auditing the account
of the Church Wardens for the foregoing year, making rates for the salaries of the
Parish officers; providing coffins for the poor, and the election of overseers of
deserted children as directed by the abave named act of Parliament’’.

These officers had salaries. In 1828, the Church Warden’s salary was £4.4.0,
the Applotters” was £2.2.0, and the sextoness’s annuity was £3.3.0. There was a
Woman called ‘‘Old Madge’” whose name appears annually throughout the 1810s
and 1820s, who received £1.2.9. The sum of £20.0.0 was applotted for the care
of foundling children. In 1828, the Church Wardens were Hugh Stephenson and
William James, the Applotters were O. White, James McAdoo and George Monteith,
and the Sextoness was Jane Scott. .
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Maintenance of Church Property

One of the functions of the Vestry was to keep in good repair the Church, the
Rectory, the sexton’s house, the school, stableq aqd other property. The minute books
are full of descriptions of repairs to these buildings. For example, the building of
the stable at a cost of £35 by Mr. John Colhoun is recorded in the minutes of 3rd
April 1804. At the same meeting, the sum of ten guineas was allocated for the re-
building of the wall around the :graveyard in St. Johnston. John Marshall and
Alexander Porter were requested to superintend the laying of the new flagging in
the chancel of the church. At the Easter Vestry on 4th April 1809, one guinea was
laid aside for thatching the sexton’s house. Also, the parish agreed to lay aside the
huge sum of £150 for repairs to the church. There is evidence that the church of
1627 was a lower building with a thatched roof, as the bulge on the north wall indicates
that the building has later been raised to its present height. This might be when this
was done.

At the Easter Vestry on Easter Monday 24th March 1845, it was resolved that,
‘‘the thanks of the parishioners be presented to the Marquis of Abercorn and to
Andrew Ferguson, Esq., for the gift of a new bell, for the church. The bell,which
was bought in London, was installed in 1844, and cost £15.17.2. One Sunday morning
in 1936, the clapper of this bell fell out. It was replaced, with a new oak beam support
by Mr. Alexander Bovaird, using a pulley.

One more :ifustration of the Vestry carrying out its duty to maintain the Church’s
property will suffice, this time, from the end of the century. At a meeting on Monday
18th April 1882, it was proposed and carried that the roof of the sexton’s house
be taken off and the walls raised 4% feet, the new roof to be slated and a staircase
constructed. The contractor, Samuel McLaughlin, charged £17 for this work. The
Rector, Archdeacon Molloy, gave £10 towards it himself. The porch of the house
was added in 1884. On 18th September that year, William Latta was appointed
Sexton, and it was deemed his duty to clear stones and pipes and spoutings.

To finance its maintenance in good order of the church and its property, and pay
the clergy, the Vestry had to raise money from the parishioners. This seems to have
become more difficult towards the end of the 19th century. In 1874, the Vestry
resolved that the secretary and treasurer print lists of subscribers to the sustentation
fund for clergy stipend. In 1879, it requested the Craigadooish section of the parish
to pay £1.1.0 towards additional assessments, and that in future, they pay one third
of the sustentation, £10, which amounted for them to £3.6.8. Efforts had to be made
to get everyone to contribute their fair share. The Vestry on 17th November 1879,
passed a resolution that, ‘‘the collectors go and ask the hired servants for something
towards the sustentation fund’’. On 13th January 1899, the Vestry was unanimous
““in ordering that members of the congregation be appointed to call upon householders
who had not subscribed in the amount of 5/- to the sustentation fund during the year,
and get that amount from them before 15th February’’.

Social Welfare: Foundling Children and the Poor

Before the foundation of the welfare state, the Vestry of the established Church
provided the local social services. Foundling or deserted children were constantly
turning up. These were sometimes looked after locally, but many were sent to the
Foundling Hospital in Dublin. This institution was established in 1704. In 1810,
it had 5,000 children in its care. It ran schools. The Bishop of Derry was one of
its governors. The well-known hymns, ‘‘Spirit of mercy, truth and love’’, and ‘‘Praise

tl(l)e Lord, ye heavens adore Him’’, came from the Foundling Hospital collection.
1

The composer Handel, who came to Ireland in 1742, wrote hymns for it.

The vestry appointed guardians, or overseers of foundling children who were
responsible for their welfare. The guardian appointed at the Easter Vestry on 8th
April 1806 was William Rodgers of Momeen. The sum of £2.1.5 was paid that year
for the care of a foundling child by a Mr. John Gilfillin. On 25th May 1809, the
Vestry was asked to approve the cost of sending a foundling to Dublin. This cost
7/2 for seven nights, 3/10 for ‘‘cloathing’’, and 5/6 for carriage. Below is a
photograph of a receipt from the Foundling Hospital of a child admitted in 1808.
In 1811, foundlings cost the parish £8.7.11.

Foundling Hospital receipt, 1808.

1
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Foundling Hospital receipt, 1808.

In the early days of the last century, poverty and disease were always prevalent.
On 31st July 1817, it is recorded that, ‘‘At a vestry held at the Parish Church of
Taughboyne pursuant to Public Notice, it is hereby resolved that in consequence
of the great mortality that prevails and the extreme distress of the lower classes of
the parishioners, that the sum of fifteen pounds be granted, and is hereby granted
to be assessed on the parish for the purpose of providing coffins for those who die
and whose friends are unable to pay the expenses of their funeral.”” A further £10
was allocated on 18th November 1817 ‘‘for the same humane and laudable purpose’’.

At a Vestry meeting on 3rd June 1824, three overseers were appointed to provide

1fc2>r infants deserted in the parish as directed by Act of Parliament. The parish was

divided up into three districts, each to be supervised by overseers to be appointed
annually. The Churchwardens were to obtain an account book so that a record could
be kept of the finances of the operation. Then on 14th May 1832, the Vestry appointed
a Board of Health, ‘‘to assess the Parish with such sums as may be necessary in
case it should please Almighty God to visit us with the disease now so prevalent
in other parts of Ireland.”

Amongst Taughboyne’s records is a book entitled, ‘‘Preachers and Alms’’. This
is a record of the distribution of alms in the parish and a record of the services in
Taughboyne Church between the years 1841 and 1849. From this we can see that
the sum of 6d. in most cases, and 1/- in a few was given out weekly or fortnightly.
In 1845, this was increased to 1/- and 1/6.

The years 1845 to 1849 were the years of the terrible potato famine in which
millions of Irish people either perished or emigrated. There is no actual mention
of this catastrophe in parish records, perhaps because the famine did not affect the
Laggan as badly as it did other parts of the country. However, as we have seen,
disease and poverty were rife in the area. The Preacher’s, or service record books
state that Friday 7th December 1849 was a ‘‘Day of Humiliation appointed by the
Ordinary on account of cholera in these Kingdoms’’. The 15th December was, ‘‘a
Day of Thanksgiving for the decrease of cholera in the parts of these counties lately
so sadly afflicted. By Queen’s proclamation’’.

The Local Defence Forces

In the early 19th century, it was the duty of the parish to supply a defence force,
so at a Vestry meeting of 9th September 1805, it was resolved, ‘‘that the sum of
sixteen guineas be applotted upon the parish to pay a Recruiting Sergeant or any
other persons who will procure for the parish and bring receipts to the Minister and
Churchwardens, 6 men to serve his Majesty (George III), under the requisition of

the late General Defence Bill, and two men to fill up deficiencies by death or otherwise

in the Army of Reserve, being the rate of two guineas for each recruit exclusive
of the Government’s allowance. The said recruits under the General Defence Bill
to be furnished first and as expeditiously as possible, and the Minister (Thomas
Pemberton) and Churchwardens are requested to find out and appoint one or more
persons to procure the said recruits’’.

On 17th October 1808, the Vestry agreed that ‘‘the sum of 24 Guineas be laid
on the Parish for enlisting 2 men to make up our quota for the Donegal Militia.”’

Illicit Distilling

In those days, illicit distilling was a big problem, as people tried to down the
sorrows caused by poverty. The Vestry appointed people to search out illicit stills
In each townland, though it did pay legal fees to avoid fines. On 28th July 1806,
the following resolution was passed, *‘that the Parish shall borrow the sum of eight
guineas to fee lawyer to prevent if possible the fine for unlicensed stills, and the
Parishioners here assembled do agree to pay on the sum of eight guineas on the parish
to reimburse said eight guineas, and we appoint Mr. John McAdoo of Ardagh our
agent, and also we agree that any town where a private still and distillery is found
and suffered to work that said townland shall in future pay all fines whatsoever that
shall or may be found incurred by said private still or distillery being found therein,
and if found in a mearing between two or more townlands, that each town adjoining
shall pay equally share and share of said fines alike and the following persons shall
¢ appointed to discover in all the several townlands where any seizure shall or may

In future be made: viz., for the Church land, Mr. Alexander Porter and Mr. Jot%g
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McAdoo to take care of each townland within their district and for one thousand
acres of St. Johnston, Mr. James Smyly senior and Mr. John McClintock to 'take
care of that district and for one thousand acres of Magavelin, Mr. Andrew Hamilton
and Mr. Thomas Catton to take care of that district, and Mr. William Rodgers and
Mr. Andrew Lowry of Drumennon to take charge of that district of Lettergull and
John McConnell and Robert Carter for the Glebe of Carnashannagh.’’

The Vestry on 25th March 18135, urged the forthcoming Easter Vestry to reimburse
the Church Wardens for their trouble and expense at the assizes in defending the

parish from the effects of illicit distilling.

Worship in the Nineteenth Century

Worship in Taughboyne up to 1870 was according to the Book of Common Prayer
of the United Churches of England and Ireland. The interior of the church was simple,
and more austere than it is today. The central aisle led up to a semi-circular
Communion rail. The Preacher’s and Alms Book of 1841 to 1849 give us a glimpse
of the worship of the day.

The second Sunday after Christmas, January 3rd 1841, was very stormy with hail
and sleet. The congregation therefore, was very small, only 24 people attending.
Normal attendance in the early 1840s fluctuated from around 85 to as many as 120
in the morning and around 40 to 50 in the evening. The attendance on Trinity Sunday
morning, June 2nd 1844 was 72, and in the evening, 28. The collection that morning
was 1/3%d. On the sixth Sunday in Lent, 28th March 1847, the congregation was
107 and the collection was 2/6'2d. Evening services ceased at the end of September
1844. By the end of the decade, attendances were varying considerably. There were
102 people at church on Sunday 7th October 1849, 135 on Sunday 14th October,
82 on Sunday 21st and 80 on Sunday 28th. On Sunday November 4th 1849, there
were 48 people in the congregaton, and 92 the following Sunday.

The Rural Deans returns which began in 1854, give us more information. These
returns were questionnaires which clergy had to fill in for the information of the
Diocesan authorities. In 1860, Taughboyne morning service was at 12.00. At Easter
1871, there were 90 communicants in Taughboyne, and 47 at Craigadooish Chapel
of Ease which had just been adapted as a place of worship. In 1871, there were
58 Christmas communicants at Taughboyne, and 22 at Craigadooish. In that year,
average Sunday attendance was 91 in the morning, and 81 in the evening — evening
services had been restored. There were then 514 Church of Ireland people. In 1892,
Taughboyne’s average attendance was 90 in the morning, 47 in the evening, and
41 in Craigadooish in the morning.

On June 16th 1820, the Bishop of Raphoe, William Magee, confirmed 65 children
in Taughboyne, and on Saturday 29th September 1832, Bishop William Bissett of
Raphoe confirmed 52 children from Taughboyne and four from All Saints,
Newtowncunningham. On 29th October 1839, Bishop Richard Ponsonby confirmed
45 female and 43 male children from Taugbhboyne, All Saints, Killea and
Raymochey.

Disestablishment and Re-organisation

The Disestablishment of the Church of Ireland in 1870 was a watershed in the
history of every parish in the land. From then on, the Church of Ireland would no
longer be united with the Church of England, and would be responsible for its own

1a‘ffairs. This was a very traumatic experience for church people, but at the time,

with good leadership and sound management of its finances, the Church recovered
and organized itself for the future.

The re-organisation of the Church occurred at parochial as well as national level.
Vestries now became Select Vestries. Their duties were confined to the management
of church finances and the upkeep of furnishings and fabric. The Select Vestry would
be less and less responsible for the welfare of the poor as the State developed
institutions to do this work.

At Disestablishment, General Synod, Diocesan Synods and Diocesan Councils
were created. Each parish elected representatives to these bodies. The first mention
of Diocesan Synod in Taughboyne Select Vestry minutes occurs when it is recorded
that Bishop Alexander, husband of the famous hymn-writer, requested the parishes
to choose three persons to represent them at a synod to be held in Derry on 24th
March 1869. At an election in Craigadooish School house, Hugh Lowry, Drumfad,
Robert Devenney, Cross and John McNeely, Tiroddy were chosen. Robert Mehaffy
of Craigadooish and John McNeely of Tiroddy were elected to serve as delegates
for the parish at the Diocesan Synod held in Raphoe in the Autumn of 1869.

The first parochial nominators, elected to assist in the appointment of clergy, were
Robert Devenney of Cross and John Woods of Dooish for Taughboyne, and Robert
Mehafty for Craigadooish. They were elected by the Select Vestry on 6th January
1871. At Disestablishment, the Patronage of Taughboyne Parish passed from the
Duke of Abercorn to the parochial nominators. The Duke received the sum of
£6,389.16.9 for the loss of the advowson (patronage, or right to appoint the Rector).
All Saints, Newtowncunningham, up to this time, a Chapel of Ease in the parish
of Taughboyne, now became a parish in its own right. Its clergy ceased to be perpetual
curates, and became Rectors.

The Rectories

At the turn of the 19th century, the Rector of Taughboyne, Thomas Pemberton,
owned Bogay House, the gift of the Marquis of Abercorn. Thus Bogay House,
between Newtown and Derry, was the residence of the Rectors of Taughboyne at
that time. There was also a Glebe House at Churchtown between Newtown and St.
Johnston on the site of the present rectory. This was where the curates lived. It had
been built in 1785 at a cost of £1,313. On the 1836 Ordnance map, it appears as
an oblong building. Parallel to it are the stables, which is the same building as the
garage at the present rectory.

The present Taughboyne Rectory was built between 1880 and 1882. A meeting
of the Select Vestry was held on Thursday November 17th 1879 at Taughboyne
Schoolhouse, “for the purpose of taking into consideration the building of a Parsonage
House for the parish”’. A building committee was formed consisting of Thomas Baird,
R. Devenney, James Peoples, Archdeacon Bowen, Rector, and the curate, the Rev’d
John W. Lindsay.

On 13th February 1882, the building committee met at the rectory to view the
Completed work and to ask the Rector to settle the account of the builder, Mr.
Alexander McElwee. The completed building cost £826.10.4, plus £41.15.0 for
architect’s fees and exterior painting, wich cost £8.10.0, and was done by the firm
of William Chambers, 22 Albert St., Londonderry. There was an allowance of
£33.2.6 for use of materials from the old glebe house, so the final cost of the new
Tectory was £843.12.10. The parish borrowed £550 towards this from the Board
of Works. The loan was paid back by 1900. 16




image13.jpeg
Taughboyne Rectory.

The 19th Century Clergy

During the 19th century, the Parish of Taughboyne was served by only four rectors,
though there were numerous curates, as well as the perpetual curates at All Saints
Chapel of Ease at Newtown. The rector at the beginning of the century was Thomas
Pemberton, who served from 1790 to 1819. He was succeeded by Edward Bowen,
who was rector for 48 years until his death in 1867.

Edward Bowen was a distinguished figure. Born in 1779, he began his career as
a surgeon in Dublin. At one time, he set the leg of the Marquis of Abercorn after
a carriage accident. The Marquis as Patron, appointed him rector in 1819. The
registers of Births, Marriages and Deaths were begun by him, and they, along with
the parish Communion Silver, were kept meticulously and carefully. One of Bowen’s
sons, Sir George Bowen, G.C.M.G. was Governor of Queensland in Austrah'a frqm
1859 to 1868, and subsequently, Governor of New Zealand, Hong Kong and Victoria.
Several towns in Australia and New Zealand have a Bowen Street. George Bowen
erected the memorial tablet in Taughboyne Church to his parents’ memory. Edward
Bowen died on 18th August 1867, having been pre-deceased by his wife, Jane in 1864.

Edward Bowen was succeeded by his third son, Edward who was ordained in 1851.
He began his ministry as his father’s curate in Taughboyne. He left for Lower
Wigborough in Essex, where he stayed a year. In 1855, he returned to Ireland as
chaplain to the Marquis of Abercorn and Rector of Baronscourt. In 1868, he
succeeded his father as Rector of Taughboyne, where he remained until 1886. He
was Archdeacon of Raphoe from 1877 to 1882, and Dean of Raphoe, 1882 to 1897.
He married Hanna, daughter of Major Thomas Scott of Willsborough, who pre-

deceased him in 1884. The Select Vestry passed a vote of sympathy to the Dean
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on the occasion of his wife’s death at its meeting on 9th December 1884. She had
been a Sunday School teacher. Edward Bowen, who died on July 28th, 1897, founded
the Bowen Memorial Fund in memory of his wife and father, from which the Parishes
of Taughboyne and All Saints benefit. His will brought the endowment up to £9,000.
He also founded the Ferguson Memorial Fund in memory of his sister. This sum,
£600, benefits All Saints Church, Newtown. The Bowen familfy graves are in All
Saints churchyard.

At a meeting of the Select Vestry in Taughboyne School on 3rd April 1897, the
following resolution was passed, ‘‘We the Select Vestry of the Parish of Taughboyne
desire to express our deep and heartfelt sorrow at the death of our late loved rector,
the Very Rev’d. E. Bowen, Dean of Raphoe. We feel we have lost in him a true
and valued friend, whose large-hearted and impartial liberality to every charitable
object was unbounded. .. The restoration of our churches and the endowment which
he has made to enable divine services to be carried on as heretofore, is a lasting
proof of the deep interest he took in our spiritual welfare.’’

The Ven. John Molloy succeeded in 1886. He was ordained in 1870 for the curacy

~ of Raymochy (Manorcunningham). In 1871, he went to Hoby, Leicestershire as

curate, where he stayed until 1874. He went then to Castleconnor, Co. Mayo, 1874,
and Taughboyne, 1875-76, Conwall (Letterkenny), 1876-78, then back to
Taughboyne, 1878-86, whereupon he became Rector. He was appointed Archdeacon
of Raphoe in 1900. He married Isabella, daughter of Thomas Finucane of Ray, who
pre-deceased him in 1907. On his memorial tablet in Taughboyne Church is the
inscription, ‘“This tablet was erected as a token of affection and esteem by the
parishioners of Taughboyne’.

On Friday 27th August, 1915, Taughboyne Select Vestry passed the following
resolution, ‘“That the Select Vestry desires to place on record their deep sense of
the loss which the Parish of Taughboyne has sustained through the death of the rector,
the late Ven. Archdeacon Molloy, who for over 39 years faithfully ministered in
the parish and had endeared himself to all with whom he came in contact. His
wholehearted devotion to his work, which was crowned with success, his many acts
of kindness, his consideration at all times for the wants of others, and his genial
personality will long be remembered with affection by us. We feel that in his death,

the Church of Ireland, and more especially, our own parish, have lost a valued
Pastor.”’
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CHAPTER 4

Craigadooish Chapel Of Ease

Craigadooish Chapel of Ease.

One of the most significant events in the life of Taughboyne Parish in the 19th
century was the erection of the Chapel of Ease and school at Craigadooish. The
Parish Church of Taughboyne was in the centre of the parish. There was a Chapel
of Ease, All Saints, Newtowncunningham, at the north end of the parish, but no
convenient place of worship for the substantial number of people who lived at the
south end in the direction of Raphoe.

In a letter to the Rector, Rev’d. Edward Bowen, dated 31st October 1829, the
Rt. Rev’d. William Bissett, Bishop of Raphoe, says: ‘‘I availed myself of an
opportunity that unexpectedly offered itself at the meeting of the (Board) of First
Fruits to procure a grant of £600 for a Chapel of Ease in Taughboyne’’. In another
letter from the Bishop to the Rector, dated 25th February (1830), we read: ‘“The
gift of £600 for a Chapel of Ease in Taughboyne Parish was confirmed yesterday.
You will not forget that a certificate must be lodged in the office here, signed by
the Bishop, that a District has been separated and enrolled pursuant to the Acts for
establishing Chapels of Ease and curacies before any money can be had’’.

The land for the new Chapel of Ease was granted by James, Marquis of Abercorn,
who was Patron of the parish and whose family owned the land. The Indenture is
dated 13th February 1832. In it, the location of the Chapel of Ease is described as,
“‘situate in the townland of Craigadooes, Barony of Raphoe and County of Donegal,
bounded on the north by Binnion mountain, on the south by the road leading from
Derry to Raphoe, on the east by Robert Galbraith’s farm, and on the west by George

Monteith’s farm’’.
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There are various items of correspondence dealing with the building of
Craigadooish Chapel of Ease. These are dated between 1832 and 1834, and concern
the deeds for the building, solicitor’s expenses and the cost of building materials.
Unfortunately, there is no record of the completion of the church, or of its
consecration either in correspondence or in Vestry minutes. Evidence exists that
th'e churqh was not built at this time after all, for there is a copy of a letter from
Bishop Richard Ponsonby of the now united Dioceses of Derry and Raphoe, dated
November 2nd, 1836, to Edward Bowen, in which the Bishop says: ‘I hereby
authorise you to celebrate Divine Service in the School House at Craigadooish in
the Parish of Taughboyne and Diocese of Raphoe until an additional church shall
be erected therein’’.

The Ordnance Survey map of 1836 as revised and contoured in 1845-47 and
engraved in 1850, shows a building marked ‘‘School House’’ on the site where
Craigadooish Chapel of Ease stands today. It is reasonable to suppose that this is
the buiding which was planned as a chapel of ease in 1829, and that when built in
or about 1834, it was used as a school instead, and subsequently, for worship. Bishop
Ponsonby licensed the school house for worship in 1850, and a copy of the licence
is to be found in the Vestry minute book.

A new school was opened at Craigadooish on 1st December 1869. The old school
which was licensed for worship was now converted for exclusive use as a place of
worship. The work was carried out by the firm of James McClay of Strabane, and
the bll!, dated November 16th, 1869, informs us that it cost altogether £293-7-0.
The windows were lowered and arched, and the apse was added for the chancel.
Four extra seats were added, at a cost of £4-0-0, Communion rails and two stools
cost £3-10-0, fitting and altering the pulpit, 12/6, lectern, £2-0-0, an extra door in
the vestry £2-0-0, and church 2/6. The cost of preparing the deed of conveyancing
of the site was £9-8-11.

Craigadooish Chapel of Ease interior.
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From 1871, Craigadooish had five of its own representatives on the Select Vestry.
These were William Mahaffy, Robert Mahaffy, James Lowry, Robert McClintock
and John Devenny. Taughboyne also had five members. It was not till 1965, however,
that Taughboyne and Craigadooish had separate churchwardens. The first
churchwardens specifically appointed for Craigadooish were Andy Dunleavy
(rector’s), and Andy McConnell (people’s). It did, however, have its own nominator,
Robert Mahaffy being the first, and its own Diocesan Synodsman, also Robert
Mahaffy. At the Easter Vestry in 1876, James Gillespie and David Johnston were
put in charge of church music at Craigadooish.

CHAPTER 5

Education in the Parish —-
Taughboyne and Craigadooish Schools

Taughboyne School.

The Robertson Board

Today primary education is provided by the State through its Department of
Education in schools, many of which are managed by the parishes. None of the
parishes in Taughboyne Group has a school today, though in the 19th century, and
well into the 20th, each of these parishes had one.

At the end of the 18th century, the lack of a proper system of education was a
serious problem in Ireland. This was remedied as far as the Diocese of Raphoe was
concerned, by Colonel Robertson, son of a Rector of Aughanunshin, near
Letterkenny, who left much of the fortune he made in India to establish schools in
the Diocese. Robertson, who died about 1795, was greatly perplexed at the state
of education, so he bequeathed to the Diocese in his will, dated 25th September
1790, “‘a sum of money, which by its interest at the rate of five percent, shall be
found sufficient to provide fifteen pounds sterling annually to each parish for or
towards establishing a school therein, and purchasing books, as well as entertainment
as of instruction in every parish of said Diocese’’.

There were then 31 parishes. If each received a sum of money which raised £15
at 5% per annum, that sum was £300, so the amount bequeathed was £9,300, a fortune
at the end of the 18th century.

The Master’s salary was to depend on the numbes of scholars, and would diminish

Or cease altogether if the number dropped below a certain level, or if the standarczi?
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attained in the schools were not satisfactory. The salary was to be paid by the parishes.
Regular inspections were organised by the trustees, who were the Archbishops of
Armagh and Dublin, the Bishop, Archdeacon, Dean and the rectors of the parishes
of Raphoe Diocese. The rector of each parish was to procure one acre of land for
the building of the schoolhouse, whereupon he would receive £30 towards the cost.
£3 per annum would be given to each rector for the purchase of books and incidental
expenses. The salary of the teacher was set at £15 per annum if he had at least ten
scholars average throughout the year.

Taughboyne School — the early days

At a meeting of the Robertson Board on September 3rd, 1824, it was resolved
“‘that the sum of £45 be granted conditionally for building a schoolhouse in the Parish
of Taughboyne whenever a grant of an acre of land shall be perfected according
to the rules established’’. In Taughboyne Vestry minute book, we read: ‘‘The

following subscriptions were paid for building a parish school at the church of
Taughboyne. A.D. 1826 £ s. d.

From Col. Robertson’s Fund 41 10 9%
From The Most Noble the Marquis of Abercorn 30 00

From The Rt. Hon. The Earl of Wicklow 5 00
From The Rt. Rev’d. The Ld. Bishop of Raphoe 10 00
From The Rev’d. Edward Bowen - Rector 10 00

96 10 9%

There is a drawing at the front of the Vestry minute book of the grounds of the
church which shows the school, sexton’s house and stables, made by a William
Kincaid, dated 9th July 1824, so the school was built just before the grant was
awarded, and two years before the above subscriptions were recorded.

There is no record of the number of pupils who attended the school at first. Indeed,
statistics for the numbers only become dvailable towards the end of the century.
Below is a table of the average attendance for the years 1886 to 1916:

Year Average attendance Year Average attendance
1886 40 1906 24.9
1891 41.6 1911 26.8
1896 ) 38.6 1916 21.8
1901 29

The Running of the School

The minutes of the Robertson Board meetings from 1804 when they commence, -
give information on the provision of materials such as books for the schools, the
maintenance of good standards of teaching, and the maintenance of the buildings.
Here are some examples with regard to Taughboyne.

At a meeting on 1st November 1837, it was resolved that an allowance of £2-15-5
be granted to the incumbent of each parish for the purchase of school books. Down
the years the standard of teaching was good, though from time to time, the masters
had to be rebuked for falling short. For example, at a committee meeting on Sth
November 1844, at which the standard of teaching in the schools was being reviewed,
it was agreed that the Master of Taughboyne be chastised for want of proficiency.
Then, at a meeting of the Board on 3rd May 1853, it was to be requested that ‘‘the
Master at Taughboyne pay more attention to instruction in Geography’’.

On 6th November 1866, the Board asked the Secretary to enquire into why the

ggurch children at Taughboyne were not being taught according to the appointed

course, and on 1st November 1870, the Rector, Rev’d. Edward Bowen, was to be
“‘requested to give an admonition to the master as the Inspector reports that but a
middling proficiency has been made by the scholars’’. ,

However, on the whole, year after year as the century wore on, the Inspectors
reports were satisfactory with regard to Taughboyne.

The Robertson Board minutes mention frequent repairs to the schools. Here are
some examples with regard to Taughboyne School. The Committee on 2nd May
1865, required the Rev’d. R. C. Wills, curate of Taughboyne, to be informed tl,lat
the Schoolhouse needed some repair. This cost £2-9-11. On 3rd May 1870, Rev’d.
E. Bowen was permitted to spend £2 on repairing the Schoolhouse spouting, and
on 7th November 1876, it is recorded that “‘Mr. Crawford be requested to have
the school gable repaired as it is in a very insecure condition’”.

At a meeting of the Robertson Board on 30th July 1878, it was resolved that 10/-
be stopped from the salary of every teacher whose school’s average attendance fell
below twentyfive, 20/- if it fell below twenty, and 30/- if it fell below fifteen.
Taughboyne’s average then, however, was high enough for the teacher to retain a

full salary.

The Teacher’s Residence

Over the years, the teacher’s residence had been in a building adjacent to the stables.
Next door was the local Orange Lodge, Taughboyne L.O.L. 992, which met at this

time. By the turn of the present century, these buildings were in poor condition.
A meeting of the Select Vestry was held on 26th November 1906 to ‘‘consider the

advisability of building a new Teacher’s residence as the old house is insanitary and
unsuitable’’. At a subsequent meeting on 3rd December that year, the chairman,

Taughboyne Teacher’s Residence.
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Archdeacon Molloy, submitted a plan of the new Teacher’s Residence and said that
the Robertson Board had granted a plot of ground for the purpose of building it.
Also, if desired, the Board would demolish the old residence and use the stones in
the new one. Permission was granted for the quarrying of stones in the quarries
at Churchtown and Bready. The Vestry appointed Messrs. Thomas W. Peoples and
W. J. Baird to order lime, stones, brick and sand and other necessary materials.
The new Teacher’s Residence was built in 1907, and today it is the home of Mr.

W. G. Turner.

Decline and closure of the School

As the 19th century drew to its close, and the new century dawned, the numbers
of pupils at Taughboyne School declined. It was the policy of the National Board
of Education to amalgamate small schools so as to reduce the numbers of buildings
and costs. The Rector of Taughboyne, the Rev’d. Alexander Knight, was invited
to attend a meeting of the Robertson Board on 31st January 1917, at which he was
informed that the National Board inspector, a Mr. McMullan, was insisting that
Taughboyne School be amalgamated with Monreagh Presbyterian School. As an
alternative, McMullan suggested the idea of enlarging Taughboyne School so that
Monreagh could be amalgamated with it. The Rector pointed out in a letter dated
15th January 1917 that the difficulty in doing this was that the land on which the
school extension would be built belonged to a strong advocate of Monreagh School.

In correspondence with various people, we can see that Mr. Knight was determined
to fight for the preservation of his school. In a letter to a Mr. Wright, dated 3rd
April, 1918, he writes: ‘‘“Today I got a letter from the Bishop of Clogher telling
me that on 9th April there would be discussion at National Board about amalgamation
of Monreagh N.S. and Churchtown (Taughboyne Robertson School). Some time
ago, I appeared before the Robertson Board about this matter and the Board told
me to fight it to the last ditch’’. The Rector was afraid that if he lost the school,
the Church of Ireland children might receive religious instruction from teachers who
were not Church of Ireland. As well as that, he would lose his organist and Sunday
School teacher if the teacher was gone.

However, it became impossible for the parish to keep the school open in the end,
especially when the National Board refused to pay the salary of the teacher, Miss
Dickson. The end came early in 1919, as on 11th February that year, the Select
Vestry met and agreed to approach the Committee of Monreagh School to seek the
appointment of a Church of Ireland teacher.

Craigadooish School

The first mention of a school for the Craigadooish area of Taughboyne Parish
occurs when at the Easter Vestry on 24th April 1810 it was agreed that the sum
of sixteen guineas should be set aside ‘‘for the purpose of erecting a schoolhouse
about Crachadoos, if a site is procured to be approved at the next Easter Vestry’’.

The next mention of Craigadooish Schoolhouse occurs in 1836 when the Bishop,
Richard Ponsonby, granted the Rev’d. Edward Bowen permission to use the building
as a place of worship. This building was probably erected in or about 1834. It was
licensed by the Bishop for public worship in 1850. Then in 1869, a new school was
built ard the old one was adapted for exclusive use as a Chapel of Ease.

The new school started on 1st December 1869. The first teacher was Mr. David

ighnston, though we don’t know how many scholars there were.

;
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Craigadooish School.

There are several old roll books and daily report books in existence which cover
most of the period of the school’s life. There are also Inspectors’ reports covering
much of the first half of this century as well as the 1890s. These give us a glimpse
of the state of the school during its lifetime of 99 years.

The first Inspectors’ reports were not good. The Inspector reported on 7th July
1895 that the infants were indifferently prepared, the 4th and 5th classes were bad
in Geography, the 6th class was bad in Grammar and Geography, Needlework was
not well taught, and that the pupils should be taught to obey-orders with greater
promptitude. A globe was needed and the floor needed repairs. The following year,
1896, things had improved, for on 7th January, the District Inspector, Mr. W. J.
Browne, examined 35 pupils, eight of whom were in the senior classes, and reported
that, “‘on the whole, however, the general proficiency was very creditable, and good
pr(i%rgss has been made during the year. Penmanship was throughout carefully and
well done’’.

By 1900 things were slipping back, as the building was now only ‘‘in moderate
Tepair’’, and the accounts satisfactory. Upon examining 50 scholars, ten of whom
Wwere in the senior classes, proficiency was found to be only moderate. The following
action was ordered, ‘‘The Manager is requested to admonish the Teacher on the
fumerous defects in the proficiency of her pupils. Should next results report be also
Unsatisfactory, it will be impossible to continue payment of second salary’’. Then,
the report for 1904 states that the school needed painting and cleaning. ‘‘There is
an open cesspool containing a quantity of unwholesome liquid matter. There is no
clock. The school accounts are much in arrears’’. The 1905 report records
‘Mprovements in maintenance and accounting.

. In 1919, ““the general proficiency of the pupils did not rise above fair, except

0 needlework which was good. Arithmetic shows some improvement. Reading of
ISt standard requires special attention. Order was good™’.

h Miss Marion Clarke was appointed teacher on 1st August 1929. She did well during
ad f?ur years at Craigadooish, for the Inspector’s report of 3rd July 1930 states
at, “‘the teacher’s discipline, her attention to order, neatness and cleanliness and

©I' personal influence were good. Her methods of instruction make for the due

deVelopment of the pupils’ intelligence’’. 25
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Mrs. Laura Watt, formerly Rountree, Teacher from 1933 to 1940, also receives
favourable Inspectors’ reports, for in the report of 15th November 1937 we read,
““The Teacher’s personal influence is good. The pupils are polite and obedient. They
receive a satisfactory training’’.

A Corporal Punishment book was kept. Careful instructions were to be followed
with regard to the administration of corporal punishment. It could be done only by
the Principal Teacher with a light cane or rod. Boxing the ears or pulling hair was
sirictly forbidden. Frequent recourse to corporal punishment was seen as a sign of
ineffective discipline. There is only one entry in the corporal punishment book, dated
29th April 1913, when Robert Galbraith, Standard 4, received two slaps on the hand
from the teacher, Miss Margaret McNally, for kicking an infant pupil.

In 1916, the Duke of Abercorn handed over the patronage of Craigadooish School
to the Governors of the Robertson Board.

Below are some attendance figures for 31st July in each of the following years:

Year Attendance Year Attendance
1890 50 1940 23
1900 63 1950 26
1910 37 1960 27
1930 17

These statistics show general decline, and that meant, unfortunately, threats of
closure. The last two teachers were Miss Ruby Clarke, 1941 to 1952, and Mrs.
Isobel Galbraith, 1953 to 1969. When the school finally closed on 30th June 1969,
there were only three pupils on its rolls, Michael, Sidney and Valerie Pearson. In
the 99 years of its existence, 539 boys and 570 girls were educated in Craigadooish
School. In just under a century of its existence, it served the parishioners and people
of the district well, and earned their great affection and gratidude.

28 Sexton’s house, Craigadooish.

| CHAPTER 6
The Parish in the Twentieth Century

The 20th century opened during the incumbency of Archdeacon Molloy, Rector
from 1886 to 1915. Looking back now from near the end of the century, we today
can see many changes and developments, not orly in Taughboyne, but in the whole
parish group. In terms of numbers, this has been a century of decline, but not cne
of decay — far from it! The main causes of decline were the two World Wars of
this century, and emigration.

The Great War 1914-18

During both world wars, many church folk joined up to serve. In Taughboyne
Church, there are two memorial tablets to their memory. The tablet inside the churck:
on the south wall bears the inscription, ‘‘In loving memory of the men of this Parish
who laid down their lives for the Empire in the War 1914-1918"". Their names are,
John J. Nesbitt, John Bradley, John McLaughlin, John Wray, Charles Wray, William
Kincaid, James McCready, William Devenny, James Gilchrist, Andrew Doherty
and William Doherty. There is also a tablet in the porch to thse who served in the
1914-18 War, listing those who died, and 23 others who came home. They, along
with those who gave their lives in the second World War, 1939-45, are remembered
at the Remembrance Sunday Service each year.

These tablets were erected as a result of a decision taken at a meeting of the Select
Vestry on 15th May 1919. At a meeting on 11th December 1919, it was resolved
that, “‘the memorial tablet be erected as soon as possible and that the Lord Bishop
be requested to attend at a six o’clock service on a Sunday convenient to his Lordship
to dedicate the tablet’’. The tablet cost £56.
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Great War Memorial tablet in Taughboyne.
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Emigration

The other major cause of the decline in numbers during this century has been
emigration. With the establishment of the Free State in 1921, many people from
the Laggan Valley went to live in Northern Ireland. This drain contined virtually
unabated for years, and the parish notes in the Raphoe Diocesan Magazine record
time and time again, the departure of one family after another for Derry, Belfast,
England and even America and Australia. Fortunately however, many of the people
who went to live in Derry, still return regularly-to worship in the church of their
upbringing. Without them, Taughboyne Parish would be in a very difficult position.

The Raphoe Diocesan Magazine as well as the Vestry minute books are useful
sources of information about the Parish in this century. Taughboyne notes first
appeared in the June 1954 issue of the Diocesan Magazine. Furthermore, we have
entered the period which is within reach of the memory of the oldest parishoners.

The Select Vestry

As we look back and see how the Select Vestry fulfilled its function to maintain
in good order, the fabric, finances and furnishings of Taughboyne Church and
Craigadooish Chapel of Ease, we learn much about the life of the parish in general.
The Vestry usually met in the Schoolhouse, even occasionally in the Rectory, though
on 27th February 1935, it met for the first time in the Orange Hall in St. Johnston.
This was the first meeting chaired by Dean J. K. Beattie. At that meeting, the register
of parishioners was revised with 75 names. At a Vestry meeting on 15th May 1921,
a hearty welcome was given to Mrs. T. W. Peoples, the first woman on the Vestry.
Since then, women have played a significant role in the life of these parishes.

There have been numerous Secretaries and Treasurers over the years. Mr. W. G.
Turner served as Treasurer for many years. The present Treasurer is Mr. Derek
Peoples. The Secretary today is Mrs. Shirley Baird who replaced in 1992, her father-
in-law, Mr. Michael Baird who died at an unduly early age. He had been secretary
for 34 years from 1958.

Maintenance and Repairs

The Vestry minute books give much information about the repair and maintenance
of the churches and their property over the years. For example, a tender for the
painting of Taughboyne Church was discussed at the Vestry on 9th August 1918,
but it was rejected, because at £13.1.3, it was considered to be too high. On the
other hand, the Vestry agreed on 17th July 1924 to the installation of a new heating
system at a cost of £70.10.0. Taughboyne Church was painted inside and out, and
extensive repairs were carried out, including plastering and repairs to the roof at
a cost of £301.7.6 in 1936. At a meeting on Sth January 1953, the Vestry approved
the wiring for electricity of all church property. The heating of the church was
discussed in November 1963. It was decided that gas heating should be installed,
which at 11/- a Sunday, was less than half of the cost of the coke which had been
used to then.

In November 1966, Craigadooish Church underwent repairs including plastering,
repairs to the floor and roof, and a complete re-decoration inside and out. This work
was carried out by the parishioners themselves. There was a service of dedication
on Advent Sunday November 27th, when various gifts to the church were dedicated,
including collection plates, service books, a notice board, chancel lights, and an

Altar frontal and linens.
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For many years, Craigadooish had no bell, only an empty belfry above the door.
One was obtained in response to an appeal in the Church of Ireland Monthly magazine
by Mr. W. G. Turner. The bell was given by a retired naval surgeon, and came
from the coastal light vessel, H. M. S. Kittiwake. It was dedicated at this service
by Bishop Tyndall, and contains the inscription, *“To Craigadooish Church, the gift
of T. G. Wilson, Advent 1966°’, and on the inside, ‘‘H. M. S. Kittiwake, 1898°".
The Preacher was the Ven. L. W. Crooks, father of the present Rector. The Rector
at the time was Canon H. H. J. Fennell.

It is reported in the Vestry minutes of 22nd February 1974, that Mr. Andy
McConnell had cleared away the old stable building beside Taughboyne School. This
building, which was erected in 1804, had been derelict for years. Repairs to and
maintenance of the Rectory over the years are frequently discussed by the Vestry.
The most recent major renovation involved re-fitting the kitchen and bathroom in
1980. A new roof was put on in 1992. The sexton’s house underwent costly renovation

in 1985.

Finances and Sustentation

Raising money and sustentation has been no less a problem in this century than
it was in the last. In 1900, Craigadooish was asked to contribute one third of the
amount required for the sustentation fund to pay clergy stipend. This amounted to
£9. It is recorded in the Vestry minutes of 22nd December 1913 that the Taughboyne
side of the parish had to date paid £23.9.6. The debit side of the account shows
a shortfall of £18.1.6 in the payment of the sustentation. The Vestry in 1948 adopted
the weekly envelope scheme, ‘‘to try to increase the financial position of the church.”’
At the meeting to revise the parish register of subscribers in 1950, there were sixty
names on the list.

Finance has always been a big problem for small parishes. In 1959, the parish
was £322 in the red, whereas £340 was the sum required each year to run the parish.

Today, the assessment bills from the Diocesan Office come to over £5,500, and
the parish needs nearly £10,000 a year to keep in the black! A novel way of raising
money which required little effort, was the Gift Sunday, upon which parishioners
simply made a donation. The first in 1961 brought in £125. In 1962, £141 was
donated, and in 1963, £187. Nowadays, it is usually around £1,500.

The Teacher’s Residence

The closure of Taughboyne School in 1919 was a sad occasion for the parish.
Thereafter, the Teacher’s residence was let to various people. Amongst these was
a Mrs. Templeman who dwelt there until 1930. The Vestry minutes of 22nd February
1937 record the letting of the house to the Misses E. and A. McClintock at £12
PEr annum, rent to be paid quarterly. On 21st March 1949, the Vestry agreed to
th§ letting of Craigadooish school teacher’s residence beside the church to Mr.

illiam Pearson for a rent of 1/6 plus rates. He still resides there today.

At a Vestry meeting on 16th March 1953, it was agreed, ‘‘that we accept Mr.
urner of Strandhill, Sligo, as tenant, subject to his accepting our terms’’. This was
£ € beginning of a long and happy association of Taughboyne Parish with the Turner
amily at the teacher’s residence, which still continues. 2
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Sextons

Sextons over the years have played a very important part in the life of the
parish. At the Easter Vestry on 8th April 1912, Mr. and Mrs. Robert Cunningham
were re-elected sexton and sextoness of Taughboyne on condition that they satisfied
the Rector as to their attendance at church services and Holy Communion, and on
the understanding that members of the Select Vestry had a right to speak to them
at any time about the state of the church. Their salary was set at £7 per annum,
plus £1 for cleaning and lighting- the school daily, and 12/- per annum for
whitewashing the school, stable walls and school office. They were allowed 8/- a
year for firewood. We read that the sexton was to ask Mr. William Latta to remove
his horse from the stables as one year, it had been causing a nuisance to the
parishioners on Easter Sunday.

By April 1935, the sexton was Mr. Robert Latta, though it is recorded that nobody
could find any record of his appointment. In Craigadooish, Mr. William Pearson
had been appointed sexton in October 1936 with a salary of £5 per annum. He is
still sexton there today.

In 1947, Robert Latta resigned as sexton of Taughboyne, and John Montgomery
was appointed in his place. Then, a different Robert Latta was appointed in 1954.
He remained until his death in 1977, when he was replaced by his wife, Mrs. Nan
Latta, who is well-remembered for her excellent services. She left the district in
1989. Today, the sexton’s house is occupied by Mr. and Mrs. Robbie Duncan and
their two children.

Sexton’s house, Taughboyne.
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Worship

In 1900, there was an average attendance of 76 in the morning and 26 in the evening
in Taughboyne, and 40 in the morning in Craigadooish. There were 388 Church
people in 86 families. In 1992, there is one Sunday service at 11.00 a.m., with an
average attendance of 25 in Taughboyne, and one in Craigadooish at 9.45, with
average attendance of 15 to 20. There are around 40 households and 120 people.

Worship in the Parish of Taughboyne has always been of a high standard, the
services of the church being celebrated with dignity and simplicity. In 1968, the
Rev’d. George Yeo introduced the revised services of Morning and Evening Prayer
and Holy Baptism. There was, however, little use of the revised services until the
introduction of the Alternative Prayer Book in 1984. The present situation is that
the Holy Communion is celebrated twice a month, once with the Book of Common
Prayer, and once with the Alternative Prayer Book. For Morning and Evening Prayer,
when the latter is used, the rite is the Book of Common Prayer. The principal Saints
Days and Holy Days are kept. There are also special services, for example, when
gifts are dedicated and blessed, or on the occasion of an Episcopal visit for a
Confirmation.

Being a rural, farming community, the annual Harvest celebration is of great
importance, and for this, as well as for Christmas and Easter, the churches are always
beautifully and imaginatively decorated. A special outdoor Rogationtide service was
held in the open air at Bready on 4th May 1959. The preacher was the Rt. Rev’d.
E. B. Moore, Bishop of Kilmore, and Bishop Tyndall was present. The Britannia
Band provided the music, and there was a congregation of 400. A brief report of
the service was shown on the B.B.C. Northern Ireland television news.

Rogation Service, May 1959. Canon Fennell on left.
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The Parish Reader

The commissioning of Mr. William Turner as a Parish Reader was a very important
occasion in the life of the Parish Group as a whole. The commissioning took place
in Conwall Parish Church, Letterkenny on 19th June 1987. The Bishop, Rt. Rev’d.
James Mehaffey commissioned a total of 19 people for service in their parishes
throughout the Diocese of Raphoe. The Parish Reader is permitted to conduct
Morning or Evening Prayer, though not preach, and he assists at the Eucharist in
the parish group for which he is commissioned. Mr. Turner fulfils his duties to the
maximum extent possible, and is much appreciated by the Rector and parishoners.

Canon Crooks and Mr. W. G. Turner, parish reader.
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The Furnishings — Taughboyne

It often happened that when major renovations were carried out to the church,
the parishioners not only gave generously to the cost, but also donated gifts in memory
of their loved ones. The four churches in Taughboyne Group are therefore well
furnished with all things requisite for Divine Worship.

The Altar in Taughboyne Church was the gift of Mrs. Margaret Peoples in memory
of her husband Mr. John Peoples. The oak panelling in the Sanctuary was given
in memory of Mr. and Mrs. Thomas W. Peoples by their family, and the chairs
in the Chancel were the gift of Mr. and Mrs. J. K. Baird. These, along with an
almsdish and vases and Communion linen were dedicated by Bishop Boyd on 4th
October, 1956. The East Window which depicts the 23rd Psalm, ‘‘The Lord is my
Shephergi”, was the gift of Mr. J. K. Baird and his brothers in memory of their
parents in 1949. The Cross on the Altar was given in memory of John and Isobel
Donnell by their family in 1971.

The fine Pulpit and Prayer Desk were given by the parishioners of Taughboyne
in grateful and affectionate remembrance of Hannah Bowen, wife of the Very Rev’d.
E. Bowen, Rector of Taughboyne, 1868 to 1886. Mrs. Bowen, died on 25th
September 1884. The Bible on the Lectern was given by Mrs. Margaret Moore in
memory of her husband, Archdeacon Moore in 1984, and the carpet in the Sanctuary
is the gift of the parishoners in his memory. The Prayer Desk in the Sanctuary was
given by Mr. W. G. Turner in memory of his wife, Ena, who died in 1990. The
Font is unmarked.

Taughboyne Church possesses some very old Communion silver. The Flagon and
a large Paten are marked, ‘‘Ex Dono Domine Elizabethae Hamilton Ecclesia
Taughboyan Anno Dom. 1683”’. Elizabeth may have been the wife of the Rector
at the time, James Hamilton. There is a Chalice which is marked, ‘‘Ecclesia de

All Saints Communion Silver. 33
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Taughboyan, 1698°°. There is a matching Paten, similarly marked. The Chalice and
Paten in use today were given in memory of Mrs. Ena Turner by her family in 1990.
The Communion vessels are kept in a wooden box in the safe which was given by
the Rev’d. Edward Bowen in 1842. The Almsdish was given in memory of William
J. McL. Baird, and there are two wooden collecting plates.

The Furnishings — Craigadooish

There is no record of the donation of the Altar in Craigadooish. The Pulpit and
Prayer Desk there were given in memory of Hanna Bowen in 1896. The brass Lectern
was given in loving memory of John Hill of Drumearn who died on 30th April 1895.
There are two chairs in the Sanctuary. The Cross on the Altar was given anonymously
in 1977. The seat at the Prayer Desk was the gift of the sons and daughter of John
and Margaret Thompson Hepburn, Trentnamucklagh, St. Johnston, in their memory,
February 1982. The Font is unmarked. The Almsdish was given by William and
Susan Arthur in 1966. The Communion vessels, which consist of a Flagon, Chalice
and two Patens, were given by Dean Bowen in memory of his father, Rev’d Edward
Bowen in 1869. The carpet in the Sanctuary was given by the McConnell family
in 1955. Both Taughboyne and Craigadooish are well supplied with Sanctuary Hymn
Books and Prayer Books and other requisites for worship, kindly donated in recent
times by the Hepburn family.

Craigadooish Communion Plate.

Memorial Tablets

There are five memorial tablets in Taughboyne Church. There is one on the south
wall, erected to the memory of the Rev’d. E. Bowen and Jane his wife, by their
eldest son, Sir George Bowen, G.C.M.G. The other tablet on that wall gives the
names of those from the parish who died in the Great War. On the north wall there
are memorial tablets to Andrew Colhoun, only son of William Colhoun, who died
on 28th May 1865, which was erected by his nieces, and to Archdeacon and Mrs.
31\:1‘olloy. The tablet in the porch gives the names of those who served in the Great War.

The Sunday Schools

Those who teach in Sunday School and play the organ, give much-appreciated
service to the church and parish.

The earliest record of Sunday School teachers and organists occurs with the
appointment of Mrs. Templeman as both upon coming to live in the Teacher’s
residence in 1919. Upon her resignation in 1930, Mrs. Sarah Kincaid was appointed
Sunday School Superintendent and organist with a salary of £20 a year. In the minutes
of the Easter Vestry of 25th April 1938, Miss Rountree is thanked by the Rector,
Rev’d. J. K. Bea}tle, fo_r ‘‘the efficient manner in which she carried out her duties
as organist at Craigadooish Church”’, as is also Miss Effy Hyde who *’so successfully
deputised for Miss Rountree when the latter was on holidays’’. At the Easter Vestry
on 17th April 1939, thp Rector thanked the Sunday School teachers, the Misses Elsie
and Hester Devenny in Taughboyne, and the Misses Rountree and Effy Hyde and
S. Arthur in Craigadooish, ‘‘not only for their faithful services, but for the very
healthy personal influence which they at all times exercise over the children’’. At
the Easter Vestry on 15th April 1947, the Rector thanked Miss Charlotte Peoples
““for her great work in the interests of the Sunday School’’, and at the Easter Vestry
on 4th April 1951, the Rector praised the Sunday School teachers, Miss Margaret
Peoples and Miss Elsie Devenny in Taughboyne, but expressed his regret that at
the time, there was no Sunday School teacher in Craigadooish. By 1952, Miss
Devenny had ceased through marriage to be a teacher, though by then, Craigadooish
had two teachers, Miss Hepburn and Mr. William Pearson. In 1956 at the Easter
Vestry, the Rector acknowledged the Misses Charlotte and Margaret Peoples in
Taughboyne and Mrs. Turner and Miss Iris Sproule in Craigadooish.

The Sunday School had various activities each year, such as the outing. In 1957
this was to Moville. In more recent times, the children have visited most of the locai
places of interest. The annual excursion nowadays is by train to Portrush. The Sunday
Schools of the Taughboyne Group of parishes hold a Christmas party together each
year. The present teacher in Taughboyne is Mrs. Isobel Boreland. The Sunday School
in Craigadooish was under the supervision of Mr. Andy McConnell until his
retirement in 1986. Miss Lorna Hepburn was a teacher there in the early 1970s
The present teacher is Don Pearson. .

The Organist

% In 1957, the Organist in Taughboyne was Mrs. Maude, and in Craigadooish, Mrs.

turner. Mrs. Maude was replaced by Mrs. Fennell on a temporary basis in 1963,

fftﬂl,i the appointment of Mrs. Turner who remained organist until her untimely death

o March 1990. The Organist in Craigadooish today is Mrs. Elma Pearson, who
S0 plays sometimes in Taughboyne.

Missionary Giving

Giving to missions has always b i i
s has always been generous in Taughboyne. The parish has
f)‘;%vpgg(ed all the main missionary societies as well as many smaller ong,s. A sale
o t{n Taughboyne on 4th December 1914 raised £14.9.2 for the work of the
netyal I(;r the Propagation of the Gospel. These sales were held annually. The
A egan rotestant Orphan Society has always, of course, been strongly supported.
ey 5111&1 generz‘l‘l meeting of the D.P.O.S. in 1961, Miss Charlotte Peoples was
nded as an energetic collector for the Society’’, and was elected to the

Commj .
Mmittee. Missonary speakers were occasionally invited to speak about their work.
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In November 1955, the Rev’d. W. D. Lewis gave an illustrated talk on his work
in the Missions to Seamen in Churchtown School, and on 7th February 1956, the
Rev’d. J. C. Handley Vaughan came to speak about his work with the Church

Missionary Society.

Amalgamation

In 1900, Taughboyne with Craigadooish was a single parish with a rector and
curate. Now, it is one of a group of parishes consisting also of All Saints,
Newtowncunningham and Killea. In 1957, upon the resignation of the Rev’d. W.
Doherty, the parishes of All Saints and Christchurch, Burt, were amalgamated with
Taughboyne under the Rev’d. H. H. J. Fennell. In 1959, the Sparsley Populated
Areas Commission, S.P.A.C., made no recommendations for change, except that
in an appendix to its report, it said, ‘‘At the various enquiries, the Committee received
several suggestions for the amalgamation of the Craigadooish area with other parishes.
The Commission is however, convinced that it would be thoroughly unadvisable
to divide the existing parish of Taughboyne’’. It was pointed out then that as
Craigadooish was part of Taughboyne, it could not be separated from it.

In 1969, upon the resignation of Canon Kelly, Rector of Glendermott and Killea,
Killea Parish came into Taughboyne group, and Burt was amalgamated with Fahan.

The Clergy of the 20th Century

Taughboyne Parish has been served by seven rectors so far during this century.
In 1900, the Rector was Archdeacon Molloy, and the Curate was Thomas Henry
Staunton. Staunton left in 1901 to become Rector of Clondehorkey near Dunfanaghy.
He was presented upon his departure from Taughboyne with the gifts of a gold watch
and chain and a purse of sovereigns, the total value of which was £48.4.0. A
Galwegian, he became Dean of Raphoe in 1940. Taughboyne had six more curates,
the last being Hugh Edmund Vaughan who left in 1918.

Archdeacon Molloy died in 1915, to be succeeded by the Rev’d. Alexander Knight
from Clones, Co. Monaghan. He was ordained Deacon in 1892 in Clogher Diocese,
Priest in 1894. He was curate of Boho, Co. Fermanagh, 1892-96; and Fivemiletown,
1896-99. He received a general licence for the Diocese of Raphoe, 1899-1901. He
then became curate of Taughboyne with Archdeacon Molloy, 1901-03, then Ardara,
1903-07, then back to Taughboyne, 1907-09, whence he went to Inniskeel (Portnoo)
as Rector, 1909-15. He returned to Taughboyne as Rector 1915-34.

Mr. Knight is fondly remembered by the older parishioners, who describe him
as being of medium build with a great sense of humour. On one occasion, he tackled
a parishioner, a certain Mr. Porter who was somewhat the worse for a few drinks.
The good rector said to this fellow, ‘“There’ll be no Porter in Heaven’’, whereupon
he received the reply, ‘‘Aye, your Reverence, and there’ll be no Knight either!”’
Alexander Knight died in retirement on St. Stephen’s Day, 26th December 1943.

The next Rector was the Rev’d. Joseph Kildare Beattie, who was ordained Deacon
in 1920, and Priest in 1921. He was curate of Drumachose, Limavady, 1920-21,
and Templemore, 1921-27, and incumbent of Cappagh, 1927-34. He was Rector
of Taughboyne from 1934 to 1953, whence he went to Dunfanaghy, where he
remgi:;ed until his death on 1st September 1957. He was appointed Dean of Raphoe
in 1947.

Dean Beattie was a character. It would be an understatement to say that he was
not noted for punctuality. He would arrive to conduct a service some time after the

s%rvice would have ended had it begun on time! When he arrived in the parish, the
3

Dean had a Ford V8 car. He subsequentl){ got a motor bike, and finally a bicycle.
The Dean was a scholarly man whose wife was very musical.

Dean Beattie was succeeded by the Rev’d. Harold Hugh James Fennell, who was
ordained Deacon in 1943, and priest in 1944. He was curate of Strabane, 1943-47,
curate-in-charge of Kilteevogue near Stranorlar, 1947-48 and Rector of Kilteevogue,
1948-54. He came to Taughboyne in 1954, where he stayed until 1967. He was Canon
of Raphoe Cathedral, 1962-67. He left Taughboyne to become Assistant Master at
Annadale School, Belfast, 1968-71, whence he became Church of Ireland Education
organiser for Northern Ireland from 1971. He died in 1981. Canon Fennell is fondly
remembered as a man of gentle, even saintly character. His wife, Molly, a frequent
visitor to the parish in recent years, died in 1992.

George Henry Yeo, M.B.E., ordained deacon, 1965, priest, 1966, was curate-in-
charge of Clonleigh with Donoughmore from 1965 to 1968. He came to Taughboyne
in 1968. It was during his incumbency that the parish of Burt was detatched from
the group and the parish of Kiilea added, in 1969. He left in 1972 for Royston in
England. He then became curate-in-charge of New Galloway in Scotland in 1975.
He died in 1989. He is remembered as a man who conducted the affairs of the parish
~ conscientiously and with meticulous attention to detail and punctuality.

Edward Alexander Moore was ordained deacon in 1951, priest in 1952, and was
curate of Drumragh, Omagh, 1951-57. He became Rector of Inver in 1957, whence
he came to Taughboyne in 1972. He was Canon of Raphoe Cathedral, 1968-76,
Dean of Raphoe, 1976-80, and Archdeacon, 1980-83. Archdeacon Moore died
suddenly while on holiday on 20th July 1983. He is lovingly remembered for a deeply
caring pastroal ministry. His wife Margaret returns frequently to visit friends in the
parish.

The present Incumbent, Canon David W. T. Crooks was ordained deacon in 1977,
priest in 1978, and was curate of Glendermott, Londonderry from 1977-81, and
Old St. Paul’s, Edinburgh, 1981-84. He came to Taughboyne Group of parishes
in 1984. He was appointed Canon of St. Eunan’s Cathedral, Raphoe in 1991.

Archdeacon Moore with a group of parishioners of Taughboyne with Craigadooish.
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PART TWO

THE PARISHES OF ALL SAINTS, NEWTOWNCUNNINGHAM,
AND CHRISTCHURCH, BURT.

CHAPTER 7

Early history to the building of
All Saints Church

All Saints Church, Newtowncunningham.

Early History

The modern Parish of All Saints, Newtowncunningham was created out of
Taughboyne Parish at the time of the Disestablishment of the Church of Ireland in
1870. Its Church, All Saints, had been a Chapel of Ease in Taughboyne Parish.
Therefore, its early history and its story up to the beginning of the 18th century,
coincide with Taughboyne’s. The Parish and district of All Saints is proud of the
ancient Celtic heritage of Columba and Baithin in which it is firmly rooted. Its
Mediavel history is dominated by the great Irish clans, the O’Dohertys in Inishowen
to the north of the district, and the O’Neills and the O’Donnells, fighting over the
Laggan Valley, until the Flight of the Earls paved the way for the plantation of the
area from 1609 onwards. The countryside around Newtowncunningham is dominated
by the pre-historic Grianan of Aileach and the O’Doherty castle at Burt.
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The Plantation .

As the Stewart family planted the St. Johnston area of the Laggan, the Cunningham
families planted the Newtown and Portlough areas. It is, of course, from the
Cunninghams that the villages of Newtown Cunningham and Manor Cunningham

et their names. John Cunningham of Crawfield built a *‘bawn’’, or house of lime
and stone 70 feet, (21.33m) square and 14 feet (4.27m) in height. Round this bawn
he built 26 houses and a water mill. The bawn, the centre of the community, was
Castle Cunningham. Each of the plantprs received 1,QOO acres which they und.ertook
to farm with their tenants. The Cunningham acre unit of land area, from which the
term ‘‘conacre’’ is derived, comes from the Cunninghams. A full description of the
allocation of the land in the Laggan is to be found in Mrs. S. M. Campbell’s book,
<The Laggan and its People’’, pages 7-9.

The Forwards of Castle Forward

It was the great land-owning family, the Forwards of Castleforward who provided
the district of All Saints with its present church.
In 1636, John Howard married Dorothea, daughter and heiress of Robert Hassels,
first owner of Shelton, near Arklow in Co. Wicklow. Their son, Ralph Howard,
M.P. was President of the College of Physicians of Ireland in 1674. He acquired
in 1697, the estate of North Arklow from the Duke of Ormonde. On this estate is
situated Shelton Abbey, the chief residence of his descendants.
Ralph Howard died in 1710, and was succeeded by his eldest son, Hugh Howard
of Shelton. He became Keeper of the State Papers at Whitehall in 1714 and Paymaster
of the Board of Works in 1726. He died in 1738 and was succeeded by his brother,
the Rt. Rev’d. Thomas Howard who became Bishop of Killala in 1726, and Elphin
in 1729. He married Patience Boleyne, and died in 1740. His heir was their eldest
son, Ralph. ,
The Rt. Hon. Ralph Howard, Ist Viscount Wicklow, M.P. for the County of
Wicklow, and a member of the Privy Council in Ireland, was elected to the Irish
Peerage as Baron Clonmore of Clonmore Castle in Co. Carlow on 21st July, 1776.
He was advanced to the Viscounty of Wicklow on 23rd June, 1785. He married
Alicia, only daughter and heiress of William Forward of Castleforward near
Newtowncunningham in Co. Donegal on 11th August, 1755. It was William Forward
who built All Saints Church.
Alicia was created Countess of Wicklow on 20th December, 1793. She erected
4 monument to her father which is on the north wall of the church. The first and
second sons of Ralph and Alicia Howard, Robert and William, became the second
and third Earls respectively. William died on 27th September 1818 and is buried
in the family mausoleum at Shelton. Her monument is also in All Saints Church.
He built All Saints Roman Catholic Church in 1810.
William, 3rd Earl of Wicklow, assumed on 21st November, 1780, the surname
and arms of Forward upon inheriting the estate of his maternal relatives, but resumed
s family name of Howard by Royal licence on succeeding to the Peerage on the
death of his brother in 1815. He married Eleanor, only daughter of the Hon. Francis
Caulfield, and granddaughter of James, 3rd Viscount Charlemont, on 31st March
17,87- Eleanor died on 2nd April 1807 aged 38 years. Her monument is also in All
Saints Church,
e family continued to have a distinguished career in the 19th century. In 1900,
the 7th Ear] of Wicklow was Ralph Francis Howard, Viscount Wicklow of Wicklow
Baron Clonmore of Clonmore Castle, Co. Carlow. The 8th Earl was William
OWard, Baron of Clonmore, Captain in the Royal Fusiliers and Director of Clonmo;g
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and Reynolds Ltd., and of the Patriotic Insurance Co. Ltd., Dublin. His mother,
Lady Gladys Hamilton, was the youngest daughter of the 2nd Duke of Abercorn.
He was the author of ‘‘Pope Pius XI and World Peace’’, 1937, and of various other
works and translations. The family has now died out. The last Countess of Wicklow
was head of the British Red Cross.

" Chap

174
7 ;
R /m/nmf/;t okt A1

: Y, N
SO P~ prea \‘.S‘\

ASeales 4)/ !P.,r/'/ S oriies

50 /49 f]c' ‘

Map of Newtowncunningham 1727.

Tcde of Plortsltion o
i .

120
j% 4

Forward Monument, All Saints Church.

41




image26.jpeg
The Forward Estates

The Forward family for generations owned the great house and estate of
Castleforward on the shores of Lough Swilly. It covered some 300 acres of the
surrounding countryside. In July 1727, Mr. Archibald Stewart surveyed the
Castleforward estates and produced maps of them. He also produced statistics of
the farms in the area, giving the names of their tenants, and the qualities and values
of the various types of land. Below are photographs extracted from this book of
fourteen maps, of which eleven were drawn in 1727, the rest later. They are
beautifully coloured. The first photograph shows part of the Manor of
Coolmakletrean, and marks All Saints Chapel, then newly built. The second shows
part of the Manor of Portlough, and the third shows some of the statistics taken
from the survey of Ballyhasky. Note the townland names which are preserved today.
These photographs are reproduced by kind permission of the Keeper of Manuscripts
at the National Library of Ireland in Dublin.
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42 Details of farm acreages, 1727.

All Saints Chapel of Ease

arish of Taughboyne is some 24km./15 miles in length. The Parish church
. i the centre of this area, and therefore, a considerable distance from the village
lsfnll\lewtowncunningham and from the Castleforward estate. In 1722, William
(1':‘ rward set about the task of building a chapel of ease for the convenience of those
(1)10 resided at the north end of the parish, and who were too far from the parish
v‘;mrch to reach it easily, bearing in mind the modes of transport and the condition
gf the roads in the eighteenth century. The new chapel was completed and consecrated.
on All Saints Day, 1st November 1722, as the chapel for the Forward estate. It became
Taughboyne’s Chapel of ease on 9th December 1728. The Bishop of Raphoe at the
time was Nicholas Forster. | |
The new church measured 39.62m (130 ft.) by 27.43m (90 ft.) Built of lime and
stone, it was entered through a small porch. Undoubtedly, it was a simple, plgun
building, furnished with pews on either side of the aisle which led to the Communion

rails, altar and pulpit. The tower was added in 1808.

The P

1727 map of part of
| Taughboyne Parish.
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CHAPTER 8

The Parish to 1921

Records

Unfortunately, there is not a great deal of documentation for All Saints in the 18th
and 19th centuries. The Vestry minutes available today only go back to 1921. The
Baptismal registers go back only to 1879, the Marriage registers to 1845, and the
Burial registers to 1820.

However, it is known that a Vestry meeting was held on 2nd September 1773,
which is the first authentic record of the church. The function of the Vestry was
to provide for the poor and to keep the church property in good repair.

Poverty

The 18th and 19th centuries were marked by poverty and disease. In 1794, 27
people, mainly widows and orphans, received sums of money from 7%d to 4/6,
though in 1796, 22 paupers received only 2/1%d. In that year, £5 was applotted
to the Parish Clerk and £1 to the sexton. Large coffins for the poor cost five shillings,
and small ones 2/6. Around this time, a local farmer left £200 in his will, the interest
of which was to be divided annually amongst the poor.'

Illicit Distilling

Illicit distilling was common in the early 19th century as people sought refuge
from their miseries. On 1st July 1806, 34 members of All Saints formed a deputation
“‘to admonish the several persons who shall hereafter be found to be concerned in
clandestine distilling in this parish to cease from such distilling or otherwise to cause
the penal laws to be put in execution against them before some Justice of the Peace
for the County of Donegal’’. It is recorded that ‘‘the above deputation found John
Paine and Hugh Thompson working two stills, one in Gortree and one in Galhean’.
Subsequently deputations were formed in 29 townlands in the parish, the members
of which pledged themselves to report any illicit distilling to the leading men of the
parish or to a magistrate.

"Tam grateful to Miss Geraldine Hannigan for this information, obtained from a short History of All
Saints written by her.

Worship and Christian Education

Worship in All Saints up to the time of the disestablishment of the Church of Ireland
in 1870 was, as everywhere else, according to the Book of Common Prayer of the
United Churches of England and Ireland. After Disestablishment, All Saints became
a separate parish in its own right with its own clergy.

In 1855, there were two services every Sunday, at 12.00 p.m. and 5.00 p.m.

Christmas, the Circumcision, the Epiphany, Good Friday and the Ascension were
also kept. The average Sunday attendance that year was 66 in the morning and 24
in the evening. There were 45 communicants at Easter, 14 on Trinity Sunday and
20 at Christmas. The total collections for the year amounted to £10-4-2.

There were 255 Church of Ireland people in the parish. There was a Sunday School

Xv4ith two teachers and 31 pupils. There was a Parish school whose teacher was George

Mitchell. His salary was £27-1-6 per annum. There was also a family school at
Castleforward. . ' |

In 1898, morning and evening services on Sundays were held. The Epiphany,
Ash Wednesday, Good Friday, the Ascension and Christmas were observed, and
the Litany was said every Sunday. The average Sunday morning attendance was
86.7, and the average Sunday evening attendance was 23.6. There were 31
celebrations of the Holy Communion that year. There were 61 communicants at
Easter, 13 on Whit Sunday and 76 at Christmas. The Sunday School had six teachers
and 43 pupils, and there was a Sunday School run by Miss Stuart of Bogay House.
30 children attended national schools in the parish under the management of the local
Presbyterian minister, but there was provision for the instruction of Church of Ireland

hildren.

[ In 1899, the parish had about 275 parishioners in 55 families, as well as 20 members
who resided outside the parish.

The building of the Chancel

The end of the 19th century saw one major addition to All Saints Church. The
Select Vestry at a meeting on 22nd July 1898, discussed the possibility of adding
an apse or chancel and sanctuary to the church. Four tenders for the work were
received. These were from Mr. McClay for £366, Mr. Robert Colhoun for £360,
from Mr. William Platt for £355, and from Mr. Malseed for £325. The latter was
accepted upon the advice of the architect, Mr. Buchanan. Upon completion of the
apse, a dispute arose between the builder, Mr. Malseed, and the Select Vestry, as
Malseed claimed that he had had to do more work on the apse than had originally
been thought necessary. In the end, he was paid an extra £47. Subsequently, the
ceilings, walls, windows and doors were painted and the pews varnished for £28.
Also, seats for the choir, at right-angles to the main pews, were added.

The marble steps up to the Sanctuary were the gift of Isabella Kerr in memory
of her mother, Mary Kerr, in 1905. The five stained glass windows in the Sanctuary
date from 1907, and were the gift of the Misses Bowen and Mrs. Ferguson.

. The Reredos behind the altar was erected in 1920 in memory of those who served
In the Great War. Covering three sides of the apse, it has on the left the 24 names
Of_ﬂlosq who returned and the inscription, ‘‘who willingly offered themselves from
El‘lls parish in the Great War’’. On the right side are five names with the inscription,

tYVho won a crown of faithfulness unto death’’. Over the top of the central section
of the reredos are the words, ‘‘Greater love hath no man than this’’. In the centre

g:egll(e intertwined Greek letters XP, the first two letters of the Name of Christ in

The Lych Gate

coTnl:goL}fCh Gate is an unusual feature of All Saints Church. Though these are
Batevwo N in England, there are only four or five in Ireland. The lych gate is a covered
. W(i-:ils‘e‘d for’ §he1ter1ng coffins at funerals on wet days on the way into the church.
yeh lych comes from the old Saxon word “‘lic’’, meaning body. All Saints’

gate has over it the inscription, ‘‘I am the Resurrection and the Life’’.
of hi: L)_’t?h Gate_ was built in memory of the Rev’d. Alexander George Stuart, and
Wite, Christine Emma Stuart of Bogay. It was the gift of the parishioners

and ;
Taug‘;vlﬁi erected in 1920. Mrs. Stuart was the sister of Dean Bowen, Rector of

yne, 1868 to 1886.
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All Saints’ Church — the Lych Gate.

The Rev’d. A. G. Stuart was born in 1833. He was ordained for the curacy of
hoe Cathedral in 1860. He was curate of Tullyaughnish (Ramelton) from 1862
Ra{)865 then of Clondehorkey, 1865 to 1869. He then became Rector of that parish,
- ving,it for Leckpatrick near Strabane in 1883. He retired in 1886 to live with
}fiz prother at Bogay House. He died in 1917.
The Stuarts had two sons and four daughters. The eldest son, Lt. Col. Alexander
George Stuart, served with the Indian Army, 40th Pathans, and was killed in action
in 1916 at Westoutre in Flanders during the Great War. The two crosses in the porch
of All Saints Church bear his name. The one to the right of the entrance came from
his grave in Flanders. The small chalice was the gift of his sister Georgina in his

memory.

The Monuments

There is a memorial tablet to Lt. Col. A. G. Stuart, and one to his parents, Rev’d.
A. G. and Mrs. C. E. Stuart. There is a tablet in memory of the Rev’d. R. B. Rankin,
Rector of the Parish from 1885 to 1917, and one each in memory of the Rev’d.
Edward Bowen and of his son, Dean Bowen. Dean Bowen’s brother, John Gordon
Bowen, who died in 1891, and his wife are commemorated on a tablet. There is
a tablet in the Baptistery to Audrey Christine West who died aged nine years in 1991.
These are all on the south wall of the church. The three Forward memorial tablets,
already described, are on the north wall.

The Clergy to 1921

The Rectors of Taughboyne were Rectors of All Saints until the Disestablishment
of the Church of Ireland in 1870. Until then, All Saints was served by perpetual
curates. There was a total of twelve.
Adam Harvey was ordained deacon in 1733, priest in 1734, and became Curate
of Taughboyne and All Saints in 1733. He stayed until 1746, when he went to
Donegal, then to Termonamongan, néar Castlederg, in 1765. He became Rector
of Camus-juxta-Mourne, Strabane, in 1769, where he stayed until his death in 1793.
John Hamilton succeeded in 1748, and became Rector of Taughboyne in 1754.
He was related to the Marquis of Abercorn, and became Archdeacon of Raphoe.
He died in 1756.
Charles Leslie was ordained priest in 1744, and was curate in Taughboyne, 1755,
and All Saints, 1759-73. He went on to become Rector of Tullaghobegley, then
Raymunterdoney, and died in 1781. :
17John Harvey, probably the son of Rev’d. Adam Harvéy, was ordained priest in
Y 66. He came to All Saints in 1774. His wife was Elizabeth, daughter of Robert
oung of Culdaff.

Sai obert Caldwell was ordained Deacon in 1785. He was perpetual curate of All
aints from 1805 to his death in 1811.

. William Simpson was ordained in 1812, and came to all Saints that year. He left
1n 1815 for Dublin,
lonysius Dowling was perpetual Curate, 1815-18.
Curate a;n Ewing was ordained deacon in 1814, priest two months later, and was
o Of Drumholm (Ballintra). He was perpetual curate of All Saints, 1818-35,
of the E Killybegs 1835-39, and Vicar of Donegal, 1839-66. He wrote ‘“The History
ol utheran Reformation’’, 1827. He died in 1866.

Gage Ball was perpetual curate of All Saints, 1843-47. (See Killea). -
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The Bowen Memorial tablets in All Saints’ Church.

Hugh Norman, ordained in 1836, was curate of Taughboyne and All Saints,
1836-42, curate of Tullaghobegley, 1842, and perpetual curate, All Saints, 1847-51,
and Rector of Aughanunshin 1864. He died in 1875.

Edward Bowen was curate for his father, 1851 to 1854.

John Cooke resigned the curacy of All Saints in 1871 for Dunboyne, Co. Meath.

He died in 1901.

The Rectors to 1921

At Disestablishment, there ceased to be perpetual curates, and thereafter, All Saints
became a separate parish with rectors of its own. The patronage passed from the
Duke of Abercorn to the Bishop and Nominators. The Duke received £6,389-16-9
in compensation for the loss of the advowson, or patronage.

The first Rector of All Saints Parish was the Rev’d. James Alexander Crawford,
who was ordained deacon in 1870, priest in 1871. He was curate of Clondevaddock,
1870-71, whence he went to All Saints, where he remained until 1885. In that year,
he went to Stranorlar. He retired from there in 1909, and died at Fahan later that year.

The second Rector of All Saints was the Rev’d. Robert Blackmore Rankin, sixth
son of Robert Rankin of Londonderry. He was ordained deacon in 1878 in Killaloe
Diocese for the curacy of Birr, Co. Offaly. He came to Taughboyne in 1879 as curate,
and following that, he was Rector of All Saints from 1885 to 1917. He retired that
year, and died aged 81 years on 27th October 1932. The clock in the tower was
given by him to the church. There is a tablet to his memory in All Saints Church,
erected by the parishioners.

Robert Rankin’s successor, Rev’d. Kerr Hamilton Thompson, was instituted Rector
of All Saints on 22nd March 1917. He was the only son of Rev’d. Abraham Kerr
Thompson, D.D., of Edgbaston, Birmingham. He was ordained in 1870 for the
curacy of Killaghtee near Killybegs. In 1872, he became the first incumbent of
Convoy, which hitherto had had perpetual curates. He retired from All Saints in
1921, and died at Bath, Somerset, in 1922.

GRS

Bogay House, Newtowncunningham.
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CHAPTER 9

The Parishes of All Saints and
Christ Church Burt from 1921

On September 23rd 1921, the Parishes of All Saints and Burt were formally
amalgamated upon the institution of the Rev’d. John Robert Sides. Mr. Sides had
been Rector of Burt and Inch since 1905. The amalgamation of All Saints and Burt
was to be the beginning of a happy relationship between the parishes which was
to last 48 years. They are therefore treated together here. The earlier history of Burt
will be treated later.

The Union

The amalgamation created a Union of parishes as opposed to a group. This meant
that All Saints and Burt had one Select Vestry. Its first meeting was held in All Saints
schoolhouse on Thursday 20th April 1922. The chair was taken by the Rector, and
the others present were Colonel and Mrs. Bowen, and Messrs. A. T. Houston, S.
McBride, C. Austin and J. Kitson. The Rector pointed out that as a Union, there
would be one Vestry and one assessment fund for sustentation to pay the clergy
stipend. However, each church would continue to have its own churchwardens, and

The Chancel, All Saints’ Church.

mall local committee consisting of the members of the original vestries. The
i 151 wing people were then elected to serve on the Select Vestry for the ensuing
Jtar william Lowry, junr., William Gallagher, J ohn Gallagher, S. McBride, Miss
yeaéaldrick Miss Holtan and William McNair from All Saints, and Mrs. Bowen,
% Austin, ,John McConnell, James McConnell and W. Austin from Burt: Henry
Lowther and John Kitson were elected Peoples Churchwardens for All Saints and
Burt respectively, and the Rector nominated Mr. A. T. Houston and Col. Bowen
as his Churchwardens. |

The assessment for Stipend for the Union amounted to £123-8-0 annually, and

the salary of the Rector was £400.

Finances

Finances are always an important item on the agenda of Vestry meetings. On 10th
April 1931, at the Easter Vestry, it was reported that the accounts were in a reasonably
good state, there being a credit balance of £5-17-0 at All Saints, though Burt had
a deficit of £1-9-9. At the Easter Vestry in 1948, the treasurers, who were the Rector
and Mr. W. F. Williams, reported that expenses during the previous year had
amounted to £562. As income had been £571, there was a credit balance of £9. In
1986 at the Easter Vestry, the treasurer reported a steady balance, but warned against
complacency as expenses were mounting. Today, the parish is in a sound financial
condition, though constand demands on its resources means that fund-raising is more
and more necessary.

Maintenance

There are numerous records of the Vestry carrying out its duties to keep the
churches’ property in good repair. For example, at the Easter Vestry on 30th March
1948, the Rector, Rev’d. William Doherty, reported the completion of two major
projects, repairs to Burt Church, and the conversion of the stables at Burt into a
dwelling-house for the Sextoness.

In the minutes of the Select Vestry of 4th February 1952, it is recorded that, “‘in
view of the electricity supply being available in the near future, the Vestry considered
the question of having the church buildings wired to receive supply when available’’.
It was also agreed that the Rectory and Sexton’s house be wired. The completion
of the task is recorded in the Vestry minutes of 16th April 1953. It cost £101. Burt
Church was not wired for electricity until 1954.

The biggest project to affect All Saints Church in recent times was the building
of the new by-pass road at Newtowncunningham. It was reported at a Vestry meeting
on 23rd February 1981, that Donegal County Council was building this road, and
would require the garden in front of the Sexton’s house. The Vestry agreed to accept
the Council’s offer of £2,000 for this, provided that the Council repaired any damage
to the house. The Vestry negotiated compensation in 1985 of £10,000 from Donegal
County Council for damage done to the Sexton’s house, and general inconvenience
caused during construction of the road. The Sexton’s house was demolished upon
the departure of the Sexton and Sextoness, Mr. and Mrs. Blackburn, in 1985. The
building of the new road and the creation of a car park at the Church, had the pleasing
effect of opening up the whole view of All Saints Church from the main road.

The Sunday Schools

A church is not only the building, but the people who worship in it and ser\é?
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it year by year. In All Saints and Burt, there have always been active Sunday Schools.
In the middle of the 19th century, All Saints Sunday School had two teachers and
over 30 pupils. By the end of the century, it had grown considerably, having six
teachers and over 40 pupils. By the 1930s, this had dwindled again to two teachers
and around twenty pupils. At the Easter Vestry on 10th April 1942, the Rector,
the Rev’d. L. H. L. Abercrombie, expressed his ‘‘warm appreciation of the work
of the Sunday School teachers, Miss Gertie McBride and Mr. David Gilfillan’’. At
a Select Vestry meeting on 6th October 1948, regret was expressed at the departure
of Miss Alice Mooney as a Sunday School teacher after six years service. At the
Easter Vestry of 12th April 1961, thanks were expressed to Miss Molly Connell,
Miss N. Ewing and Miss L. Barr, Sunday School teachers. Upon Miss Connell’s
retirement in 1973, Mr. James Devenney at a vestry meeting on 21st September
that year spoke of her ‘‘devoted love for the children and the attention she gave
them over the years’’. Miss Dorothy Moore became a Sunday School teacher in
1981, and was replaced in 1983 by Mrs. Isobel Boreland. Miss Kay Devenney and
Miss Sandra Devenney were teachers throughout the late 1970s and early "80s. The
present teachers, Mrs. Maureen Williams and Mr. Paul Bryan, continue to set a
fine example to the children, at present, some fifteen in number.

Sunday School excursions are always eagerly looked forward to. On July 5th 1956,
All Saints and Burt Sunday School outing was to Portrush. Portrush remains the
most popular destination, and nowadays, the various Sunday Schools in the present
parish group join with their Presbyterian neighbours and go there by train.

Another enjoyable annual event is the children’s Christmas Party, held on a
Saturday in mid-December.
52

Organists and Church Officers

¢ ways very much in demand. Miss Connell received the thanks
Org;nlzzgra;te ﬂﬂ: Egster \r/}éstry of 1934 for her services as organist. At the Easter
o ef 1942, the organists, Miss Aileen Williams of All Saints and Mrs. Barker
) <ol 0eceive’d thanks for ‘‘their faithfulness and attention to duty at all times’’.
S BurtN;rs Barker resigned as organist in Burt in 1943, Miss Williams agreed :o
Whegle oréanist there as well. On October 6th 1948, the Vestry gladly accepted
bec(:)ffer of Mrs. Bowen to continue playing the organ along with Miss Connell.
8:: Sunday 5th June 1955, the Dean of Derry, the Very Rev’d. L. Lawrenson,
dedicated a new organ in Burt which cost £85. At the Easter Vestry on 12th April
1961, thanks were given to the organist, Mrs. Mooney, who was assisted by Miss
Ailee’n Connell and Mr. Willie McClintock. Miss Connell eventually became full-
time organist, and resigned in February 1976, to be replaced by Mr. Willie
McClintock. He in turn resigned formally in 1982, though he agreed to continue
until a replacement could be found. He finally resigned in 1984, and in _the meantime
was assisted by Mrs. Joan Mooney, who still plays the organ for special occasions.
Until 1956, the Rector was secretary of the Select Vestry. At the Easter Vestry
that year, Lt. William West was elected secretary. He remained in this office until
1959, when the present secretary, Mr. Roy Mooney, was appointed. The treasurer
elected at the Easter Vestry of 1949 was Mr. Charles Barr, who continued until
1969, when he was replaced by Mr. George McBride. The present treasurer is Miss
Wendy Devenney.

Worship in All Saints

Worship in All Saints and Burt has always been simple, though to a high standard.
The Book of Common Prayer was used exclusively until the time of the Rev’d. G.
H. Yeo, when the revised services of Morning and Evening Prayer and Holy Baptism
were introduced for a trial period. The Alternative Prayer Book was introduced when
it appeared in 1984, and today it is used on the second Sunday of each month for
the celebration of the Holy Communion. The Holy Communion is celebrated on
the fourth Sunday in the month using the Book of Common Prayer.
The Harvest Festival Services are always special occasions for the people of All
ts, being in a rural, farming community. The church is always tastefully decorated
for the occasion. On Sunday 14th October 1990, the Harvest Festival service from
tElilii whole parish group was broadcast from All Saints Church on R.T.E. Radio
€ann.
In past times, members of the local Orange Lodge have had services in All Saints
In Burt. Such services are recorded in the Raphoe Diocesan Magazine as having
taken place in All Saints in August 1965 (actual date not given), and on 15th July 1969.
lnThere have been special services from time to time when gifts to the churches
S Memory of loved ones have been dedicated. On Sunday May 10th 1992, a
of;cs’t“ary Prayer Desk was dedicated in thanksgiving for the recovery of two year-
tephen Devenny from illness, the gift of his grandparents, Mr. and Mrs. Lexie
Svenny, along with hymn books and prayer books and markers for the Lectern
b donated by the McElhinney family in memory of Mr. Sandy McElhinney,
& Bay the Vestry in memory of Mr. Willie McClintock. On Sunday 7th June 1992,
West Pt:fwry Was dedicated and blessed in memory of nine-year-old Audrey Christine
donatiw 0 died in a car accident in 1991. This was fitted out and carpeted from
Dor. Ons received in Audrey’s memory by her parents, Mr. and Mrs. John and

Othy West. The Baptistery greatly enhances the whole church. A prayer bogg
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given by the children of the Sunday School in Audrey’s memory was also blessed
and dedicated at this service. :

The Furnishings of All Saints Church

There are no inscriptions on the Altar to say when or by whom it was given to
All Saints Church. The Pulpit and Prayer Desk, both made of marble, likewise have
no inscriptions. There are carvings of the four evangelists on the pulpit. In the
Sanctuary are two chairs and the Prayer Desk already mentioned. The Cross on the
Altar was the gift of Miss Molly Connell in memory of her sisters, Aileen, Murie]
and Meta. The wooden eagle Lectern was the gift of the parishioners in memory
of Dean Bowen in 1898. The Bible on it was given by the West family. The table
in the porch was the gift of the Mooney family in memory of Robert Mooney in
February 1966.

The Parish possesses some very fine 18th century Irish silver Communion vessels.
The Flagon and the large Paten have the crest of the Forward family and the
inscription ‘‘The Gift of Ann Forward, Widow, for the use of Castle Forward
Chappell An. Do. 1734. The large chalice and the smaller matching paten are
inscribed, ¢“The gift of Thomas Skipton, Esq., at the request of Mrs. Eleanor Skipton,
deceased’’. They are hall-marked for the year 1725. The smaller chalice was given
by Miss Georgina Stuart in memory of her brother, Lt. Col. A. G. Stuart, and has
under its base the inscription, *‘killed while carrying out a dangerous reconnaissance
near Westoutre, Flanders, on Sunday night, 4th June 1916 .

All Saints’ Communion Silver.

Missionary Giving

Over the years, the Parishes of All Saints and Burt have supported the main
missionary societies and charities, both national and local. In the Raphoe Diocesan
Magazine for October 1955, it is reported that the Rev’d. D. Ellis of the Leprosy
Mission visited both churches and spoke about his work. In May 1957, there was
a record collection, £16-18-O for the D.P.O.S. On Missionary Sunday, 31st May,
1970, there was a united service for Taughboyne Group in All Saints, when the
special preacher was th_e Rev’d. Alwyn Maconachie of the Church Missionary
Society. Recent collections .have been donated to the Little Angels School in
Letterkenny and to the Special Care Baby Unit of Letterkenny Hospital.

Ecumenism and Community Service

In this century, there has been a greater coming together of Christian people from-
the three main Churches in the community. There is nowadays an annual community
Christmas Carol Service which is held alternately in the Roman Catholic and Church
of Ireland Churches of Newtown, Taughboyne and St. Johnston. In the Week of
Prayer for Christian Unity in January each year, the clergy of the Church of Ireland
and Presbyterian Churches arrange to preach in each other’s pulpits. The clergy
of each denomination meet regularly for prayer and study.

In the community, the clergy and people of the three main denominations work
together on the Newtown Care of the Aged Committee and on the St. Johnston Social
Services Committee. These provide laundry services and meals on wheels for the
elderly, as well as a Summer outing and a Christmas party. The Newtowncunningham
Interchurch Committee, consisting of the three clergy and two lay people from each
Church, was founded in 1990. It has opened a day centre for the elderly in the old
Moyle school in Newtown. Some fifty old folk come to it two days a week. It is

hoped that the centre will be available for a wide range of community activities in
the future.

Amalgamation with Taughboyne

In November 1957, upon the resignation of the Rev’d. William Doherty, the
Parishes of All Saints and Burt were re-grouped with Taughboyne and Craigadooish
ll;nder the incumbency of the Rev’d. H. H. J. Fennell. Then in July 1959, the Sparsley
o?llmllated Areas Commission (S.P.A.C.), set up to examine the state of the Church
= dli'e and in rural areas of the west of Ireland, met with parishioners of the Group
Ver ts‘;;:uss tfhe state of the Taughboyne group. At a subsequent meeting of the Select
l'esolv:fi 0h Ta}I‘ghboy_ne and All Sa{nts apd Burt on 3rd September 1959, it was
8 peri ; at, “‘the Diocesan Council be informed of the great satisfaction which

opglatsdloners of the Taughboyne Group received (with regard to) the Sparsley
A é: Areas Commission draft scheme concerning Taughboyne Group’.
Bice. r.lrgcommended no changes. However, changes lay ahead. In 1969, upon
Cal‘rigagn Satllgn of Canon D. Kelly, Rector of Glendermott, Londonderry and Killea,
the parish. illea was added to Taughboyne Group and Burt was separated. Though
B8 beer, onefs of All Saints and Burt regretted the separation of their parishes which
that the amalgamated in 1921, they accepted it in good faith on the understanding

Te-grouping was necessary for the well-being of the Diocese.

The Clergy from 1921 to 1957

e Re _
of thee iﬁ:eg - John Robert Sides succeeded the Rev’d. R. B. Rankin as first Rector
parishes of All Saints and Burt in September 1921. Born at Stillorgan,
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Co. Dublin, on 22nd July 1877, he was the son of the Rev’d. Canon John R. Sides,
Rector of Donoughmore in Armagh Diocese. He was ordained Deacon in 1900, and
served his first curacy at Christ Church, Londonderry, 1900-02; then he went tg
Templemore, 1902-05, and thence to the incumbency of Burt and Inch in 1905. He
became Rector of All Saints and Burt upon the amalgamation of those parishes in
1921. He married Hilda, daughter of Colonel J. C. Morris, and had a son and four
daughters. He died on March 21st, 1933, whereupon Inch was amalgamated with
Fahan Upper. At the Easter Vestry of All Saints and Burt on 25th April 1933, it
is reported that ‘‘the members of the General Vestry of the united parishes of All
Saints and Burt desire to place on record their sincere sorrow at the death of their
esteemed Rector, Rev. J. R. Sides, B.A. He had for many years performed the duties
of Rector. He did his part in the cause of our Master quietly, but not the less
effectively. His comparatively early death is deeply regretted by us all’’.

The Rev’d. Lionel Hugh Lindsay Abercrombie was born at Hacketstown, Co,
Carlow, on 2nd June 1906. He was ordained in 1929 in the Diocese of Down for
the curacy of Ballywillan (Portrush) in Connor Diocese. He resigned that position
in 1933 to become curate-in-charge of All Saints. In 1939, he became Rector of
All Saints. He married Miss Elizabeth Rankin in St. Thomas’s Church, Belfast, on
25th April, 1935. He left in 1942 to become Rector of Donagh, where he remained
until 1950.

The next Rector was the Rev’d. John Edward Victor Wakely, who was ordained
in 1937 for the curacy of St. Clement’s, Belfast. He was curate of St. Jude’s, Belfast,
from 1939 to 1942, whence he came to All Saints and Burt. In 1946, he left to become
Rector of Tullyaughnish, Ramelton, and then, Omagh, where he remained until he
retired to live in South Africa in 1980.

The next Rector was the Rev’d. William Doherty, who was ordained deacon in
1930, priest in 1931. He was curate of St. Matthew’s, Belfast, until 1932, and St.
Lawrence’s, Limerick, until 1934. He was rector of Aghadown and Kilcoe, 1934-38,
and Durrus, 1938-46, before coming to All Saints and Burt, where he remained
until 1957. Thence, he went to Termonamongan, 1957-63, and then, Donagheady,
(Donemana), 1963-71. He was the last rector of All Saints and Burt before the
amalgamation with Taughboyne. Upon his resignation, the Rev’d. H. H. J. Fennell
became Rector.

: idered at a meeting of parishioners on 19th May 1926. One
bl Sltess “t;fer Eilf)%rclasrltggn Board field, z%nd tge other was the field to the south of
of these ‘:taon Board ground, then the property of Miss Marshall. Miss Marshall
o 2300 for the field. The Robertson Board site was felt to be too close to
asked fo¢ ard, so the meeting unanimously chose the other site. Sketch plans
the g-ra;,g}{) Messrs. Beckett & Harrington of 97 St. Stephen’s Green, Dublin, were
s'.lbnutted 'I)',he Rector, Rev’d. J. R. Sides, stated that the estimated cost was £2_,465.
g ‘shioners passed a resolution asking the Select Vestry to go ahead with all
[ A plans for the new Rectory. At a subsequent meeting of the Vestry, it was
nec::(siatl'hyat Miss Marshall’s terms be agreed to, and that the architect _proceed with
agr iled specifications for tenders, and that the Diocesan Glebes Committee be asked
det;n uest a loan from the R.C.B. The Vestry on 30th May 1927 agreed to obtain
2 10?11 of £400. Plans were submitted to the Diocesan Glebes Committee and
2 roved. In due course, the tender of Mr. McClaipe was accepted at £1,600, plus
£510 for extras including a garage, painting, plumbing and architect’s fees of £130.
The Vestry borrowed £200 .from the R.C,.B. o :

In 1957, upon the resignation of the Rev’d. Wllham Doherty, All Saints and Burt
were amalgamated with Taughboyne. The residence of the rector was Taughboyne
Rectory, so All Saints Rectory would have to be let. The Vestry asked the Glebes
Committee for permission to let the rectory at £52 per year with rates. It was let
to Mr. and Mrs. D. A. Bryan who resided there until November 1963. The Diocesan
Office then recommended that the Rectory should be sold rather than let. However,
the Vestry discussed letting it again. At a meeting on 18th September 1964, the house
was reported to be in good condition. The insurance premium was raised from £5,000
to £10,000.

At a Vestry meeting on 20th December 1965, three offers for the purchase of
All Saints Rectory were considered. The offer of Mr. A. Bell of £2,150 was accepted.
The money was shared between All Saints and Fahan Parishes.

The Rectories

The old Rectory for Taughboyne and All Saints was Bogay House, the gift of
the Marquis of Abercorn to the Rev’d. Thomas Pemberton around 1800. There is
a wall in the garden at Bogay with a stone in it which has on it his name and the
date 1811. The Rev’d. Edward Bowen lived at Bogay House, as did the Revd. A.
G. Stuart, who was married to his daughter. The curates of Taughboyne lived at
the Glebe house at Churchtown, near Taughboyne Church. This was built in 1785,
and replaced by the present rectory in 1882. The perpetual curates of All Saints
lived at a house at Colehill, Newtowncunningham, which is now the home of Mr.
William Platt. This house was built in 1823.

Just before All Saints and Burt were amalgamated in 1921, it was agreed at 2
meeting of their vestries that both rectories should be sold and a new rectory built
at Newtowncunningham. Burt Rectory was sold for £1,046-18-2, and Newtown
Rectory for £858-7-0. This money was lodged with the Representative Church Body
in Dublin. The nett proceeds of the sale of both rectories came to £1,876, and interest
on this brought the total to £2,150, which was used for the building of the new

Rectory. It was also necessary to borrow from the R.C.B.
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fell below ten. In 1878, the average attendance at All Saints School
the attelndfg C:O the unfortunate teacher could not earn a full salary. Below is a chart
w_ag;’g“ g’verz;ge attendance figures around the turn of the century until the school
givl
closed.

CHAPTER 10

All Saints School

Average Attendance Year Average Attendznce
< 14.5 1900 12.1
At a meeting of the Governors of the Robertson Board on 15th April 1819, it was 1880 15.5 1905 13.4
resolved that ‘‘the sum of forty-five pounds be granted to Mr. Bowen to build a 1884 16'0 1910 13'()
schoolhouse in the parish of All Saints according to a plan which shall be approved 1889 18.0 1914 13'7

by the Committee’’. Not much is known of the early history of this school. 1895

The Final Days Of The School

The beginning of the end of All Saints School came as equy as 1908.. On 30th
September that year, a letter from the Commissioners of National Education to the
Rev’d. R. B. Rankin was read to the Secretary of the Governors of the Robertson
Board. This gave consideration to the question of withdrawing grants to the school
and providing accommodation for the pupils in the new school then being built beside
the Presbyterian Church for that congregation. After discussing this, the Robertson
Board resolved unanimously to protest against ‘‘the proposal of the National Board
to suppress All Saints National School’’. The Board noted the fact that the average
attendance at the school of seventeen to twenty pupils was greater than the minimum
required by its rules. However, the Commissioners of National Educatipn made it
clear that they would withdraw grants to All Saints School upon the resignation of
the present teacher. The Robertson Board appointed a sub-committee headed by the
Bishop to enter into correspondence with the National Board in the hope of persuading
it to continue funding to keep the school open. In a letter from this sub-committee
to the National Board, a plea was made that the school should remain open as it
had enough pupils to justify its continued existence. The National Board replied that
it could not continue to finance a small school under Protestant management when
there was another such school in the district, ‘‘which would afford aniple
accommodation for the educational needs of the locality’’.

All Saints National School finally closed on April 1st 1914 upon the resignation
of its last teacher, Mrs. Atkinson. All that the Robertson Board could do was to
approach the National Board of Education to request that there be a Church of Ireland
assistant teacher in the Presbyterian School in Newtowncunningham.

Maintenance and Repairs

The Robertson Board minutes record the various repairs that were carried out from
time to time to keep the school in good order. For example, it is reported that at
a meeting of the Governors on 4th November 1851, ‘“Mr. Bowen be paid 18/6,
the amount of one month’s salary due to representatives of the late schoolmaster,
and paid to him, and that the remainder of the half year’s salary be applied to repair
of the schoolhouse’’. Then on 6th May 1862, the Governors permitted the Rev’d.
Hugh Norman, curate of All Saints, to spend £5 on repairs. Three years later, the
school was whitewashed and painted, and in 1873, a further £1-5-0 was spent on
repairs to the roof. Again, in 1877, £4 was spent on repairs, and in 1881, £2 was
allowed for whitewashing and for repairs to the roof and door of the Master’s house.

In 1894, the Rector of All Saints, Rev’d. R. B. Rankin, applied for a grant for
building additional rooms to the teacher’s dwelling house, and he forwarded a plan
to the Governors, and an estimate for the cost amounting to £49-13-6. It was resolved
that a grant of £20 be awarded out of the general fund as well as an advance of
£15 to be repaid in annual instalments of £1-1-0. Furthermore, £15 had to be raised
locally, and paid to the Governors, being lodged in the Provincial Bank to the credit
of the account of All Saints School. This is recorded as having been done in the
minutes dated 28th July 1894.

Mr. Rankin applied for another grant for repairs to the school after the great storm
of the night of 22nd December 1894. In 1899, a Mr. McQuaide, (probably the
teacher), requested a grant to convert the school dwelling-house into an extension
of the school room. £18 was granted for this as well as a loan of £10 to be paid
back at an annual rate of 30/-. In 1903, Mr. Rankin applied for a grant to buy new
desks and paint the schoolroom windows.

The Teacher’s Residence

The Robertson Board entered into an agreement with Mrs. Atkinson to rent the
In the middle of the 19th century, the Master’s salary was dependant upon teacher’s house and garden to her at 2/6 per week. The school house was reserved
attendance figures, which in All Saints’ school were always below the number for I parish use.
him to obtain maximum salary. In 1854, the salary was £5-8-2. In November 1877, en Mrs. Atkinson left the district in 1917, the teacher’s residence was offered
the Governors warned the teacher through the Rector, the Rev’d. J. A. Crawford, b Mrs.. McClintock at a weekly rent of 3/-. Her letter of application for the house
that the rule requiring sufficient attendance as condition for payment of salary would 15 still in existence. Dated 1st March 1917, it reads as follows: ‘‘I am thankful to
be enforced if necessary. i'\ou.for your letter of the 27th February and would gladly take the house which Mrs.
On 2nd November 1875, it is reported in the minutes of the Governors of the tkinson now occupies as a weekly tenant at the rent of 2/6, or if you do not think
Robertson Board that a ton of coal should be granted to warm All Saints schoolroom, nnough, 1 shall give three shillings”. Signed: Margaret McClintock.
“‘as the master states that the children plead the cold of the building as an excuse Subs S lady was accepted, and became tenant of the teacher’s residence. It
for absenting themselves’’. From February 1878, the salaries of the teachers ~equently became the home of her son, Mr. Willie McClintock, who lived there
throughout Donegal were to be paid half-yearly on 1st February and 1st August. 90 the late 1980s. He is fondly remembered by all at All Saints. He died aged
The schools were to be inspected in June and December. The full salary was to be years in 1991 . 59

paid only if the average attendance was 25 per year. There was to be no salary if
58
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On 6th December 1922, the Rev’d. J. R. Sides requested permission from the
Robertson Board to sell the desks and other school equipment still in the old
schoolroom. It was then proposed and agreed that the residence and adjoining grounds
should be sold. The Parish agreed to purchase the Teacher’s residence and land for
£80. However, no sale took place at the time, as in 1930, Mr. Sides, upon enquiring
into the ownership of the School and residence, was informed that the Governors
of the Robertson Board had an unquestionable right to the property. It was only
as late as 1984 that the parish acquired the schoolhouse buildings from the Robertson
Board.

Today, Primary School children of All Saints are educated with Presbyterian
children at the Moyle School in Newtown, which was built in 1980. At present,
there are three teachers, Mrs. Colhoun, Principal, Mrs. Austin and Mrs. Lecky,
and around eighty pupils.

CHAPTER 11

The Parish of Christ Church, Burt
to 1921

Origins

The origins of Burt are lost in the mists of time. It is recorded that there was an
old chapel at Druim Bearta, the Height of Bearta, whence Burt got its name. This
belonged to the Abbey of Macosquin, and later became one of five chapels of ease
in the Parish of Templemore. Burt and Muff were the only two still in reasonable
repair by 1693. The one at Burt was built about 1620, and was served by the Rev’d.
Ellis Walker, Headmaster of the Diocesan School. The tithes were owned by the
Dean of Derry who paid the curate a salary of £30 a year. The original church was
replaced by a new one about two miles further along the road from Newtown to
Burt around 1737.

By 1780, the Chapel of Burt was in such bad repair that it could not be used.
The curate at the time was the Rev’d. Robert Cochran (1773-83). It seems that his
successor, the Rev’d. John Bateman, built a glebe house.

1In a book entitled, ‘“Memoirs relative to Burt Congregation’’, 1802, it is recorded
that, ‘“Mr. Porter’s house, Milltown, was the chapel for several years, when
despairing of any efforts towards repairing the chapel, he signified to us to remove.
Mrs. Clingan’s, Ballymoney, was the place of prayer for near six months — then
came to Carrowan, Lieutenant Porter gave the place for eighteen months — then
}o a vacant house to the extremity of the parish belonging to Mr. Thomas Campbell”’.
t is recorded that the Dean of Derry ignored the plight of the people of Burt —
“During this long space, the Rev’d. Dean of Derry (John Hume), gave no
en;::lllg?)gzement to the people, nor did they urge him much’’.

‘ » Andrew Ferguson and the Rev’d. Peter B. Maxwell went round the district
looking for subscriptions to rebuild the church. They managed to raise £72-6-0, and
thCOIclhzu(;'t(l:lh l\)[rvas restored to good condition.

arch 1809, Burt became a perpetual curacy with 21 townlands. A Vest
Was appointed, which held its first mget?r)ng in the ch}lllrch on 4th April 1809. TII;Z
ﬁ_tl_‘St Churchwardens were Samuel Lockhart of Upper Bohillion and John Bresland
Of Speenogue. One of their duties was to raise the sum of £5 as salary for the Parish
: u::tasThetseb)l(tonl rticeived 40 shillings, and twenty shillings were raised, ‘‘to

€ a table cloth and napkin for the Celebration of the Holy Sacrament’’.
elgn 182§,, the Clerk’s salary was £6-0-0, the sexton’s £3-0-0, and the ‘‘Communion
Mrl.ng;tfri ﬁogt £1-10-0. The applotters appointed at the Easter Vestry that year were
Rev’d ck Sheals of Speenogue, and Mr. James Morrison. The curate was the
e Connolly Cheevers. William Porter of Carrowan, Joseph Porter of
hlli!mamaddy, and James Breden of Lisfannon were appointed overseers of deserted

“atldren for the ensuing year

com “r,iis, Topographical Dict.ionary of Ireland records that in 1837, the parish
pop lflatsied’ accordm_g to the Ordnance Survey, 10,672 statute acres, and had a
. 01;11 of 3,765 inhabitants. The curate’s salary then was £100, of which £75
Theria e by the ann of Derry, and the rest by the Ecclesiastical Commissioners.
40 boys Was a parochial school, supported by the Dean of Derry, which had in 1837,
30 girls ang 4 girls. There were three other schools with a total of 80 boys and
and three Sunday schools. The present church was built in 1870.

Christchurch, Burt.
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Organisation Of The Parish After 1870

When the Church of Ireland was disestablished in 1870, the General Synod, and
Diocesan synods and councils were set up. At a parochial meeting on March 20th
1869, by order of the Bishop, ‘‘it was resolved that John G. Bowen, Burt House,
and William Porter and John Porter be elected to represent the laity of the Parish
of Burt at a Diocesan Synod to be holden in the Pump Street Schoolhouse, Derry,
on Wednesday 24th instant’’. At another meeting on 20th September 1869, the
parishioners elected John G. Bowen to represent the Parish of Burt at a diocesan
meeting at which delegates to a lay conference to be held in Dublin on 17th October,
were elected. On 8th November, William Porter was elected to represent the parish
at a diocesan meeting to be held on 17th November at which lay delegates for the
diocese would be elected. At a vestry meeting on 6th June 1870, J. G. Bowen and
W. Porter were elected Diocesan Synodsmen for the Parish of Burt. In January 1871,
John Bowen, William Porter and Anthony Wilkinson were elected parochial
Nominators.

The new Select Vestry had responsibility for the fabric, finance and furnishings
of the church. At the Easter Vestry of 1872, it had a balance in hand of £12-9-9.
In 1875, the Vestry decided to build a new glebe house, so the treasurer was instructed
to pay £100 towards its cost. In May 1884, it gladly accepted the offer of a window
in memory of the Rev’d. Connolly Cheevers, curate 1820-71, the gift of his widow.
A memorial window to the late Mrs. Crookshank, wife of the Rev’d. Charles
Crookshank, Rector, 1871-1900, was accepted. Charles Crookshank was the first
incumbent of Burt, as Burt became a parish after disestablishment. It was then united
with Inch.

In the financial year 1884-85, Communion wine cost 17/6, washing of linen 4/4,
a Preacher’s Book 3/6, coal and coke 15/4, a carpet for the Vestry 6/6, candles
13/6, and the sexton’s gratuity £1-0-0, and salary £7-0-0.

The Rural Deans’ returns for the year 1892 give us some information about the
life of the parish a century ago. It is recorded that the church had last been painted
in 1870, the year in which it was built. Average attendance in 1891 was 37.18. There
were thirteen celebrations of the Holy Communion that year. On Easter Day 1891,
there were 39 communicants, on Whitsunday six, and on Christmas Day there were
30 communicants. There were 154 Church of Ireland people in 45 families. There
was a Sunday school with two teachers and fifteen pupils.

Union With All Saints, Newtowncunningham

In November 1920, a sub-committee appointed by the Diocesan Council
recommended that the Union of Burt and Inch be dissolved, and that Burt be united
with All Saints, and Inch with Fahan Upper. Both parishes agreed to this at a special
meeting of the Diocesan Council on 23rd February 1921. The Union was effected
by the Institution of the Rev’d. John R. Sides on 23rd September 1921. Under the

terms of the union, the two parishes were to have one Select Vestry with seven
members from All Saints and five from Burt. The members from each parish would
form a local committee to look after the affairs of each church. Each would have

two churchwardens. The parishes were to be assessed for sustentation to pay clergy

stipend jointly. In 1921, this amounted to £150-7-6. Both rectories were sold, and

a new one built at Newtowncunningham.

Closure Of Burt Church

The union of Burt and All Saints proved to be a very amicable one. It lasted until
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9 when the parish of Burt was amalgamated with Fahan Upper. All Saints and
1?1?1 had been amalgamated in 1957 with Taughboyne. With the departure of Burt

that union in 1969, Killea Parish, Carrigans, was amalgamated with Taughboyne
g?(;n All Saints. The Rev’d. William Doherty was the last rector of All Saints and
Burt together. o
Meanwhile, the Rector of Fahan Upper ,felt that he could not accept responS{blllty
for Burt, so it was looked after by the Rev’d. S. Downey, curate of St. Augustine’s,
Londonderry. It was eventually closed in 1973.
The closure of Burt Church, and the subsequent failure to make plans for the
disposal of the building, one of the more attractive churches in Donegal, caused
a sense of great sadness amongst the parishioners of Burt and All Saints. Constant
requests to have something done about the church were ignored. The church was

deconsecrated in 1989 and sold.

The Clergy
District Curates

Thomas Wallis, born in 1649, was curate of Burt from 1681 to 1690. He was
Dean of Derry thereafter, having refused the bishopric.

Ellis Walker, 1693-?

George McGhee was curate from 1754 to 1764, whence he went to Strabane.
Robert Cochran, 1773-83, whence he went to Dublin.

John Bateman, 1783-c.1800.

¢.1800-1802 Peter B. Maxwell.

Perpetual Curates

lslégbggrt Newburgh was ordained in Kilmore Diocese, and was curate in Burt,
Cunningham Porter was born in 1759 and ordained in 1794. He was curate in
Raphoe and Mevagh before coming to Burt in 1809. He left in 1819.

Daniel Dickinson was curate for one year, 1819-20.

Connolly Cheevers was born in 1789, and ordained in Derry in 1815. He was
perpetual curate in Burt from 1820 to 1871, and Inch, 1821 to 1824. He died in 1879.

Rectors to 1921

Charles Crookshank was ordained in 1860 as curate of Rallymena where he stayed

until 1863. He then became curate of Kirklington, Yorkshire, until 1866, when he

i%me to Inch. He was rector of Inch, 1866-71, and rector of Burt and Inch united,

. 1-711 o 1900. He died in 1915.

left t]‘,arbert. Ernest Ward succeeded. He was born in 1866 and ordained in 1891. He
: urt in 1901 for England.

DeOhn Pirrie Conerney came in 1902. He resigned in 1903 for Cumber Upper, Co.
A"h)’n-aHe became eventually Dean of Raphoe.

. lggfrcy Lionel Tydd from Jersey in the Channel Islands was rector for one

T€Ctor of
John R
Saints 5,

-05. He was ordained in 1877 for Kilmore Diocese. He left Burt to become
Inver where he stayed until 1918. He died in 1920.

obert Sides was Rector of Burt and Inch from 1905 to 1921, and then All
d Burt, 1921 to 1933. His career is recounted in the section on All Saints.
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PART THREE
THE PARISH OF KILLEA

o a small house in it, in which the Lady and her daughters do
p— andlls-t(l;?l‘ta’n:;lf to the bawne there is a small village consisting of twelve houses.
- d“(',e rtion containing Sessiogh-Hugh-Boy, Decastrose, Attachery, Tubberslane,
A 0%(1)1‘3 Gorteleny, each one quarter; and !5 of Behey quarter near Gorteleny
R in all 1,000 acres. Also the small proportion of Portlough, containing the
lands ot’” Dromlogheran, Corcamon, Gortlost, Portlough, Leitrim, Moyglass and of

the quarter of Tullyamcon, next Corcamon, in all 1,000 acres.!

CHAPTER 12

Early history to 1765

Killea Chapel of Ease

It is not now known when the first church was built in the district of Killea, ﬂ}ough
by 1693, Killea Church was one of five chapels of ease attached to thc? Parish of
T)émplemore, Derry Cathedral Parish. This, in due course, became ruinous. The
old churchyard was in the estate of the Honoqra})le, the Irish Society yvhich enclosed
it with a wall. A caretaker’s residence was built in 1867. The site of Killea old church
and graveyard is just past Killea village on the main Newtowncunningham to Derry
road, some five kilometres, three miles from Londonderry. The present church in
Carrigans was built in 1765.

The Clergy to 1765

The earliest rector of Killea listed by Canon Leslie in ‘‘Raphoe Clergy and
Parishes’’, is William Cunningham, 1619-24. Leslie lists the incumbents of Killea
as rectors, though they were really vicars, as the rector was the Dean of Derry.
Cunningham was also rector of Tullyferna near Kilmacrennan around 1622, and
he obtained a grant for a glebe for both parishes in 1626. He was known as ‘‘a good
scholler and preacher of God’s Word, and of godly and unspotted life and
conversation.’”” He was succeeded by William Hamilton in 1624.

Archibald Glasgow in 1661 claimed to have been Rector and vicar of Killea from
the time of the 1641 rebellion. He is known to have resided near Taughboyne in
1661, when he was curate there to Dr. Thomas Bruce. In 1661, he was also ¢‘Curate
of Killeagh Chapel”’. He died in 1677.

Leslie gives the following as rectors, following a vacancy in the benefice in the
1670s: Patrick White, 1681-1705, James Garshore, 1705-1713, Adam Penman,
1713-1734, Andrew Nesbitt, 1734-1753, and William Law, 1753-1793.

In 1622, Andrew Murray and John McCampsie, ‘‘good, honest reading Ministers’’,
Wwere curates of Killea.

It was during the incumbency of William Law that the present Killea Church in
1765 £ans was built. Over the inside porch door are his initials, W.L., and the date

Killea Church, Carrigans.

Origins
The district of Killea with the village of Carrigans, gets its name from St. Fiach,
who, probably around 700, established a church, Cill Fhéich, Killea, Fiach’s Church.
Situated at the northern end of the Laggan Valley, and to the south of Inishowen,
the district would have witnessed its share of the many conflicts between the
O’Dobhertys, the O’Donnells and the O’Neills as they fought for possession of the
land throughout the Middle Ages.
At the time of the Plantation of Ulster, from 1609, the Laggan Valley was allocated
to the Scottish settling families, the Cunninghams and the Stewarts. Each family
l received 1,000 acres, which they let out to tenants, and on which they built houses.
w These formed the villages which became eventually, Newtowncunningham, St.
| Johnston and Carrigans. Sir James Cunningham planted the Killea district. Below
| is a contemporary description of the allocation of land around Killea. ‘‘Grant to Sif

James Cunningham the small proportion of Decastrose and Portlough. Upon this

there is no more built than there was three years past which was a little bawn of
64

1: Quoteq
from Mrs. S. M. Campbell, The Laggan and its People, p.9.
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APTER 13 : meeting on 10th May 1897.
cH atlz: i‘;ersg)rded in the minutes of a meeting held on 2n§1 December 1898 that in
- Communion wine and coal would be bought in Mr. Wilkin’s shop in
The Parish from 1765 to 1900 future,

Carrigans.
The Poor

There are many references in the minutes to provision being made for the poor
and for foundling children. On 30th June 1789, the Vestry levied £2.15.0 from the
:shioners for the maintenance of a deserted child and for taking it to the Foundling
Hospital in Dublin. The Easter Vestry in 1840 agreed to look after a foundling until
it could be sent to the Union Workhouse which was expected to open in November
that year. The Vestry appointed officials annually to oversee deserted children.

Records

Because of the availability of records, it is possible to know a considerable amount
about the Parish of Killea from the time when the present church was built. The
Vestry minute books go back to 1788, though there is a fragment from an earlier
book of 1740, in which it is recorded that the Vestry agreed that year to the building
of a sexton’s house on some waste ground next to the churchyard. The Register
of Births goes back to 1877, Marriages to 1845 and Burials to 1880.

The Vestry

In the 19th century, the Vestry was responsible not only for the fabric, finances
and furnishing of the church, but for the maintenance of social welfare for the poor
and the care of foundling children.

The statutory role of the Vestry is laid down in the record of the Easter Vestry
of 1828. This was, ‘‘held in the Parish Church of Killea on Tuesday, the 8th day
of April 1828 at the hour of 3 o’clock in conformity to the Act 7th of George the
4th, Chapter 72nd for the following purposes (of which legal notice had been
previously given), viz., receiving and auditing the accounts of the late Church
Wardens, making a rate for providing salaries for the Church Wardens and Applotters
and appointing overseers to provide for deserted children, the Rector, Church
Wardens and a competent number of the parishioners being present.’” The meeting
also made provision for the supply of all things necessary for divine service.

Tllicit distilling

Illicit distilling was a problem in the Killea area in the early 19th century as it
was everywhere else. On 20th May 1809, there was ‘‘a meeting of the inhabitants
of the Parish of Killea in the Church of Carrigans in order to devise ways and means
to prevent the illegal distillation of spirits, and to save the parish from incurring
the fines the law has inflicted when a still is discovered.”’ Eleven people were
appointed ‘‘to find out the private distillers and give immediate information to the
magistrates that they may be dealt with according to law.”

Local defence

This was the time of the aftermath of the French Revolution and the Napoleonic
wars. The country was threatened with invasion, so each parish had to contribute
to the local militia or defence force. On 25th October 1803, the Vestry discussed
the problem of levying money to fund the supply of men which the parish was
expected to furnish for the army of reserve. It was resolved that the cost of raising
the militia should not be borne by landholders only. The amount required was £25.6.3,
to be raised by levying the parishioners at the rate of one shilling in the pound. On
9th September 1803, the Vestry resolved that the sum of £2.5.6 be offered as a reward
to anyone who could recruit just one more man for the army of reserve. Failing
to raise the required number of men would have incurred a heavy fine for the parish.

Salaries and expenses

At a Vestry meeting on 24th March 1788, it is recorded that £6 was levied off
the parishioners for various uses and purposes. James Hamilton, James Risk and
Robert Edmiston were appointed applotters for the ensuing year, that is, the officials
responsible for distributing the money from the parish cess, or fund. In 1796, the
Clerk’s salary was £4.0.0, the Sexton’s was £1.0.0, the Churchwarden’s fee was
8 shillings, ‘‘elements’’ for the Holy Communion cost ten shillings, and a surplice,
two shillings. In 1828, the salary of the Parish Clerk was £4.12.4, the Sexton’s was

Re-organisation after disestablishmen
£5.5.0, and the elements for the Holy Communion cost £1.0.0. " .

. When the Church of Ireland was disestablished in 1870, the role of the Vestry
shed insofar as it became less and less responsible for social welfare. As
A eral Synod,_ Diocesan Synods and Diocesan Councils and committees were
ﬁ:sated, the Parish was required to elect synodsmen and parochial nominators. The
t Synodsmen, appointed on 29th March 1869 were Robert L. Moore and John

Maintenance and repairs

From time to time, we read in the Vestry minutes of repairs to the church, the
school and the sexton’s house. For example, at a meeting of the Vestry on Tuasday(i
14th February 1789, it was agreed that 12s 1%2d be levied for whitewashing an ey. They, along with James Irwin are the first Parochial Nominators mentioned
dressing the roof of the church, and that 15/4% should be spent on making a new The first men;ion f ial i i i ;
gate for the churchyard. Then, the roof of the church was slated in April 1803 at and John Harvey (i)n [i%r;)g hial treasurers is the appointment of Robert McClintock
a cost of £8.0.0. In April 1814, the parishioners of Killea were asked for £5.0.0 '
towards the repair of the Roman Catholic church. The Vestry on 23rd April 1832

agreed to apply to Mr. McClintock of Dunmore for a grant for a new site for 2 g
sexton’s house in a more convenient place. This would cost £12, and Mr. McClintock a Z;':nChurch of the late 18th'and 19th centuries was a small oblong building without

said that he would charge an annual rent of one shilling. Co cel. There were box pews and a central aisle leading to the semi-circular
In 1894, the Rev’d. W. H. N. Brennan, upon arrival in Killea, found the church “imunion rail. To the side of the altar was a pulpit and reading desk. The church
to be in bad repair. He set abqut changing things, so that during his incumbency; Went Sated by a coal stove in the middle of the floor which had a chimney which
tlée general state of the parish improved. Appreciation for his work was express P through the roof. 67
6
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Throughout the 19th century, there were two services every Sunday, at 12.00 and
5.00 p.m. The major festivals, Christmas, Easter, Whitsun and Ascension as well
as Ash Wednesday and Good Friday were kept. In 1854, the average Sunday morning
attendance was 66, and the evening average was 37. There were 30 communicants
at Easter, 21 on Trinity Sunday, and 36 at Christmas services in 1853. There were
184 church people. In 1860, the average Sunday morning attendance was 95 and
in the evening, 55. In 1872, there was a monthly service in Altaghaderry School.
In 1892, the average attendance in the morning was 48, with 32 in the evening.
There were 92 church people in 24 families. Until 1870, worship was according
to the Book of Common Prayer of the United Churches of England and Ireland.
After 1870 it was according to the Book of Common Prayer of the Church of Ireland
which was revised in 1878.

Sunday Schools

Religious education of the children of the parish was done partly in the schools,
and partly at Sunday School. In 1854, the Sunday School had 59 pupils and six
teachers. By 1872, there were two Sunday Schools with 52 children and six teachers.
In 1892, there were 34 pupils and four teachers in the Sunday School. In 1881, the
sum of £2.12.0 was donated to missions.

The Clergy from 1765 to 1905

Twelve clergy served the Parish of Killea as Rector between 1765 and 1905, and
there were six curates in the early 19th century.

The Church was built in 1765 during the incumbency of William Law who was
Rector from 1753 to 1793. He was followed by John Harris who died in 1816. Next
came Robert Ball for one year, then Samuel Law, 1817-27. George Stewart 1827-29
was followed by William Lodge who left for Killybegs in 1839. Charles Seymour,
later Dean of Derry, was Rector from 1839 to 1847. His successor was John Gage
Ball, who went to Killybegs in 1862. The next Rector was Richard Smith, who was
succeeded by William Henry Forster in 1872. Forster had an incumbency of 22 years,
and he was followed by William Brennan, who, as has been noted, undertook
substantial repairs to the church. The last Rector of the century was John Wilson
McQuaide, who left in 1905 for Raphoe.

The curates were John Ewing to 1785, Edmund Tighe Gregory, 1817-20,
Alexander Scott, 1820-28, Thomas Rolleston, 1846-48, and Thomas Doran Falkiner,
1870-72.

Killea
Parish Church
— the Chancel.

CHAPTER 14

The Parish from 1900
to the Present Day

ch was the turbulent state of Ireland at the beginning of the 20th century, that
Vestry met on 2nd Decembqr 1913, ““to consider the advisability of
further insurance recommended by thp Dloces_an Coun.c.il against loss or damage
occasioned by riot, civil commotion, insurrection or military or usurped power’’.

Su
Killea Select

The Great War

Events in Ireland were soon to be overshadowed by the Great War of 1914-19.
The Roll of Honour in the porch of Killea Parish Church records the names of 28
men who served in the war. Most of these joined the Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers,
though two served with the Canadian Cavalry, and others with various different
regiments including the Scots Guards. One man served in the Royal Navy. There
is a brass plaque in the Sanctuary which records the donation of the Communion
Rails in memory of those who died in the Great War. On it is inscribed, ‘‘To the
Glory of God and in loving memory of the soldiers of this parish who had given
their lives for King and Country in the Great War 1914-19.”” Their names were
Lieutenant W. Dunlop, M.C., M.M., R.F.A., Sgt. D. Boyle, Scots Guards, Pte.
J. Boyle, Pte. W. Gilmore, Pte. R. Taylor, and Pte. W. Taylor, Royal Inniskilling
Fusileers, and Corporal G. Wilson, Argyll and Southern Highlanders. Those who
served and died in the war are commemorated on Remembrance Sunday every year.

In 1922, Carrigans Memorial Hall was built as a memorial to the soldiers who
served and fell in the Great War. This was used over the years by various groups
in the community including the Orange Order and the Apprentice Boys. It was
managed by trustees. The Memorial Hall, which was situated in the Back Street
Of' Carrigans, was destroyed in a fire on the 8th September 1971. Unfortunately,
this fire was started deliberately. A plaque in Killea Church records the existence
and demise of the Memorial Hall. The two oak chairs in the Sanctuary were donated
by the Committee of the Memorial Hall in memory of those who fell in the Great War.

Declining numbers and amalgamation

UAfter the Great War, the political situation in Ireland remained very unsettled.
Tgi:n partition, many people in border areas left Donegal to live in Northern Ireland.
ey Pa:ie;ulted In a continual drain of people and a consequent reduction in numbers
Pal‘ish: €s such as Killea. Nowadays, parishes dislike being amalgamated with other
i o %eand they do all they can to avoid it, but in the mid 20s, such was the decline
Mbers, tl_lat the Select Vestry actually requested the Diocesan authorities to
k. ar%:llmfte Killea with some neighbouring parish so that its numbers could be kept
A utesc %sure averted. The request for amalgamation first appears in the Vestry
it happen(;d 16th February 1926, and garries on annually until 1937. However, as
Served fror from 1930 upon the appointment of Rev’d D. Kelly, Killea Parish was
In 1950 IrtilGlendermott Parish, Londonderry.
of Killey l’)e € Sparsley Populated Areas Commission recommended that the Parish
Select Ves transferred from the Diocese of Raphoe to the Diocese of Derry. The

try passed a motion agreeing to this on condition that Canon Kelly couelg




image40.jpeg
m

remain as Curate-in-charge. Upon Canon Kelly’s resignation in June 1969, the paris)
was detached from Glendermott and amalgamated with Taughboyne and All Saints
Newtown. The Rector at the time was the Rev’d. G.H. Yeo. The parish is now oncg
again in Raphoe Diocese.

The Vestry and maintenance of the Church

Throughout the century, the Select Vestry has continued to maintain the fabric,
furnishings and finances of the parish in good order. There are in the minute book,
the usual references to the repairs of the church and school.

At a meeting on 17th April 1911, the Vestry passed a vote of thanks to Col,
McClintock for the gift of a new bell for the church. At a Vestry meeting on 21st
April 1949, George Bradley related the story of how one Sunday, the clapper of
the bell fell out, and the sexton, Andrew Dunlop, climbed up and rang the bell with
the clapper in his hand!

The heating of the church was the gift of Mr. Harry McElhinney in memory of
his mother. This generous gift is gratefully acknowledged by the Vestry at a meeting
on 28th June 1971. A

In 1985, the parish bought the school from the Robertson Board, and it was then
extensively renovated by voluntary labour. In 1989, the church itself was painted
externally and internally, again, by the parishioners themselves. '

Sustentation and finances

The raising of the clergy stipend through sustentation, and the general funding
of the parish, is the responsibility not only of the Vestry, but of all parishioners.
In 1905, the parishioners contributed £64.11.6 to the sustentation fund. 1916, the
Diocesan office assessed the parish for £64.11.0. In 1950, the parish was assessed
for £62.10.0, though parishioners contributed £73.8.6.

Parishes raise funds by holding sales. In April 1916, a jumble sale raised £28.7.6,
and the sale of trees brought in £7. In 1900, the parish donated £2.18.0 to the work
of the Church Missionary Society, £1.4.2 to the work of the Society for the
Propagation of the Gospel, and £10.12.0 to the Donegal Protestant Orphan Society.
In 1910, £31.8.0 was given to the D.P.O.S. In 1916, collections for missions
amounted to £19.2.8, and general collections to £15.9.8'2. Today, the Diocesar
Office assessment for stipend of clergy is over £5,500, and the parish needs to raise
about £10,000 annually to meet its commitments.

Church Officers

Over the years, the Select Vestry has been served faithfully by many people. Fo
example, a specially convened meeting of the Vestry was held on October 18th,
1912 to record sorrow at the death of Lt. Col. McClintock of Dunmore, who hac
served the parish and diocese faithfully and generously for many years. The Colone
had been treasurer of the Donegal Protestant Orphan Society for twelve years.

At the Easter Vestry on 29th March 1921, ladies were congratulated upon theif
admission to the councils of the Church, and welcomed to the meeting. In more
recent times, Mr. R.L. Moore served the parish of Taughboyne as treasurer unti!
1947 when Canon Kelly took over. Mr. F.E. Peoples was treasurer from 1953 t0
1970 when he was succeeded by Mr. Tommy Bradley who looked after the finance$
of the parish most conscientiously for eighteen years. The treasurer today is M-
André McMullan.

70Mr. Tommy Bradley was also secretary of the Vestry for many years. The minute$

in his characteristic handwriting on 15th April 1942, though he
s;;tercecfr(r)ll:lzgclretary until 1954 in succession to Mr. W.J. _Smyth. Tommy
ed the parish, not only as secretary and treasurer, but in a host of other
ath on 4th June 1988. The secretary today is Mr. William Moore.
ears, there have been many sextons. One of these was Mr. Robert
gvafl:ﬂ?‘;ﬁ ):yho ,served the parish for over thirty years until his death in 1944. The

Sexton and caretaker today is Mr. Harry McElhinney.

Worship
Worship 1

were fir
did not

gradley SCTV
Days until his de

n Killea Church is to a high standard. At the beginning of the century,
there were tWo services every Sunday, at 11.30 a.m. and 5 p.m. The average morning

dance in 1910 was 65, and the evening, 45. From 1929 to 1984, services were
;“leél at 3.30 in the afternoon. Today, services are at 11.00 a.m., except on the first
Sfmday 6f the month, when parishioners join with Taughboyne. On the second and
third Sundays, the service is Morning Prayer, and on the fourth Sunday of the month,
the Holy Communion is celebrated with the Book of Common Prayer one month
and with the Alternative Prayer Book the next. The Parish Reader, Mr. William

Turner assists regularly.

The Organists

In 1939, the Organist was Miss Doreen Gailey, who was replaced in 1944 by
Miss Draffin. In 1950, the Organist was Miss M. Peoples. From 1954, the Organist
was Miss D. Jackson with a salary of £10 per annum. In 1965, the Organist was
Mirs. Renee Wilson, who resigned in 1974. She had been assisted by Mrs. Bradley,
who after 1974, took over permanently. Mr. Thomas Bradley was also Organist
until he left the parish. Today, the organ is played either by Mrs. Elma Pearson
or the present Rector.

The Sunday School

There has always been a reasonably well-attended Sunday School in Killea Parish,
which over the years has had many good teachers. In 1966, Mrs. Wilson was the
Superintendent assisted by Joan Wray and Louise Moore. During the 1970s, there
were several teachers including Miss Hilary Moore who resigned in 1974, Mervyn
Peoples who left in 1976 and Joan McCready in 1979. At the end of the 1970s,

r. Thomas Bradley and Miss Rosemary Moore were teaching. In the early 1980s
Miss Ruth Donnell and Mrs. Heather Peoples were teaching in the Sunday School.

Present teacher is Mrs. Wendy Peart.

The Furnishings

Al €a Church is well furnished with all things necessary for public worship. The
astar bears the inscription, ‘‘Waiting for the coming of the Lord Jesus Christ and
" tokt‘: of her children’s undying love to Henrietta Margaret Eyre Forster who
ente’red nto rest, October the 14th 1911.”" Henrietta Forster was the wife of the
Ey:ed. W.llliam Forster, Rector of Killea, 1872 to 1894, and daughter of Edward
was Atthlll, J.P. of Ardvarney House, Co. Fermanagh. The brass cross on the Altar
*> 81Ven in loving memory of James Moore by his family in November 1982. The

b - SEps into the Sanctuary were donated by William J. Montgomery in 1956.

ltar bookstand is unmarked. The brass Lectern was also given in memory

# Henrietta Forster by her children. The Lectern Bible was bought with the 189’(?
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Lenten collections, and is dated Easter 1896, and signed by the Rev’d W.H.N.
Brennan.

The oak Pulpit has the inscription, ‘‘Sacred to the memory of Col. Wm.
McClintock, R.A., J.P., D.L. of Dunmore. Born 16th May 1841, died 14th October
1912, and of his wife Elizabeth Esther, born 3rd March 1851, died 26th March
1875.”" The Font is unmarked. The Prayer Desk has inscribed on it, ‘“To the Glory
of God and in affectionate memory of the Reverend Cuthbert Thompson, M.A.
Rector of this parish from 1905 to 1922. This memorial has been prese’nted b);
parishioners and friends’’.

The Prayer Desk in the Sanctuary was given by the Bradley family in memo
of Mr. Tommy Bradley, the table in the Vestry was given by me}r,nbers ())If the Orangrz
and Black Orders in memory of Tommy Bradley, and the notice board in the porch
was given in his memory by members of the Select Vestry. These and other gifts
donated by the Moore family and the Peoples families of Imlick in memory of relatives
were dedicated on 28th May 1989. The carpet in the Hall and the heating system
and tiling in the Vestry were given in memory of James McCready, Rector’s
Churchwarden, 1989-90, who died in a tragic accident in 1990.

Memorial Tablets

The plaques in the church were erected in memory of Lilian Edith, beloved child
of John and Al}ce Smyth, 1868, Margaret, wife of Robert McClintock of Dunmore
1812-93, Lgetltla, their eldest daughter, 1835-1917, Robert McClintock, died 1859’
and Frederick Edward Peoples, Imlick, Carrigans, 1916-90. ,

The Communion Vessels

Killea Parish possesses some fine silver Communion vessels. The F lagon is
pnmarkqd. Thqre is a chalice and paten, each marked Killea Church, 1836. There
is a chalice which was given in memory of those who died in the two World Wars
1914:18 and 1939-45. There is a paten marked ‘‘Killea Parish, Diocese of Raphoe:
1949, and a silver plate with the inscription, ‘“In loving memory of William
McElhmney who died 7th September 1954°°. There is a silver baptismal bowl marked,

Car,rlgan§ Church in loving memory of Rev’d. E. Aubrey Forster, 23rd February
1961°". This was given by his sister, and their father was the Rev’d. William Forster
who had been rector of Killea.

Killea Parish Communion Silver.

p ¥

The Rectory

Carrigans Rectory, a fine Georgian building, was erected in 1720, and is located
at Imlick, near the village. It was the home of the rectors of Killea until 1930 when
the parish was amalgamated with Glendermott. In 1927, however, the Vestry
considered selling the house. This was eventually done in the late 1930s. Since 1969,

the Rector has resided at Taugboyne Rectory.

The Clergy

Eight clergy have served the parish so far during this century. The Rector in 1900
was John Wilson McQuaide (1898-1905). He was succeeded by Cuthbert Randolph
Thompson, who was ordained in 1900. He served curacies in Templemore (Derry
Cathedral), and Dunfanaghy, before becoming rector of Kilcar. He came to Killea
in 1905 and retired in 1922. He died in 1926. Next came George Walton Murray
who was Curate-in-charge, 1923-25. Murray moved around quite a bit before
becoming Rector of Clonmel and Archdeacon of Waterford. He died in 1954.

William Jeffares came as Curate-in-charge in 1925 and remained there until 1930.
Ordained in 1887, much of his ministry was spent in Dublin, before coming to
Cloncha near Carndonagh in 1908. The five years he spent in Killea were the last
of his ministry. Killea was amalgamated with Glendermott in 1930 upon the
appointment of the Rev’d. David Kelly. Canon Kelly was ordained in 1915 for the
curacy of Drumachose (Limavady), where he remained until 1920. He was Rector
of Donegal until 1930. He served during the Great War as a chaplain. His successors
were the Rev’d. G.H. Yeo, Archdeacon Moore, 1972-83 and the present incumbent

who came in 1984.

Interior
Killea Church,
Carrigans.
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CHAPTER 15

The McClintocks of Dunmore

ore House, ' i i '
g gﬁ’ﬁlgrls e l(z’j;rrirslhg.ans’ was the home of the McClintock family, prominent
About the year 1597, Alexander McClintock of Argyllshire i

the estate of Trintagh in the parish of Taughboyne. Hig);on Xlee)l:zllnsciceorﬂargfal;rll?:gilglsleeg
Stenson in 1648. Their second son William, married Elizabeth o;lly daughter of
Dav;d Harvey of Dumore in 1685. Thus Dunmore passed int’o the McClintock
family. Wlllzam McClintock took part in the Siege of Derry in 1689. After the Seige
King James’s army burned Dunmore House. It was rebuilt in 1709 and furthe;
exgpde?dby Wl(llllam’sfson, John McClintock in 1742.

Jirect descendants of William and Elizabeth McClint
active part in the life of Killea Parish in the 18th and (I)Si(hogegtl:lrxl'riggrgl‘%?; ise?el
also prominent in the public life of the County of Donegal. Their granﬁson Robert
was High Sheriff of Tyrone in 1759 and of Donegal in 1764. He was also a captain
in the Donegal and Tyrone militias. His grandson Robert, who lived from 1804 to
1859, was High Sherlf_f for Donegal in 1835. His monument is in the Sanctuary
of Killea Church. His wife Margaret and their daughter Letitia are also
cl:(églsrn%{n;(:irgt:je(_i 0{18t9219bl§12?1 ilii the VSVanctuary. Their son Robert was High Sheriff in

. died in . The East Wi i i i

wzii %iven in his memory. indow which depicts the Ascension of our Lord,

obert McClintock was a Vestryman and Churchwarden for i
bro.theg, Lt. Col. William McClintock also served as a Churchwardélrllafl(lg rﬁzgsyelaﬁ:
until his death in 1912. The Pulpit is in memory of him and of his wife, Elizabeth
Esther who died in 1875. William married again Isabella FitzMaurice in 1877.

Robert McClintock Memorial tablet, Killea Church.

74

The Dunmore Shootings

In 1938, there occurred a triple shooting tragedy at Dunmore. Colonel McClintock
had a son, Robert Lyle McClintock by his marriage to Elizabeth. He married Miss
Jennie Margaret Casson-Walker. Their son, Lt. William George McClintock, was
engaged to be married to Miss Margaret Helen Macworth of Sidmouth, Devonshire,
against the wishes of his mother. This was because William had been crippled in
a fall from a horse some months earlier. The wedding was planned for Monday 26th
September 1938, but on the previous Saturday, Mrs. McClintock shot her scn dead,
then shot herself. Miss Macworth was so grief-stricken that she took the gun and
shot herself. The triple funeral, conducted by Canon Kelly, took place at Carrigans
Church on 26th September 1938, the day when the wedding would have occurred.

The McClintock family left Dunmore in 1940. Dunmore House has been the
residence of Sir John and Lady McFarland since 1958. Another prominent family
in the parish who should be noted were the Mcllwaines of Dunmore Lodgs,
Carrigans. Though they have now departed, they served the parish over a long period.

5
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CHAPTER 16

Killea Parish School

Origins of the School

Colonel Robertson in his will dated 1790, m i isi '

up Tcl)]f s%cﬁool.s in each parish in Raphoe D’ioca:sig.ﬁnanClal etk

e following is recorded in Killea Vestry minute book, ‘“Mr. iti
firm bargain with Mr. Harris (Rector of Killea, 1793-181§)eu¥orrm§ilfiﬁili)l$g&%:
schoolhouse for.ﬁf.ty pounds which Mr. Harris paid him from Robertson’s charity
and other subscriptions, and this is laid on at the Easter Vestry of 1812°". At a further
meeting two weeks later on 14th April 1812, it was resolved ‘‘that six pounds of
a saving fro,r,n the cess of last year be given to Andy Kelly for finishing the
schoolhouse’”. It appears that this was not the first school in the parish.

In 1836, the Rev’d William Lodge, Rector, 1829-39, requested a grant from the
Robertson Board for the extension of the school. The Governors of the Robertson
Board resolved that the Committee was ““impressed with the necessity of taking the
memorial presented by Mr. Lodge into their favourable consideration but that they
are not at present prepared to say what amount it may be in their po’wer to afford
pecuniary aid for the accomplishment of the object therein stated, namely the
enlargement of the schoolhouse of the Parish of Killea’’. ’

William Lodge was appointed Secretary of the Roberts i
and he held the post until 1840. = ertson Board in November 1836,

Maintenance and repairs

The Robertson Board minutes record the usual repairs to Killea School over the :

years. For example, in May 1853, the Rector, Rev’d. J. G. Ball was permitted to
spend some money on repairs. In May 1855, the Committee recommended the
painting of the school windows, and in November 1860, the repair of the window
sashes. In November 1861, Mr. Ball was awarded five shillings for a grate for the
schoolroom fireplace. In May 1863, the Robertson Board complained that the master
was not keeping a regular list of requisites purchased from time to time. This was
drawn to the attention of the Rector, the Rev’d. Richard Smith. In 1876, the Rector

by tl}en, the Rev’d. W.H. Forster was informed that the school needed essentiai
i’gg;;ié Indeelc.lt,e(tihe p_revious year, 1875, Mr. Forster had to be informed that the

I reported no improvement in th I iscipli
e ep et p e school as regards cleanliness and discipline

The Teacher’s Residence

In the early days, the Master lived in a flat above the school. At a meeting of
the Governors of the Robertson Board on 27th May 1896, a request from the Rector
of Killea, Rev’d. W.H.N. Brennan, for £200 to build a teacher’s residence, was
dlscugsed. Mr. Brennan was allowed to attend the meeting, and explained that Mr.
McC}n;tock of Dunmore had expressed his willingness to grant a 99 year lease for
a bu1{d1ng to be erected on his land. The Board passed unanimously a resolution
allowing the Rector to proceed with vesting the land for the house in the Board.
A bond was issued by the Board of Works in May 1899 for a loan of £250 for the
new teacher’s residence, and the building went ahead. The house is in the Back Street.
_ It is noted in the minutes of the Robertson Board of a meeting held on 7th October

;(9525, that Lt. Col. McClintock was Patron of Carrigans National School.

Attendance

No information about the numbers attending Killea Parish School in its earliest
days is available. The earliest statistics are found in the Rural Deans’ returns. These
returns were produced regularly as ordered by the Diocesan authorities. From them
we learn that in 1854 the schoolmaster was Alexander Cunningham who had a salary
of £18-1-2. The returns report that there were 81 pupils at the school, of whom
27 were Church of Ireland, 32 Presbyterian and 22 Roman Catholic. There was
also a female school in the village run by Mr. Robert McClintock which had 30
pupils as well as another school in the nearby townland of Altaghaderry.

In 1872, Killea school had on its rolls a total of 52 children. Fifteen other children
from the parish were educated elsewhere.

The average attendance at the school from 1890 to 1930 is set out below:
1890 36.7 1900 46.5 1910 57.1 1920 45.4 1930 47.0

The last days of Killea School

On 3rd September 1949, the Department of Education in Dublin wrote to Canon
Kelly, Rector of Glendermott and Killea, concerning its intentions to withdraw grants
from Killea National School. Roman Catholic children were no longer being educated
in Killea School as Coxtown School was being built nearby, so the school had only
11 pupils left, eight Presbyterians and three Church of Ireland. The letter concludes,
‘“‘The Department is however prepared to continue grants to the school and to pay
salary to Mrs. Violet G. Wilson as principal teacher up to the date of the closing
of the school for the the Christmas vacation this year.”’

Canon Kelly replied that he intended opening Killea School after the Christmas
vacation and requested grants. In reply, the Department stated that it ‘‘would not
be warranted in continuing grants to Carrigans National School beyond the date of
the closing of the school for the Christmas vacation. On the back of the letter which
the Canon returned is written, ‘‘Dear Sir, Kindly note that Carrigans N.S. will reopen
on January 9th, 1950°’. However, it was all to no avail. Without grants, the school

had to close.
In July 1952, it was agreed that the Teacher’s House at Carrigans should be rented

at 15/- a week, the tenant to pay rates. The Robertson Board minutes of 18th August
1965 record plans for the sale of the house to the tenant, Mrs. Jackson. In 1973,
it is recorded that Canon Moore received a grant of £100 from the Robertson Board

towards repair of the school building.

Killea Parish Hall ;

The old school is now Killea Parish Hall. It was extensively renovated in 1985
by voluntary labour, and now serves the parish as a meeting place for numerous
parish activities. It also serves the wider community. For example, Taughboyne
Branch of the Irish Countrywomen’s Association meets there.
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CHAPTER 17

Parochial Organisations

Some early organisations

disappeared. For example, All Saints and Burt l?arg Etlh gzgllsr%i;&ia}éll?lgh?;slg%e
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Scouting and Guiding
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The first Scouts

Scouting in All Saints began in December 1956, the first meeting being held on
Friday 14th of that month. There were sixteen boys and two patrols, with the Rector
as Scoutmaster. The first public appearance of the Scout Troop occurred at a combined
Scout and Guide service in Derry on Sunday 24th February 1957. This was held
to mark the jubilee year of Scouting and to give thanks for the life of the founder
of the movement, Baden-Powell. In connection with the jubilee, Newtown’s Patrol
Leaders, Heather Doherty and Helen Crockett had been chosen to represent Eire
at the Girl Guide rally in Switzerland, and Miss M. Orr had been chosen as one
of the leaders to attend a rally at Windsor. The Rector, Rev’d. W. Doherty was
going to the Scout Jamboree in England as chaplain to the Eire contingent, where
it was expected that 35,000 boys from all over the world would be in attendance.

The annual parade service of Scouts and Guides was held either in the Church
of Ireland or in the Presbyterian Church. Scouts and Guides from Newtown frequently
attended parade services in other areas, or welcomed Scouts and Guides from other
districts to their services. There was always an annual display, and an annual camp.
The tenth anniversary celebrations of the foundation of Newtown Guides was held
in Newtown Presbyterian Church in May 1964. The Scouts joined the Guides, and
the preacher was the founder of Newtown Guides, Rev’d. W. Doherty, now rector
of Donemana.

Newtown Scout Troop continued to flourish into the late 1960s. We read in the
magazine notes for September 1967 that seventeen members of First
Newtowncunningham Scout Troop were camping in the Isle of Man. The Assistant
Scout Master then was Mr. James N. Devenney. All Saints Church was the venue
for the County Scouts and Guides parade services on 25th May 1969. On this occasion
the new colours for Newtown Cub Scouts were dedicated. There were Brownies
in Newtown by this time as well.

In the early 1970s, All Saints Scout Troop lapsed, but not for long, as its revival
is reported by Canon Moore, now Rector of Taughboyne, in his magazine notes
for December 1973. The leaders of the Troop then were Geoffrey Devenney and
Mervyn Peoples. In the meantime, Mr. Jim Devenney had risen in the movement
to the rank of District Commissioner. By May 1974, he was County Commissioner,
and as such, was present at the investiture of Scouts of All Saints Troop on March
21st 1974. In 1974, Miss Jennifer Pearson represented Ireland at a European Rally
of Girl Guide leaders.

The Scouts, Guides, Cubs and Brownies have remained active over the years,
and they still flourish today, judging by their annual parade services and displays
on parents’ nights. The Silver Jubilee of the Scouts was held in March 1982. On
this occasion, the investiture of the Cub Scout pack by th County Commissioner,
Mr. Jim Devenney, took place. There was a service of thanksgiving for 25 years
of Scouting in Newtown.

It is reported in the magazine for April 1985 that girls had joined the Scouts. Today
these organisations have fine leaders. The Scouts are led by Leslie Edwards, assisted
by Donald McNair and Lorna Buchanan, the Cubs are led by Diane Lecky and
Clodagh West, the Beavers by Maureen Williams and Joyce Gamble, and the Girl
Guides are led by Ruth McLean, Alison McLean and Pauline McNair. Some young
people from the parishes attend the Boys Brigade which is run by St. Johnston
Presbyterian Church.
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Newtown Cubs and Beavers, 1992.

The Mothers’ Union

The five objects

The Mothers’ Union was started in 1876 in Old Alresford Parish, Hampshire,

England by Mrs. Mary Sumner. The first branch in Ireland : :
Dublin. Its five objectives are: eland started in 1887 in Raheny,

(1) To uphold Christ’s teaching on the nature of marria o
: ¢ and to prom
understanding; g promote its wider

(i1) T}? en}::ourage parents to bring up their children in the faith and life of the
church;

(1) To maintain a world-wide fellowship of Christians united in prayer, worship
and service; ,

(iv) To promote conditions in society favourable to stable familv li
protection of children, and, ’ PR SR A5 anc fhe

BE)V) To help those whose family life has met with adversity.

The founding of Taughboyne Branch

Taughboyne Branch of the Mothers’ Union had its first meeting in Churchtown
School on Tuesday 2nd November 1954. Twenty members were present, and
addresses were given by Mrs. Baird, Diocesan President, and by Mrs. Macourt,
Diocesan Secretary. The following officers were appointed: Branch President, Mrs.
J.K. Baird, Vice-President, Mrs. Fennell and Hon. Secretary and Treasurer, Mrs.
Turner.

The early meetings

Month by month, the branch held its meetings in Churchtown or in Craigadooish
School. For example, at the meeting in January 1955, Mrs. Bewglass, wife of the
Minister of Ballylennon Presbyterian Church, gave an illustrated talk on her Italian

“holiday. The March 1955 meeting was addressed by Mrs. Kermode on the care and

training of children. On 4th October, Miss Charlotte Peoples, a prominent member
for many years, talked about work among girls. The following month, Miss Peoples
spoke to the branch about her recent Girl Guide camp in Sweden.

The meeting on March 3rd 1956 was of great interest, for it was addressed by
Miss Alice Greene, Headmistress of a large girls’ school in India. The March 1958
meeting was a talk by Mr. Dare Beattie, son of Dean Beattie of Taughboyne, about
his work as a Government Education officer in Tanganyika as it then was. In May
1965, the Taughboyne Branch of the Mothers” Union invited Ballylennon Presbyterian
Women’s Association to join with them for a talk given by Miss Boyce, a nurse,
on her world travels. Over the years, the branch has continued to flourish and to
obtain good and interesting speakers for its meetings, which are held on the third
Wednesday of each month.

Annual outing

Taughboyne branch of the Mothers’ Union has an annual outing. The first was
to Belfast on Thursday 9th June 1955. The 1956 outing was by bus to Sligo, the
fare being 15/-. On 25th June 1959, members went to Dublin to take part in the
visit of the Mothers’ Union Central Council to Ireland. The fare by train from St.
Johnston was £2.2.0. The 1964 outing was to Belleek Pottery. The annual outing
is an important event in the calendar of Taughboyne Branch. Members like to visit
some place of historic interest and go shopping as well. Another annual event is
the Christmas Dinner. On 8th December 1961, members of Leckpatrick and
Ballymore branches joined with Taughboyne for the Christmas party.

Special services

Over the years, numerous Mothers’ Union services have been held in the churches
of Taughboyne Group of parishes. On Tuesday 7th October, 1958, five new members
were enrolled at a special service in All Saints Church, Newtown. On 15th August
1962, a special service was held in Taughboyne Church at the commencement of
Christian Family Year. On 3rd January 1965, there was a service of thanksgiving
for ten years of Taughboyne Branch, which was described as flourishing. Then in
May 1976, members of Taughboyne Branch travelled to Dublin for the centenary
celebrations of the Mothers’ Union in St. Patrick’s Cathedral.

The Silver Jubilee of Taughboyne Branch was celebrated at a special service in
Taughboyne Church on 18th November 1979. The Bishop, Rt. Rev’d. R.H.A.

Eames, now Primate, preached. Mrs. Eames, Diocesan President, read a lesson,
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and Canon Fennell said prayers. Mrs. J.K. Baird presented six new members for APPENDIX I
enrolment. The organist was Mrs. Turner. Also present was Mrs. Helen Baird, .
Diocesan President when the branch was founded in 1954. .
Bishops of Raphoe from 1605
The Branch today
Each year, Taughboyne Branch commences its activities with a celebration of the BISHOPS OF RAPHOE

Holy Communion in one of the churches in the group. Members attend the annual

Diocesan Festival service in St. Columb’s Cathedral, Londonderry in May each year. 1605-11 George Montgomery

At this, the colourful banners from the different branches throughout the Diocese 1611-33 Andrew Knox

are paraded. Taughboyne’s banner was presented to the parish by Mrs. Ruby Neely .

and Mrs. Ena Turner in 1989. In 1992, the branch was presented with the Black 1633-61 John Leslie

Warrior trophy for the highest giving per member in Derry and Raphoe Dioceses. 1661-71 Robert Leslie
The officers in 1992 are: Mrs. Dorothy West, Enrolling Member, Mrs. Joan Vance, 1671-81 Ezekiel Hopkins

Secretary, and Mrs. Frances Moore, Treasurer. Though small, Taughboyne Branch 1682-93 William Smith

looks forward to a bright future as this century draws to a close.
1693-1701 Alexander Cairncross

1701-02 Robert Huntington
1702-13 John Pooley
1713-14 Thomas Lindsay
1714-16 Edward Synge
1716-44 Nicholas Forster
1744-47 William Barnard

CONCLUSION i;g:ég Philip Twysden

Robert Downes

In 1900, William Alexander, Archbishop of Armagh and husband of the hymn- 1763-80 John Oswald
writer, Mrs. Cecil Frances Alexander, and Joseph Ferguson Peacocke, Archbishop 1780-1807 James Hawkins
of Dublin and father and grandfather of two Bishops of Derry and Raphoe this century, 1807-19  Lord John G. Beresford
wrote to their brother Bishops of the Church of Ireland, requesting them to make 1819-22 William Magee
special observance of the close of the 19th and the opening of the 20th century. They 1822-34  William Bissett
spoke of the achievements of their times, and mentioned in particular the 1

Disestablishment of the Church of Ireland in 1870. In 1834, the Sees of Derry and Raphoe were united.
Looking forward to the century which was dawning, they said, ‘‘Great and effectual 1831-53 Hon. Richard Ponsonby

doors are opened to missionary effort. Those who shall be alive at the opening of 1853-67 William Higgin

next century, as they look back in A.D. 2001 upon the missionary records of the 1867-96 William Alexander

years 1800-1901, may be amazed at the progress.”’ 1896-1916 George Alexander Chadwick
The parish is the basic starting point for mission and witness and service. As we, 1916-45 Joseph Irvine Peacocke

near the end of the 20th century, look back upon a truly amazing era, we must feel | 1945-58 Robert McNeil Boyd

both a sense of thanksgiving to God the Holy Trinity for the people who built our 1958-69 Charles John Tyndall

churches in the past and who have maintained their life and witness, and a sense 1969-75 Cuthbert Irvine Peacocke

of optimism about their future. In the century that is passing, one of the churches 1975-80 Robert Henry Alexander Eames

described in this book has been closed, and numbers have declined, but if the people 1980-  James Mehaffey

of Taughboyne Group remain loyal to their churches and parishes, then there is great

hope for the future.
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APPENDIX II
THE CLERGY

1755 Charles Leslie
1757 William Connor
1757 William Babington
1776 John Rankin
1796 William Connor jnr.
1797 Richard Nesbitt
1805 Samuel Rankin
1812 Nathan Rodgers
c.1825 William Ewing
1826 Thomas Rolleston
1827 John Gage Ball
1830 Charles Miller
1830 Hugh Norman

Vicars of Taughboyne
c.1404 Oddo Mascobney

1405 Philip Macgrabrurtyagh

1420 Matthew Magdalaid

1442 Laurence O’Buighi

1476 Cormac O’Gallenbayr

1476 Edmund O’Robartaich

Rectors of Taughboyne

1404 Donal McGillabridy
1428 Andrew O’Budi
1450 Thomas O’Radaighi
c.1469 Bernard Macmeanman
1469 Donatus O’Dochartaich 1840 Joseph Barclay
1480 Eugene Macmeanmain 1848 John Dillon McDonogh
O’Donnell 1851 Edward Bowen jun.
1511 Edmund O’Gallenbaic 1854 Robert Baillie
1537 Eugene O’Gallcubair 1857 J.G. Cochrane
1858 William Skipton
1861 James Parke
1865 Robert Willis
1866 William H. Forster
1870 Frederick Meares
1872 Henry Kennedy
1876 John Adams
1877 John Lindsay
1879 Robert Rankin
1879 John Molloy
1886 Alexander Stuart
(in retirement)
1896 Thomas Henry Staunton
1902 Alexander Knight
1909 John Donnelly
1912 James Pearson
1913 Henry Smith
1914 Samuel Chadwick

Rectors and Vicars

1609 Phelim O’Doghertie
1618 Thomas Bruce

1669 John Crookshank

1674 James Hamilton

1690 Andrew Hamilton
1754-57 John Hamilton
1757-90 Frederick Hamilton
1790-1819 Thomas Pemberton
1819-67 Edward Bowen
1867-86 Edward Bowen, jun.
1886-1915 John Molloy
1915-34 Alexander Knight
1934-53 Joseph Kildare Beattie
1953-67 Harold H.J. Fennell
1968-72 George Henry Yeo
1972-83 Edward Alexander Moore
1984- David W.T. Crooks

Curates of Taughboyne

1661 Archibald Glasgow
c.1674 Adam Penman
c.1678 David Pearson

1682 Samuel Baxter

1692 Robert Motherwell
c.1715 Richard Hartley

1728 Andrew Nesbitt

1733 Adam Harvey
84

All Saints

Perpetual Curates

1734 Adam Harvey
1748 John Hamilton
1759 Charles Leslie
1774 John Harvey
1805 Robert Caldwell
1811 William Simpson

1916 Hugh Edmund Vaughan.

1815 Dionysius Dowling
1818 William Ewing
1836 John Gage Ball
1847 Hugh Norman

1851 Edward Bowen jun.
1864 John Cooke

Incumbents

(All Saints became a parish
after 1870)

1871-85 James Alexander Crawford
1885-1917 Robert Blackmore
Rankin

1917-21 Kerr Hamilton Thompson

1921-33 John Robert Sides

1933-42 Lionel Hugh Lindsay

Abercrombie

1942-46 John Edward Victc.
Wakeley

1946-57 William Doherty

1957 — amalgamated with
Taughboyne

Christ Church, Burt

District Curates

1681 Thomas Wallis
1693 Ellis Walker
1754 George McGhee
1773 Robert Cochran
1783 John Bateman

¢.1801 Robert Maxwell

1808 Robert Newburgh
1809 Cunningham Porter
1819 Daniel Dickinson
1820 Connolly Cheevers

Incumbents

1871-1900 Charles Crookshank
1900-02 Herbert Ward

1902-04 John Pirrie Conerney
1904-05 Alma P.L. Tydd

1905-21 John Robert Sides

1921 Amalgamated with All Saints

Killea

Rectors

1618 William Cunningham
1624 William Hamilton

c.1641 Archibald Glasgow

1673 Benefice vacant

1681 Patrick White

1705 James Garshore

1712 Adam Penman

1734 Andrew Nesbitt

1739 Edward Clifton

1753 William Law

1793 John Harris

1816 Robert Ball

1817 Samuel Law

1827 George Stewart

1829 William Lodge

1839 Charles Seymour

1847-62 John Gage Ball

1862-72 Richard Smith

1872-94 William Henry Forster

1894-98 William H.N. Brennan

1898-1905 John Wilson McQuaide

1905-22 Cuthbert Randolph
Thompson

1923-25 George Walton Murray

1925-30 William Jeffares

1930-69 David Kelly

1969 Amalgamated with
Taughboyne

Curates

1622 Andrew Murray and
John McCampsie
c.1788 John Ewing
1817 Edmund Tighe Gregory
1820 Alexander Scott
1834 Moses Leathem
1848 Thomas Rolleston
1870 Thomas Doran Falkiner
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APPENDIX III

THE CHURCHWARDENS

. ’ﬁl:rglhg:il;zﬁrdgnstwel:; appointed at the annual Easter General Vestry meeting
After then, Recto'r’spCl(l)urch(\?x;atilciglgj lzlltrzldwlfl * tOIIOOkC?lﬂCI' oot e e PariShg

; ] . eoples’ Church inted
whose duties were to assist the rector and pe(I))ple in valrricoxaxrl?aetrtlffr:vetﬁleoﬁggoslg:relg

churches elected Rector’s and Peoples’ Churchwardens earlier

THE CHURCHWARDENS OF TAUGHBOYNE

1661 Robert Fleming; Patrick

1679 John Cocke; mees Curryc.alhoune.
1794 Alexander Porter; James Devenney
1796 Andrew McCausland; James McAd.oo
1803 John Colhoun; George Monteith .
1804 David Kerr; John Woods. .
1805 Andrew Woods; George Rankin

1806 James Pinkerton; Andrew Wood.s
1807 James Lowry: John Williams.
1808 James Lowry; John Williams.

1809 James Lowry; William McCintock
1810 Oliver White; Hugh Stephenson,
1811 Hugh Stephenson; John Colhour;

1812 James Pinkerton; Samuel McCori(ell
1813 John Marshall; William Heazlett,
1814 Jarpes McAdoo; William Hutchinson
1815 William Cowan; John Lowry '
1816 William Latta, Moses McKea{n.

1817 Henry Wark; Josias Galbraith.

1818 James Baird; Chambers Allison.
1819 Hamilton Patterson; Chambers Allison.

1820-24 Hamilton Patterson; Hugh Stephenson.

1825 Hugh Stephenson; John Cowan.
1826 Hugh Stephenson; William James
1827 Robert Rankin; David White.
1828 Hugh Stephenson; William James.
1829 George Doak; Henry Hamilton.
1830 William Rankin; Samuel Hamilton
1831 William James; Cunningham Porte.r
1832 George Doak; David White. '
1833 William Smiley; James Lowry.
1834 Samuel Devenney; Robert White.
1835 Hugh Stephenson; Hamilton Patterson.
Rector’s Peoples’
1836 James Patterson; Robert McClintock
1837 Hugh Stephenson; Daniel Bernard. .
1838 Robert Rankin; Alexander Cunningham
1839 John Patterson; Harvey Taylor. .
1840 Hugh Stephenson; Samuel Rankin.
1841 Robert Rankin; James Alexander.

é%42 James Devenney; John Patton.

1843 George Pinkerton; Henry Hamilton
1844 James Patterson; James Alexander '
1845 James Devenney; Thomas Patton .
1846 Robert Rankin; Harvey Taylor. .
1847 George Pinkerton; Alexander Cunningham
1848 James Patterson; Robert Alexander .
1849 James Devenney; William Wilson '
1850 George Pinkerton; James Brown .
1851 James Devenney; Harvey Taylor'
1852 Robert Rankin; Henry Lowry. '
1853 Hugh Lowry; John Craig.
1854 James Devenney; James Alexander
1855 Robert Rankin; Henry Lowry. .
1856 James Devenney; Thomas Patton
1857 Robert Rankin; James Galbraith.
1858 James Devenney; George Pinkeﬁon.
1859 Ropert Rankin; Samuel McClintock
1860 James Devenney; John Devenney. .
1861 Robert White; Samuel McClintock
1862 Robert Rankin; Robert Mahaffy .
1863 Robert Devenney; Samuel Deve;lne
1864 James Devenney; Hugh Lowry g
1865 James Devenney; George Pinke:rton
1866 Robert Rankin; James Baird. .
1867 James Devenney; George Pinkerton
1868 Thomas Baird; James Patterson. '
1869 Robert Devenney; John McNeely
1870 Hugh Lowry; Thomas Baird,
1871 Robert Mahaffy; Robert Devenney
1872 John Cowan, Robert McClintock '
1873 John Woods, Robert Mahaffy.
1874 James Lowry; Thomas Baird.
ig;g Not recorded.
Samuel McClintock; Hugh D
1877 John McNeely; William gBair(?.v e
1878 James Lowry; William Baird.
1879 James Peoples; James Lowry.
1880 Robert McClintock; Robert Devenney
1881 Hugh Devenney; Alexander Lowry .
1882 Samuel McClintock; Henry Rankin.
1883 Thomas Baird; James Hamilton. .

1884 William Mahaffy; John McNeely.
1885 William Baird; James Lowry.
1886 James Lowry; James Peoples.
1887 Dr. W. Rankin; Robert McClintock.
1888 Alexander Lowry; Dr. W. Rankin.
1889 James Peoples; Samuel McClintock.
1890 J.H. Hamilton; Hugh Devenney.
1891 William Baird; James Lowry.
1892 David Johnston; John Peoples.
1893 Hugh Devenney, Alexander Lowry.
1894 Thomas Peoples; Samuel McClintock.
1895 James Lowry; William Baird.
1896 Samuel Devenney; Alexander Lowry.
1897 David Johnston; J.P. Cowan.
1898 Robert Hamilton; Hugh Devenney.
1899 David Baird; James Lowry.
1900 W.J. Baird; Samuel McClintock.
1901 Thomas Peoples; Alexander Hill.
1902 John Woods; Robert McClintock.
1903 R. Hamilton; J.P. Cowan.
1904 W.J. Baird; Samuel McClintock.
1905 David Johnston; William Kincaid.
1906 John Peoples; William McConnell.

1907 Robert McClintock; William Simpson.

1908 John Woods; Ninian Mahaffy.

1909 Samuel McClintock; James Devenney.

1910 James K. Baird; William McConnell.
1911 Ernest Oliver; John Hegarty.

1912 Mr. Hyde; S. Jackson.

1913 William Simpson; Ninian Mahaffy.
1914 James K. Baird; J. McClintock.
1915 John Peoples; Ninian Mahaffy.

1916 W. McConnell; John Woods.

1917 James Devenny; Robert McClintock.
1918 Samuel McClintock; W. Simpson.
1919 John Hegarty; William McConnell.
1920 Robert Hyde; Alexander Devenney.
1921 James K. Baird; R. Mahaffy.

1922 Ninian Mahaffy; Joseph Devenney.
1923 Samuel Devenney; Samuel Mahaffy.
1924 William McConnell; John Hegarty.

From 1

TAUGHBOYNE

Rector’s Peoples’

1965 Herbert Neely; George Deery.
1966 David Devenney; Michael Baird.
1967 Michael Baird; David Devenney.
1968 Michael Baird; David Devenney.
1969 Mrs. K. Baird; Scott Taylor.

1925 Joseph Devenney; Robert Mabhaffy.
1926 Robert Hyde; R.W.C. Cunningham.
1927 John Devenney; William Arthur.
1928 Alexander Mahaffy; James Devenney.
1929 Alexander Nesbitt; Robert Hyde.
1930 Ninian Mahaffy; Joseph Devenney.
1931 Mervyn Peoples; William McConnell.
1932 R.W. Cunningham; Robert Mahaffy.
1933 William Arthur; John Peoples.
1934 J.W. McFetridge; Andrew McConnell.
1935 J.W. McFetridge; W.A. McConnell.
1936 R. Hyde; Joseph Devenney.
1937 Joseph Devenney; William Arthur.
1938 William Arthur; Mervyn Peoples.
1939 Mervyn Peoples; Andrew McConnell.
1940 Andrew McConnell; Alexander Bovaird.
1941 Alexander Bovaird; Ninian Mahaffy.
1942 Ninian Mahaffy; Alexander Devenney.
1943 Alexander Devenney; William McConnell.
1944 William McConnell; Alexander Nesbitt.
1945 John Bovaird; Sandy Mahaffy.
1946 A. Mahaffy; John Bovaird.
1947 Michael Gyves; John Nesbitt.
1948 Michael Gyves; John Nesbitt.

1949 Alexander Devenney; William J. McConnell.

1950 William M. McConnell;

Alexander Devenney.

1951 William Devenney; Ernest Arthur.
1952 Ernest Arthur; William Devenney.
1953 Not recorded.

1954 James K. Baird; William McConnell.
1955 Andrew McConnell; John Peoples.
1956 Thomas McCready; William Turner.
1957 John Nesbitt; Herbert Neely.

1958 Albert Hepburn; George Devenney.
1959 Alexander Bovaird; Harry McConnell.
1960 William Pearson; Alexander McCready.
1961 Michael Baird; Samuel Nesbitt.

1962 Andrew McConnell; William Turner.

1963 John Nesbitt; David Spence.
1964 Harry McConnell; Alexander McCready.

965, Taughboyne and Craigadooish had separate Churchwardens.

CRAIGADOOISH

Rector’s Peoples’

Andrew Dunleavy; Andrew McConnell.
J. Hepburn; Samuel Pearson.
Andrew McConnell; J. Hepburn.

Andrew McConnell; J. Hepburn.
Rena McConnell; Andrew McConnell
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1970 Mervyn Peoples; James Tinney.
1971 David Devenney; A. McCready.
1972 Charlotte Peoples; Mervyn Peoples.
1973 David Devenney; R.J. Nesbitt.
1974 R.J. Nesbitt; John Nesbitt.

1975 Michael Baird; John Nesbitt.
1976 Douglas Nesbitt; A. McCready.
1977 Alex. McCready; Douglas Nesbitt.
1978 William Gamble; Robert Nesbitt.
1979 Robert Nesbitt; William Gamble.
1980 Derek Peoples; Douglas Nesbitt.
1981 Stuart Tinney; David Devenney.
1982 William Turner; William Gamble.
1983 Robert Nesbitt; Douglas Nesbitt.
1984 Robert Nesbitt; Douglas Nesbitt.
1985 Douglas Nesbitt; Sandra Nesbitt.
1986 Leslie Latta; David Devenney.
1987 Leslie Latta; David Devenney.
1988 Simon Baird; David Devenney.
1989 Simon Baird; David Devenney.
1990 Catherine Gamble; Sandra Nesbitt.
1991 Sandra Nesbitt; Derek Peoples.
1992 Sandra Nesbitt; Derek Peoples.

Mrs. Pearson; Thomas Hepburn.
Harry McConnell; William Pearson.
Andrew McConnell; J. Hepburn.

J. Hepburn; Andrew McConnell.
Alex. Peoples. William Pearson.
W.J. McConnell; Thomas Hepburn.
Arthur Porter; William Pearson.
William Pearson; Arthur Porter.
David Spence; Harry McConnell.
William Pearson; Arthur Porter.
Wilbert McConnell; Harry McConnell.
Andrew McConnell; Arthur Porter.
A. Hepburn; William Pearson.
David Spence; Andrew McConnell.
David Spence; Andrew McConnell.
Samuel Fisher; Thomas Hepburn.
George Pearson; Susan Arthur.
George Pearson; Susan Arthur.
George Pearson; Susan Arthur.
Wilbert McConnell George Pearson.
Wilbert McConnell; Susan Arthur.
Lorna Pollock; Wilbert McConnell.
Lorna Pollock; Wilbert McConnell.

THE CHURCHWARDENS OF BURT
The distinction between Rector’s and Peoples’ Churchwardens began in 1872

1809 Samuel Lockhart; John Boreland.
1810 Andrew Ferguson; Capt. Thos. Porter.
1811 John Motheral; James Dear.

1812 William Leathem; William Porter.
1813 Joseph Porter; James Bredin.

1814 John Holmes; James Wilson.

1815 John Leslie; Henry Smith.

1816 James Witherow; John Leslie.

1817 Henry Ramsey; John Porter.

1818 Paul Barry; George Cunningham.
1819 William Mackay; Samuel Ewing.
1820 Philip? Lynch; James Thompson.
1821 William Leatham; William Colhoun.
1822 Joseph Porter; Thomas Alexander.
1823 William Porter; William Walker.
1824 William Porter; Matthew *urray.
1825 Alexander McConnell; James McCorkle
1826 David Porter; James McCorkle.
1827 Samuel Porter; Samuel Elder.

1828 Richard Edwards; Matthew Grier.
1829 James Stuart; James Ramsey.

1830 John Hamilton; John Mcllwaine.
1831 William Kerr; John Moran.
1832 William Hay; John Scott.

188833 William Robinson; Alexander Witherow

1834 Andrew Glass; Thomas Anderson.
1835 Samuel Motherell; George Cunningham
1836 William Leatham; Adam Chambers.
1837 Alexander Leatham; Thomas Alexander.
1838 Matthew Campbell; Joseph Crosswell.
1839 Samuel Leathem; James Mcllwaine.
1840 Alexander Ewing; Andrew Porter.
1841 David Porter; Thomas Anderson.
1842 James Kerr; Joseph Scott.
1843 John Roulston; Samuel Marshall.
1844 Joseph Dysart; George Cunningham.
1845 William Cunningham; Samuel Deane.
1846 Samuel Leathem; James Mcllwaine.
1847 Hugh Cunningham; Thomas Alexander.
1848 David Porter; Samuel Marshall.
1849 Samuel Marshall; James Scott.
1850 Matthew Campbell; John Deane.
1851 David Porter; Robert Edwards.
1852 William Porter; William Fleming.
1853 Samuel Leatham; William Fleming.
1854 John Porter; Thomas Alexander.
1855 Matthew Campbell; William Arthur.
1856 Robert Edwards; Thomas Anderson.
1857 William Porter; James Mcllwaine.
1858 David Porter; Thomas Alexander.
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1859 Andrew Porter; William Fleming.
1860 John Porter; Robert Porter.
1861 William Porter; William Fleming.
1862 James Scott; Thomas Alexander.
1863 Robert Edwards; William Fleming.
1864 David Porter; Thomas Alexander.
1865-80 John Bowen; William Porter.
1881-87 Dr. Donaldson; John Bowen.
1888-91 William Fleming; John Bowen.
1892 William Fleming; David Bell.
1893-94 Andrew Fleming; David Bell.
1895 Andrew Hamilton; William Porter.
1896 William Porter; John McConnell.
1897-98 William Porter; J .W. Stevens. .
1899-1902 William Porter; Charles Austin.
1903 Not recorded.

1904-10 William Porter; James McConnell.
1911-13 William Porter; John McConnell.
1914 Not recorded.

1915 John Kitson; James McConnell.
1916 John Kitson; John McConenll.

1917 Charles Austin, James McConnell.
1918 John Kitson; James McConnell.
1919 J.S. Laughnan; John Kitson.
1920-24 Col. W.A. Bowen; John Kitson.
1925 Judge Cook; Charles Austin.

1926 Col. W.A. Bowen; E. Quigley.
1927 T. Quigley; E. Quigley.

1928 Charles Austin; Robert Robb.

1929 Alex. Baird; Robert Boyd. .
1930 Samuel McClay sen.; Samuel McClay jun.
1931 J.W. Arthur; David Gilfillan.

1932 Robert Robb; William Quigely.
1933 Robert Robb; Joseph Quigley.

1934 David Gilfillan; R.C. Arthur.

1935 Robert Robb; J. McClay.
1936 A. Quigley; Robert Robb.
1937 Richard Robb; A. Quigley.
1938 Andrew Quigley; D. Orr.
1939 Richard Robb; Andrew Quigley.
1940 Richard Robb; Robert Taylor.
1941 Richard Robb; Andrew Tate.
1942 Richard Robb; Thomas Quigley.
1943 David Gilfillan; Thomas Quigley.
1944 Thomas Quigley; David Gilfillan.
1945 Adam Quigley; Campbell Arthur.
1946 John Devenney; Edward Shortt.
1947 David Gilfillan; William Shortt.
1948 Campbell Arthur; David Gilfillan.
1949 James Moore; James Devenney.
1950 Robert Robb; James Moore.
1951 James Devenney; David Gilfillan.
1952 William Tate; Thomas Quigley.
1953 James Moore; Francis Boreland.
1954 Robert Robb; Joseph Arthur.
1955 James Devenney; David Gilfillan.
1956 Edward Shortt; Joseph Moore.
1957 Joseph Arthur; James Devenney.
1958 Edward Shortt; Joseph Moore.
1959 David Gilfillan; R. Robb.
1960 J. Devenney; J. Moore.
1961 Mrs. Denaro; J. Devenney.
1962 Miss Danielson; J. Devenney.
1963 Donald Bradley; J. Moore.
1964 J. Devenney; J. Moore.
1965 D. Gilfillan; Edward Shortt.
1966 John Devenney; J. Moore.
1967 James Devenney; Edward Shortt.
1968 James Devenney; T. Harrington.
1969 Miss Danielson; J. Arthur.

The names of Churchwardens after separation from All Saints until closure in 1973,

were not available.

WNCUNNINGHAM
WARDENS OF ALL SAINTS, N'EWTO
THE CHURCH (No names before 1922 available)

Rector’s Peoples’
1922 A.T. Houston; Henry Lowther.
1923 John Gallagher; W. McNair.
1924 William Lowry; James Moore.
1925 J. McBride
1926 James Moore; W. McNair.
1927 O. Lindsay; J. Paine.
1928 W.H. McClintock; W. Ewing. .
1929 Robert Gamble; David McCormick.
1930 John Williamson; James Moore.
1931 John Houston; William F. Williams.

Rector’s Peoples’ .
1932 George McBride; James McLaughlin.
1933 Samuel McBride; George Sproule.
1934 J. Moore; W. Ewing.
1935 David Baxter; C. Sproule.‘ .
1936 A. Sproule; William F. Williams.
1937 William McClintock; J. McElhinney.
1938 W. Ewing; D. McCormick.
1939 A. Taylor; James McLaughlin. -
1940 Harry McLaughlin; Thomas Ewing.

1941 James Moore; William F. Williams. -




image50.jpeg
1942 James Devenney; William Ewing.
1943 William F. Williams; George McBride.
1944 George McBride; William F. Williams.

1945 John McLaughlin; William McClintock.

1946 William Ewing; A. Taylor.

1947 George Boreland; James Moore.
1948 John King; Charles Barr.

1949 George McBride; Hamilton Watson.
1950 W. Ewing; J. McElhinney.

1951 Alec. Taylor; William McCormick.
1952 William McClintock; George McBride.
1953 George McBride; Jack McElhinney.
1954 Andrew Taylor; Roy Mooney.

1955 William West; William Ewing.
1956 J. McElhinney; A. Nesbitt.

1957 George Boreland; William F. Williams.

1958 Charles Barr; Roy Mooney.

1959 George McBride; A. Taylor.

1960 William F. Williams; W. Ewing.

1961 Dudley Bryan; William F. Williams.
1962 William McClintock; James Devenney.
1963 Charles Barr; J. McBride.

1964 Roy Mooney; George Boreland.

1965 James Devenney; R. Barr.

1966 George Boreland; W. Moore.

1967 Dudley Bryan; Roy Mooney.

1968 Dudley Bryan; Noel Boreland.

1969 Miss M. Connell; John Williams.
1970 Noel Boreland; William Moore.

1971 Sydney Boreland; J.D. Boreland.

1972 Dudley Bryan; Roy Mooney.

1973 Dudley Bryan; Roy Mooney.

1974 William F. Williams; Lexie Devenney.
1975 Lexie Devenney; William F. Williams.
1976 Roy Mooney; Geoffrey Devenney.
1977 Geoffrey Devenney; Roy Mooney.
1978 Bertie Moore; John West.

1979 Roy Mooney; Sydney Boreland.

1980 Dudley Bryan; James Devenney.

1981 Ritchie McBride; Geoffrey Devenney.

. 1982 Robin Mooney; Sydney Boreland.

1983 Lexie Devenney; Alfred Boreland.
1984 Lexie Devenney; Ritchie McBride.
1985 Lexie Devenney; Dudley Bryan.
1986 Gerald Moore; John West.

1987 Roy Moore; Sydney Boreland.
1988 Sydney Boreland; Robin Mooney.
1989 Sydney Boreland; Robin Mooney.
1990 Sydney Boreland; Robin Mooney.
1991 Sydney Boreland; Paul Bryan.
1992 Sydney Boreland; Paul Bryan.

. THE CHURCHWARDENS OF KILLEA
(The distinction between Rector’s and Peoples’ Churchwardens began in 1895)

1740 Thomas Whittle; James Kelly.
1788-89 William Toland; Francis Ekins.
1790 Noel Bradley; Francis Ekins.

1791 James Montgomery; Francis Ekins.
1792 James Curry; Francis Ekins.

1793 James Montgomery; Francis Ekins.
1794 James McCorcle; William J. McCarter.
1795 Matthew Alexander; Joseph McCorcle.
1796 Joseph Curry; Robert Mackey.
1797-98 John Osborn; Robert Woods.
1799-1803 Joseph Curry; John Ekins.
1804-07 Thomas Culbert; John Ekins.
1808 Thomas Culbert; James Montgomery.
1809-10 Thomas Culbert; John Ekins.
1811 Thomas Culbert; James Montgomery.
1812-13 Thomas Culbert; John Ekins.
1814 Thomas Culbert; James Montgomery.
1815-22 Thomas Culbert; John Ekins.
1823 James Boggs; William Thompson.
1824 James Boggs; William Osborn.

1825 James Steel; William Osborn.

1826 Robert McClintock; William Osborn.
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1827 Alexander Crocket; Andrew Steel.
1828 Samuel Hannah; Thomas Culbert.
1829 Joseph McCorkell; James Mcllheeney.
1830 Charles Anderson; John Kirkpatrick.
1831 John Mcllwayne; Frederick Kirkpatrick.
1832 Smith Osborne; George Babington.
1833 Joseph McCorkell; John Mcllwayne.
1834 William Thomson; John Hanna.

1835 William Osborne; John Mcllwayne.
1836 George Babington; James Steel.

1837 William Thomson; Alexander Crocket.
1838 Samuel Culbert; Richard Callaughan.
1839 John Hanna; James Steel.

1840 John Mcllwaine; William Osborne.
1841 Thomas Knox; Alexander Crockett.
1842 Robert McClintock; Robert Scott.
1843 John Mcllwaine; John Craig.

1844 Aiken Ferguson; Samuel Culbert.
1845 Robert McClintock; William Cunningham.
1846 Robert McClintock; William Lockhart.
1847 John Mcllwaine; James Steele.

1848 Robert McClintock; Robert Scott.

1849 John Mcllwaine; William Cunningham.
1850 Robert McClintock; John Hanna.

1851 Robert McClintock; John Mcllwaine.
1852 Robert McClintock; Robert Scott.
1853-54 John Mcllwaine; John Hanna.

1855 Robert McClintock; Joseph Alexander.
1856 Robert McClintock; Robert Scott.

1857 John Hanna; James Irwin.

1858 Frederick Kirkpatrick; Robert Mahaffy.
1859 John Mcllwaine; James Irwin.

1860 John Mcllwaine; Joseph Alexander.
1861 John Mcllwaine; James Irwin.

1862 John Mcllwaine; Alexander Maxwell.
1863 John Mcllwaine; James Irwin.

1864 Robert McClintock; John Hanna.

1865 Robert McClintock; John Rankin.

1866 Robert McClintock; John Mcllwaine.
1867 Robert McClintock; Joseph Alexander.
1868 Robert McClintock; John Rankin.

1869 Robert McClintock; John Hanna.
1870-77 Robert McClintock; John Mcllwaine.
1878-94 Robert McClintock; F.W. Mcllwaine.
1895-97 F.W. Mcllwaine; Robert McClintock.
1898 V.V. Harvey; Robert McClintock.

1899 Robert McClintock; F.W. Mcllwaine.

1900-12 Col. Wm. McClintock; F.W. Mcllwaine.

1913-21 James Irwin; F.W. Mcllwaine.
1922-23 James Irwin; W.S. Maxwell Moore.
1924-37 Col. R.L. McClintock; M.S. Moore.
1938 R.L. Moore; William Elliott.

1939 M.S. Moore; William Elliott.

1940-41 R.L. Moore; William Elliott.

1942 William Elliott; George Bradley.

1943 George Bradley; William Elliott.

1944 Robert Hamilton; William Elliott.

1945-52 William McElhinney; William Elliott.

1953 George Bradley; James Moore.
1954 James Moore; George Bradley.

1955 Samuel Donnell; Frederick Peoples.
1956-57 Frederick Peoples; Samuel Donnell.
1958 Thomas Bradley; Andrew Bovaird.
1959 Andrew Bovaird; Thomas Bradley.
1960 Harry McElhinney; Walter Smyth.
1961 Walter Smyth; Harry McElhinney.
1962 George McCready; Albert Wilson.
1963 Albert Wilson; George McCready.
1964 James Moore; Frederick Peoples.

1965 Frederick Peoples; James Moore.

1966 Thomas Montgomery; Andrew Donnell.
1967 Andrew Donnell; Thomas Mongomery.
1968 Andrew Bovaird; Joseph Moore.

1969 Joseph Moore; Andrew Bovaird.

1970 Thomas Montgomery; Walter Smyth.
1971 Margaret Moore; Andrew Donnell.
1972 Mrs. H. McElhinney; Samuel Moore.
1973 Samuel Moore; Harry McElhinney.
1974 Bertie Peoples; Andrew Donnell.

1975 Andrew Donnell; Bertie Peoples.

1976 Harry McElhinney; Thomas Montgomery.
1977 Thomas Montgomery; Harry McElhinney.

1978 Robert Montgomery; Mervyn Peoples.
1979 Samuel Moore; Robert Montgomery.
1980 Thomas McCready; Bertie Peoples.
1981 Harry McElhinney; Bertie Peoples.
1982 Andrew Donnell; Samuel Moore.

1983 Andrew Donnell; Robert Montgomery.
1984 Andrew Donnell; Robert Montgomery.
1985 Andrew Donnell; Mervyn Peoples.
1986 William Moore; Harry McElhinney.
1987 William Moore; Heather Peoples.

1988 William Moore; Robert Montgomery.
1989 James McCready; Robert Montgomery.
1990 Thomas McCready; Harry McElhinney.
1991 Thomas McCready; Harry McElhinney.
1992 Thomas McCready; Harry McElhinney.
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APPENDIX IV
THE PARISH RECORDS

TAUGHBOYNE WITH CRAIGADOOISH

Baptismal Registers, 5 volumes, 1820-27; 1827-36, 1836-53*, 1853-68 and 1868-present.

Marriage Registers, 7 volumes, 1820-35, 1836-45*, 1845-67, 1867-1906, 1906-51, 1951-56 and
1957-present.

Burial Registers, 2 volumes, 1820-36 and 1919 to present in one, and 1836-1919* in the other.

* The Births, 1836-53, Marriages, 1836-45 and Burials, 1836-1919 are in one volume.

CRAIGADOOISH

Baptismal Register, one volume, 1871-1907; thereafter, entered in Taughboyne Registers.
Marriage Register, one volume, 1982 to present, begun when Craigadooish was licensed for
Marriages.

Vestry Minute Books, 6 volumes, 1804-26, 1826-76, 1877-1909, 1910-34, 1935-80 and
1980-present.

Preachers and Alms, 1841-49.

Craigadooish School Roll Books and Inspectors’ Reports 1887-1969 (almost complete though the
earliest records are fragmentary).

Account Book, 1907-17.

Correspondence between Bishop Bissett and the Rev’d. E. Bowen and other items connected with
the building of Craigadooish Chapel of Ease.

Taughboyne Rectory building accounts.

ALL SAINTS
Baptismal Registers: 2 volumes, 1879-1937 and 1937-present.
Marriage Registers, 3 volumes, 1845-97, 1900-53 and 1959 to present.
Burial Registers, 2 volumes, 1820-1955, and 1961-present.
Vestry Minute Book, 3 volumes, 1921-58, 1958-92 and 1992-

BURT

Memoirs Relative to Burt Congregation, commencing February 14th, 1802, containing accounts
of the Parish, alms for the poor, and registers of Baptisms, 1802-28 and Marriages,
1802-28. The whereabouts of registers after 1828 is unknown to author.

Vestry Minute Book, 1828-1921 — after 1921, Burt and All Saints were united with one Select
Vestry.

KILLEA
Baptismal Registers, 2 volumes, 1877-1922 and 1922-present.
Marriage Registers, 3 volumes, 1845-1931 (two copies), 1932-1956, and 1960 to present.
Burial Register, one volume, 1880 - present.
Vestry Minute Books, 2 volumes, 1788-1910 and 1910 to present.

There are account books, 3 volumes, containing details of various expenses and sustentation
payments in the period 1905 to 1931 and 1938 to 1957.
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1800 to the present
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engraved 1850
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G. Hannigan History of All Saints Church,
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Crockford’s Clerical Directory ) various volumes

The Church of Ireland Directory ) used

The Minutes of the Robertson Board from 1804, 5 volumes, and other correspondence.

The Rural Deans Returns from 1854 to 1950.

The Raphoe Diocesan Magazine, November 1946 to October 1992.
Memoirs Relative to Burt Congregation, 1802-28.

Minutes of the Vestry of Burt Parish Church, 1828-1921, 1 volume.
Minutes of the Vestry of Taughboyne Parish Church, 1804-1992, 6 volumes.
Minutes of the Vestry of All Saints Parish Church, 1921-1992, 2 volumes.
Minutes of the Vestry of Killea Parish Church, 1788-1992, 2 volumes.
Craigadooish School Roll Books and Inspectors’ Reports, 1887-1969.
Preachers and Alms Books for Taughboyne Parish, 1841-49.

Account books belonging to Taughboyne and Killea parishes.
Correspondence connected with Craigadooish Chapel of Ease, 1829-34.
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Foreword

““In the Footsteps of Saint Baithin’’ is a detailed historical account of five
local churches which will prove to be both interesting and informative not only
for the parishioners of those churches but also for a much wider readership.

The Rev. Canon David Crooks has helped us to see how important it is for
individuals and for communities to understand and to appreciate their roots.
I congratulate him on the painstaking historical research which he has put into it.

I hope that all who read this book will discover that it is for themi a pilgrimage
of hope in which insights from the past will help to illuminate the path ahead.

+ James Derry and Raphoe
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PREFACE

The five churches whose history is written in the following pages are all very
historic. Taughboyne in particular, goes back almost to the origins of the Celtic
Church. It is important that we who worship in these churches today, should know
something about the people, our ancestors, who built them and worshipped in them
before us, so that our own use of them can be put into perspective, and so that we
can pass them on to our descendants.

These parishes have witnessed the events that have made up the history of this
part of Donegal over the last four hundred years and more. We are fortunate that
our ancestors have left us a considerable quantity of records of their times.

This book is written first and foremost for the parishioners of Taughboyne Group
of parishes. Therefore, some of its details may be of little interest beyond the
immediate locality. However, I hope that it will contain some things of interest to
a wider general readership in the community and beyond.

I wish to thank many people who have helped me during my researches. Firstly,
my warmest thanks are due to Mr. Bill Turner, our Parish Reader, who suggested
the idea of writing this history, and who encouraged me and kept me at it. I wish
to thank the Rt. Rev’d. J. Mehaffey, Bishop of Derry and Raphoe, for kindly writing
the Foreword.

My grateful thanks are also due to the following: Mr. John Buttimore of the
Representative Church Body of the Church of Ireland in Dublin for photocopies of
some early legal documents; Dr. Raymond Refaussé and the staff of the Library
of the Representative Church Body in Dublin; the Keeper of Manuscripts of the Irish
Genealogical Office, and the Librarian of the National Library in Dublin, and the
Director of the Public Records Office of Northern Ireland in Belfast, all of whom
were most helpful and courteous, and His Grace, the Duke of Abercorn for permission
to see the Abercorn Papers. I am also much indebted to Mr. Alan McConnell of
the Diocesan Office in Londonderry for permission to see the Rural Deans returns
of parish statistics, an invaluable source of information, and to Canon R.D. Moore,
past Secretary, and the Rev’d. W. W. Morton, present Secretary of the Robertson
Board for permission to use the Board’s minute books and correspondence.

I am very grateful in particular to many local people who gave me much helpful
information, especially Mrs. S. M. Campbell whose local histories were most helpful,
and to Mr. David Agnew of Bogay House, Newtowncunningham, for useful
information. I would like to thank Sir John McFarland of Dunmore House, Carrigans,
for information on the McClintocks of Dunmore, and John Donnell for letting me
use his school project on Dunmore. I am also grateful to Mr. John Bovaird for his
notes on Taughboyne Parish, and to Miss Geraldine Hannigan for hers on All Saints.
I also thank the Churchwardens and Select Vestries for permission to use the Vestry
minutes and several items of correspondence. I am also obliged to those parishioners
who read parts of the manuscript as it was being written to make sure that nothing
of importance was being left out.

Above all, it is the parishioners themselves, especially the older ones who have
lived in these parishes far longer than I have, who have given me most encouragement.
It is to them that this book is dedicated.

D.W.T. CROOKS.
Advent 1992.
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